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PREFACE.

i

. Tne object of this publication'is to make known.the
whole truth in relation tb:Matthias, Mr. and Mrs. Folger,
Mr. Pierson, Mr. Mil4; @atherine Gallaway, Isabelia, and
others, in yefercnce; to the whole of those hitherto mystéri-
ous transactions, whic¢h have so excited the public mind..

It has fallen to oyr, lokte come in possession of facts, ex-
traordinary fac(s ! i:relationto this subject, not yet pub-
lished; these we Have determined to make known, and
_ satisfy the public, ¢wriosity ; :and to perform, what we think,
an important duty-to socrety and to posterity ; and, at the
* same’ time, to do justice to the parties concerned; and, if

in these details we shall ‘expose the crimes and follies of
some individua)s; we shall, at the same time, remgve th
guilt from comparagively innocent shoulders, and place the
burden whersait: qught to be; nor have these persons rea-
_son to complain, for they have given their version of the sub-
ject; they have covered up their own crimes, and they have
sought to fix upon the znmocent, crimes of the blackest dye,
when they knew. and ‘hive since avowed, the innocence of
the party; they havé too; designedly omitted or garbled the
most interesting parts intlhie history of the transactions they
_relate, and therefore have invited the publication of the
Truth. ' ’
It has always been a question how far fanaticism or im;
posture could go; and to what extent credulity might be
exercised? It has always been a question, how much real
crime may be mixed with sincere, but mistaken piety, and
how far thehuman character is susceptible of being at once
a Imave and a dupe; a sincere dupe, and at the same time,

-



4 PRBFACE.

an operator on the credulity of others? Philosophers haye
often sought the point where fanaticism ends, and knavery
begins, and to what extent fanaticism may set aside the
most established code of morals in their own persons, while
in others not operated on by the same spirit, they would con-
demn in the most absolute terms; in fact, when men do
wrong in the name of God, it becomes a matter of real in-
terest to know the motives which prompt to the wrong, or
the cause from which it flows.

# In this point of view, the subject becomes one of moral
philosophy, alike intcresting to the present generation and
to posterity ; and for this we think the whole truth, and no-
thing but the truth, should be laid before the public.

On this subject, a cheap pamphlet, without name or au-
thority; and an expensive book, with a respectable name,
emboXying the report of one of the parties, have been pub-
lished: We pronounce both false! the one evidently got
up upon hearsay evidence, the other designedly omitting
the most curious parts of the subject, apparently beeause
those parts impugned the party writing, and garbling and
perverting much of the remainder; the facts are purposely
distorted, the names omitted, and the whcle calculated to de-
celve—to convey a false impression; and, consequently,
unfit to afford a safe data on which to reason.

{ We propose to give names, dates, places, and facts, with-
out reserve, the subject requires it} and our research and
Jndustry will enable us to do this. Delicacy of langunage
will be observed as far as the gubject will admit of, but wer
have to treat of the assumption of supernatural power in
‘more than one case, uncleanness, seduction, and adultery,.
committed in the name of the Lord; with reciprocal
charges of somecthing like murder and theft, among the
party, who are still serving the Lord with apparent since-
Yity. Their sincerity we shall not dispute, but we shall
confine ourselves to d‘;e facts, the proof of the facts, and the-
consequences.

. It will be asked, how we have got our information? e
answer, explicitly. In the first place, through lsabella; a.
goloured woman, who lived successively with Mr. Piersem,.
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Mr. Mills, Matthias, and Mr. and Mrs. Folger; and that
EVERY MATERIAL POINT of her evidence has been
verified by other respectabie witnesses m connexion with
the party, directly, or laterally: we shall lay before our-
readers documents, showing the degree of credit which'is
due to her testimony, and on what points her testimony has
been confirmed, and by whom; for we havc no secrets, or

do we choose to keep any.

‘We skall divide the work into two parts, first, A narrative
of facts, efbracing a review of Mr. W, L. Btone's «Mat-
thias and- his Impostures,” and, second, A portrait of the
parties composing the society at Sing-Sing, in which vari-
ous’ detdils, ainusing, interesting, and important, will be
given, which would break too much into the simple nar-
rative.

We merely add, that in publishing this wortk, we do it
upon our own responsibility; we have no prejudice in fa-
vour of any of the party; we have made no promise to
suppress or kecp back any point, unfavourable to our com-
municants ; on the contrary, we have endeavoured to obtain
the whole truth, and avowcd our determination to publish
it; we are under no control, promise, or obligation. On
reading Mr. Stone’s book, we were satisfied that he had
suppressed the truth, and we resolved to publish it, if we
could obtain it: perhaps our remarks in the Citizen of the
World led to the application of a gentleman on the part of
Isabella, who declared, in consequence of her evidence be-
ing suppressed in the trial at White Plains. and in conse-
quence of misrepresentation at that trial before the grand
jJury ; and in consequence of the crrors in Mr. Stone’s book,
and of the invectives against her, she was desirous of tell-
ing the whole truth. Our reply was, bring her here imme-
diately, we wish to publish the wchkole truth : the gentleman
added, “ You may rcly upon her statements, for she has
repeated the story at different timnes, to different persons in
my family, and in parts, and never varied;” he also added,
that in the parts of her narrative which agreed with Stone’s
book, he found her correct, and where she differed, she was
consistent, while the book was not; in that there were

l.
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|- :
" many geps and inconsistencies, these were made cless: by:
Der supplying deficiencies, and identifying the parte of: her-
story with the dates given in that book.” Thus we do her;
@ pervice in publishing it, for she wishes the Truth told:
and we ﬁ"ﬁf{“ ves, and render a public sertice m.

ing before them the whole truth, which we have taken.
care to have verified in every possible case.
1. In seeking confimation of some facts, we, on ome occa--
asion, travelled ninety miles, but we were amply repaid for-
that journey by the quantity of important information we
obtained, and the ability we shall possess of rescuing an
injured person from the private ma.m e of an abuser of: the

.. G. VALE,

No. 84 Roosevelt Street, Mew. Yoilt.



FANATICISM;
ITS SOURCE AND INFLUENCE.

WARRATIVE OF ISABELLA, IN THE CASES OF EATTHIAS,
MR. AND MRS. B. FOLGER, &C. S

CHAPTER 1

e o Toabeiy s serasi ot omes Amane e i o7 ook
soning and fraud—the blackberry story.

Mx. W. L. B8tong, of the Commercial, has written-a
Yook, and like ckarity, has covered a multitude of sins: for:
this we might give him eredit for benevolence, if not ho-
nesty, were it not that he meanly attempts to transfer the-
#ins of those he has taken under his protection, to others,
not guilty of those crimes; but, unfortunately, poor, uned-
ucated, and coloured. He could expect no defence from a-
woman, formerly a slave incapable of reading or writing,
and already labouring under the accusation of having at-.
tempted to poison Mr. Folger's family, and with having
prepared the blackberries of which Mr. Pierson eat a short
time previous to his death, and which he brought up in his -

vomitings during his sickness.

In page 63, of * Matthias and his Impostures,” ?ublishd
by Mr. Btone, the author, speaking of Mr. Pierson’s church
upon the Bowery Hill, remarks, that “the Kingdom now..
oome consisted of Mr. and Mrs. Pierson, Mrs. ***, Mrs. M.
Mr. L., and Isabella, the black woman,” &c. Now the

bick woman Isabella never belonged to this church, was..

adver in it, and did not know Mr. Pierson at the time, upon .
| et declaration, of the truth of which we sball presemtly

| Wfliok & positice proof
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8o much for Mr. Stone’s matter of fuct, and his attempt to
identify this woman. with every act of extravagance, and
finally, to make’ her bear the sins of those whom he wishes
to shicld.

In page 65, he thus mischievously repeats this error:

% The original members of this church were abeut & do-
aen, whose names arc among the loose papers of Mr. Pier-
son. Among them was Isabella, 8 black woman; who,
with another black woman, named Katy. was attached to
Mr. Pierson's houschold. 'Their names are mentioned here,
because they will both come conspicuously before the read-
er in the pages of this narrative.  Beth entered into all the
vagaries and delusions of Mr. Pierson; and onc of them,
(the former,) was probably, before the end came, among'the
rhost wicked of the wicked.” '

So much, we repeat, for Mr. Stone’s matter of fact. Here,
he is very minute, as false witnesses generally are, and
marks out Isabella, the black wuman, to be proved in the
sequel, the MOST WICKED of the wickep. We re-
peat, Isabella did not know Mr. Pierson at teis time, nox
was she ever i part of this church, or present at its meet-
ings. When reading this book of Mr. Stone’s, we were of
‘edurse, ignorant of this fact, but we never lost sight of the
expected proof of her being * the MOST WICKED of the
WICKED,” and Mr. Stone’s failure on this point, (for,
throughout the book, he produces no prouf” of wickedness,)
was oneé reason that satisfied us of his dishoncsty in wri-
ting'it. Bince then, we have hud several proofs, especially
in rclation to Mrs, ¥**. We shall take ap this lady’s case
scparately; she has been eruelly abused Ly Mr. Stone, but
in'doing which ke has completély committed hinself; we .
shall presently show who the Jady thus designated is, and .
how she has been abused; in ‘the mean time, the passages
we may quote containing this signature, (Mrs. #**) should
be remembered, for the circumstances are generally false in
which Mr. 8tone has placed her.

“~Th page 68 Mr. Stone thus deseribes the famous anoing-
mg meeting at Myr. Pierson’s, just after “heé had heard God
speak to him in an Omnibus in Wall street:
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» After a special conversation with Mrs. B. Folger, in
which he stated the object of the meeting, she also consent-
_od 0 attend.
* « Asgembled round the bedside of Mrs. Pierson, now evi-
.dently near her end, Mr. Pierson quoted the passege from
James, heretofore referred to, and urged that it was indis-
.. pensable to the recovery of his wife that he should literally
. fulfil that injunction. He had called the elders of the
" ehurch together, and she must be anointed. ~Arrangements.
were accordingly made for that ceremony. Among the
rsons present on the occasion, were Mrs. *** and the
lack woman Isabella, who was very forward and active.
According to the impressions of persons in the adjoining
apartment, who were too much shocked by the procedure to
be present, Isabella must have been one of the principal
actors and speakers in the religious rites and ceremonies
that were observed. The faet of the anointing is briefly
noted in the diary of Mr. Pierson, thus:—
Monday, June 23, 1830. Anointed Sarah with oil, in the
name of the Lord, according to James v. 14, 15.”
‘What are we to make of this passage, Mrs. Folger was
. present, it is expressly stated; she wrote part of this book,
r name would not have been mentioned as the person
s especially consulted,” without her consent, Isabella is
pointed out as being “very forward, must have been one.of
the principal actors)’ yet lsabella was Nor present, upon
the testimony of Isabella herself, confirmed by Mrs. Pier-
son's daughter, who was present and has expressly given us
this confirmation. What now are we to think of this appa-
.vent combination of Mrs. Folger and Mr. Stone, to attach to
a poor, coloured, unlettered woman, this extmordinar{ede-
gree of enthusiasm | why thus so falsely point to Isabella,
_with the impression in the mind of the reader that she is yet
_to be made the “most wicked of the wicked,” but for the
. se of destroying her character, in order to invalidate
_ testimony! why all this, but from the FEAR of her
_testimony! and what confidence have we in any one fact,
which Mr. Stone may aferwards state, for Isabella never
smw Mre. Pierson, or lived with Mr. Pierson, till after his
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wife's death, on the above testimony, confirmed by oth
.. persons then present.
. After the death of Mrs. Pierson, an attempt was made
ray her to life, and at the funeral, even an attempt of ‘thiffim
mwns there made; Isabella was not there then upon thefi 4
" testimony of Mrs. Bishop, the cousin of Mr. Pierson, w!
expressly gave us this information, and who knows the time§w
.at which Isabella came to Mr. Pierson, which was not till
.after he had removed to 4th street, and after Mrs, *** hadQy
ceased to keep house for him: so much, we again say, for}s
the honesty or ability of Mr. Stone, as 2 narrator of facts,
thus disproved Ly the most respectable testimony, while we
have yet other testimony oqually strong to the same- effect :
but proof is preof, additions would be superfluous.
. ‘We can show equally false statements on the part of Mr.
* 8tone, in relation to the-early history of Matthias, upon ‘the
, -evidence of the wife of ‘Matthias, from whom we have _ob-
tained the confirmation of important facts within her know-
_ ledge: but we have preferre(Fsclecting a few of thosé'in re-
lation to Isabella, because these extracts show a design to
injure that woman, or to destroy her credibility: for the
very opposite reason we have taken some paius to ascertain
the personal character of Isabella, and before we lay her
testimony before the public, we wish to show what confi-
dence was placed in her by thosc families in which she lived
from her womenhood or even childhood, and it shows no
_ small share of sensibility to a fair fame, on her part, when
we inform our readers, that on our cxpressing & wish to
know her character previous to her connexion with Mr.
Pierson, Matthias, or Folger, she thrust into our hands a
lot of papers containing written characters from a regular
succession of her employers, even from the time of her
slavery; these papers will speak for themselves, and we
shall merely remark, that we have seen some of the persons
. who have testified to the character they gave her. - Heke
. are the copies of the documents:

{
q

S

Hurley, Ulster Co., Oct. 13th, 1834.
This is to certify, that I am well acquainted with Isa-
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a, this coloured woman; I have been acquainted with
from her infancy, she has been in my employ for one
r, and she as a fajthful servant, honest; and industrious;
have always known her to bé in good report by all who
loyed. her. ISAAC 8. VAN WAGENEN

© Qct. 13th, 1834. .

this is to certify, that Isabella, this coloured woman,

d with me since the year 1810, and that she has always

a a good and faithful servant, and the eighteen years '

tshe was with me, I always found her to be perfectly

nest; at the time she came here she was between 12 and .

-ym of age, and we have never heard any thing dispa-
Jng against her since she left here, unnl I heard this;

she contrary, I have always heard her well.spoken of :

«erery one at has employed her.

v . JOHN J. DUMONT
New Paltz, Ulster County.

Kingston, Oct. l4th 1834.
he bearer of this, a eoloured woman, named Isabella,
llived in my family during a part of the year 1828, and
bnght at that time, that she was an honest, falthful and
M servant, JOHN H. RUTZER.

ng:to 2, Oct. 1414, l834.
ubel. a coloured woman, lived with my famil
“mer of 1828.  She came to me well recommenXed by a
hm‘ble family in this vi aiz. and during her term of
with me, she merited entire confidence of my
fy, by her good conduct and fidelity.
A. BRUYN HASBROUCK.

he ﬁom the same of an earlier date.)

Kingston, N. Y., Scpl 1313, 1828.
lo bearer of thia,:a coloured woman, named Isabel, has
tin my family for some time, and merits the commenda-
k aa industrious ahnd hon;st woman, with regular he- ..
ﬁdehty to her emplo
st ingm HASHROUCK.._

S av T e vt e s A -~

-

*
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o New York, Nov. 1144, 1834
This is to certify, that Isabells Van Wagenen, a coloured ;:
Jyoman, lived in my family as & domestic above a year, |
1829, and we do state, that we never had a servant that we ||
-eeuld place such implicit confidence in. |
rs. GATFIELD, 73 Nassau Street.
. New York, Nov. 12th, 1834,
This is to certify, that Isabella Van Wagenen was a set- ‘}
vant in my family, from about the first of September, 1330;
until the following summer, durinigvhich time she per-
formed the part of a good, and faithful servant, worthy of |
any trust that might be committed to her charge. I believe’
her to.be a strictly lionest, moral woman, and her equal,”
X have not found since she left me. -
J. C. DOWNING, No. 177 Duane Street.

New York, Oct. 20th, 1834,
This is to.certify, that during the time that Isabella lived
in my family, which was some months, she was faithfidl, ‘
honest, and ﬁ)oked to every thing with more care and pru-’
dence, than could be expected tgom a woman in her cape: -
eity. T have known her many years, and she has ever :
Aeretofore borne a character superior to her colour. She
came from Mr. Whiting to® my house in the fall of 1833.
A DANIEL SMITH, 44 Hudson Street.

-

. , New York, Oct. 18th, 1834.

This is to certify, that Isabella Van Wagenen, a coloured’
‘woman; - lived .in our family ds a domestic some three
months, in the summer of 1838, and [ do state unequivo- *
eglly, that we never have had a servant that did all her work
00 z&hfully. and one in whom we could place such implicit
eonﬁdem;e—-in ﬁcdt.“v;:’ did, ild do still, believe her to be a
woman of extraardi moral purily. ' .

Ty~ PEREZ 8. ‘WHITING, " '

. Note."We place this after the former, becanse ship hee.
Kwed with Mr. Whiting since the bidaking up of the party,”
and she is vow in a confidentid] situation, having the
‘of houne and property in her chazge.
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Here Mr. W. P, Btone bf theCormarercial is the death

ntto your hopes; herethe proof thatthe worLan whom .
gw&ﬁhn 1 iovediamthé mebt:wickedl.of thewicked,

b wusbrdony ends prossize: of -proof, bt whish:proef
fisty at: Whst in ’Olrﬂlgptk there, air, is:she: proef
Btk wortis hasuni mlymlmd ax; nneguivoaally
0B dArsinss, wad:yoiir endetowour to:play.the-ntonemenit,
i@ eanstor ‘slhs’ :;i u;: nnxou«;ent ‘woman to save-a p:il:lhad
mwm&an rpes-of-mo. auimaryappetnm on
Ml thesetought i rést i stronger susgiicion.of -fraud than
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redpeeshble; arid-skig hns been:intha-employ: with-
k08 of “condence-of: dome uf -tk -abave persans; sinde
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Bk 6 - Aomésf-het friends who huve heard her statesnents,
uld Mr. Stone, $r’-could His: -partuers.in the book;. get &
#*¢hisfdcter? - They may: be  whiter: i skin, more:ele-
TiPHushaers;-able to reall and writé, of literary fiik, We
¥ hot say”haﬁuty. ‘more¢ plous;-und sgfeater. suppokts:to
ilrdieh’;] but: ard-they :more “horést;.can -we - ton
mﬁ ; Of.ori either-orls of them?: « And-what#hall
here'the wirighe testinsony-of one of them s
w—"éhe single teattineny of this black wonman 1 - :For
M part.-amf ‘ws hav® 1ip:prejudics in-er=favory-s:re
8%t Tedbella’s :tatemenm.“ bewuc we: :have uot
pd Rer Intirdonsisteneied br o] statements, strange
Her-dbeitins ‘ure. ~WhileJudging onty from whit Mr.
W 2 Shne; ‘nhd “Mr-and Nrs.’ Folger have: chosen:o
RS WelSbiitlude: that they-ave already convictediof: ims-
Mﬁ. “aifd & feah Httempt 1o undociate Tsabelia’s naste
MODT “WICKED of the- WICKED, bymz
}dwuﬁnghhbm 8t fxiort oumfermuﬁm
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-once saw that & great deal depended on that, and therefore
we investigated it thoroughly, and weighed well the accu-
sations and the evidence against her. We have before said
that on all important subjects, we have collateral evidence of
the most respectable character. These we shall bring for-
ward to establish those great points; but the development
of eharacter is shown in little things—manners, expressions,
and incidental or designed conversations, &c., &c., for which
therc may be no collateral evidence, and the truth of which
. will depend on the consistency of the development and.cha-
racter of the narrator. Had we found Isabella a silly,
worthless being, known for foolish or wicked lies, one in
- whom no contidence could be placed ; and had we found she
~had varied in her statements at different times, and to differ-
-ent’ people, we would have thrown up our design, or pub-
lished only what had other testimony ; but our investigation
has terminated in a conviction of her honesty, and we must
- Ky part of this evidence before the public.
In the progress of Mr. Stone’s book, we find the AB-
S8ENCE of all evidence that Isabelln was the most wicked
- of the wicked; but instead of which, there is the blackber-
Ty story preceding Mr. Pierson’s death, the poisoning the
coffee story, on the alleged morning of Matthias’ d
(really on the morning before,) and Mrs. BB. Folger's ilinese,
* {mark this;) and the suspicion declared that she and Mat-
thias had appropriated property not their own; for which
»o evidence was ever given. The property story involves
- an important subject; Mr. Pierson did possess $80,000, as
his family suppose; (he may have been overrated;) his
family can recover but $7,000. The $500 dollars so mys-
teriously given to Matthias afier a disagreement and separa-
tion, nay, supposed discovery of imposture, and the adrice
- given with it, that Isabella should have the gold in her care,
: we really think was a trap, which she wholly escaped. by
having nothing to do with the money ; but on this subject,
- we must and will treat more fully in its proper place.. The
.-coffee story too, when Mrs. Folger unczpectedly remained
up stairs, was afterwards ill, and Isabeﬁ: took mone, .in-
volves such a scene and such an exposition of character of
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Matthias, Mr. Folger, Mrs. Folger, Catherine, and Isabellx,
a8 never before was exhibited. The whole scene is too
good to be spoiled by a hurried description, and a full one
would be out of place here. Suffice it for the present, that
we are satisfied with the clear illustration and exposition of
Xeabella, and that we will give this scene in the course of the
narrative, of in illustration of the portraits.

The blackberry story we may as well dispatch now. Mr.
W. L. Stone's version of it will be found on page 193 of
his book. :

« Mr. Pierson’s sickness, which terminated in his death,
commenced on the afternoon of T'uesday, July 29, 1834,
The evening—say twenty-four hours—before, he ate freely
of some blackberries, picked by Matthias and his youngest
son, and prepared with sugar for the table, us is supposed,
by the cofoured woman. The persons at the table at the
time were Mr. Pierson, Mrs. Folger, Catherine, and Mat-

. thias. The latter served out the blackberries at that time, as

he invariably did every description of food at the meals. He
helped Mr. Pierson, Mrs. Folger, and Catherine, to the
berries, but none to himself. Mr. Pierson ate two ordinary
sized dessert plates full : Catherine one: Mrs. Folger rasted
of them; remarked that they were not perfecily ripe and
sweet; and, owing to the state of her health, which had been
fechle for many years, declined them, lest they should disa-
gree with her.”’

It will be remembered, that Mr. Pierson died of fits, to
which he was accustomed, and that this blackberry feast
preceded Mr. Picrson’s lust illness twenty-four hours, and
was held in July 28, 1834. On the next day, in the after-
noon, us related in the book, page 134, he war hay making,
and picking and eating blackberrizs: that is, just previpus
to his fit, and to his purging and puking, in which he
brought up blackberries, Stho} inysterious circumstance!)
What blackberries, we ask? 'Those supposed to be poison-
ed, which had lain in his siomach witgnut inconvesience
twenty-four hours? or those which he had recently been
mg and eating, as stated by W. L. Stone himself?

hours is the ordinary time for the digestion of much
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CHAPTER IL

M of Isabella’s Life—Recovers hor o' ild from Slavery—Karly It>
lz us Opinions cnd Habits--"L'ne sourve of Flanaticizn—Advantever
en by Maithica—Ischellz ~mes to Now York—Be:omes a M
dw., and Joins Latouret:s s Churt - falreduced to Mr. Picrson, and
% cd as cn answsr to ;ra.ycr—dlre Boltom, the Motron of the

gdalene Asylu.iv—Her furnror virions 1 ife, and Camn Afelings -

uence or2r Mr. FPizrson. til] tae t of Methias T disgrace
with Mr. VPierson—Tac Muyrdilen iely, and probubdic_source of
the m/ormv Ton onkick fae eeteiretad Reyort :rl.m(lu'd Vi
short account of —-Mr. azd Mra. 'oliree's emrereion--Holy C

Yolgr~Holy Club-- {2 ren- r-rt Neciely—1icrson

Gad — ~Opinions and Practice: of th: party bufors Ma
aﬂwnFL‘wn—l)nuumv on Marviag .Vush rious Ju¥h My
oon's p'o,mmtw v io be vavied ty g r'arr'rl lady-—"The author aid ob-
Ject of e Ays?oiriovs Lstiore.

IsasrrLra Vase Wacenex, in early life, was a save.
She was born in the femily of Col. \rdmbur"h, in Hurley,
Ulster connty, New York, and is now about 38 years of

: :ﬁ,!. While young, she was successively sold to John

ealy, Kinaston, New York, to Martin Seriver, Kingstou,

- and then to Johu J. Dumont, in the same neitrhbr)urhrmd,

with whom she lived cighteen vews.  This person is now

* alive, and is one of those who has given her u character;

-

she left Limm one yeur before the state made her free, be
cause he had promised her this faivour, and lived with Van
Whagenen, whosesname she takes; but she returned to J.
‘Dumomt at_his request. Daring her residence with J. Da-

“-mont, she had five children, without a legal 1aarriage, ac-

cording to the custom of slaves; but during the greaver

’ Eart of the time she lived with it black man, or: the farm, as
e

er hushand, to whom she was joined by a coloured man of
the nume of Kingr, who frequently perforined this office.
One of these children was sold illegally Into southera
slavery, by one Solomon Geduer, and her exertions to get
him back, whizh were crowned with success, mark the
energy of her character. Tn this she wus greatly assisted
by Judge Ruggles, who tricd Matthiax. Squire Chip, law
yer Romain, L;:vyer Hasbrouek, and others. At this time.
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she was of course very ignorant, not being able to read;
and judging of Jesis E@brit:byHhe pictures in the large
famnl Bibles she had seen, she supposed hlm a great Mm,
&pshmgiorr &d.- -Her beiwfp
, Plegson, B “‘olgei d sﬂb{% of”
¥ the

**&n’mles ‘qh’e ‘mistook: her- feelm »-for. :divine:
" and.this mistake, commion 1030 ey, Weé iy figh
eat soirce of-fariaticism. - At ap exrlyipériod; whon‘ she
ﬂdsmmty hejrd preuchmg 4nd. had “forped gb’ diginct
g creed, she was in-the habit of *talking" mth Giod,” -a3.3he
. expressaﬂ hetse]ﬂ imd nnagmmg that “she hid nﬁﬁcﬂ, by
SUpposing a voice ex{rrcssmg ‘her thoughits; of by anfarpre-
‘tmg her feildigs: - Wé-afierwards- find, that this of
mind was common to Mr. Pierson, and thé*whole party,
.. who followed ‘Matthias, previgns to t«hel; mquaintapce with
- him’;:and -of- this feeling, Matthias too e greatpst agyan-
- tage, -but. he dxd Dot originate. it; :mdeed it.is. qomnfm
. Jarge bodies of very pious peqple, and Matthias Inmself was
:perhaps ita dupe, in-the: first instance,; It 'was, this fee
~~and.an early belief,or rather impression, that,she should.s
+Christ in t.hc flesh, that made her; altervargs the ready rse-
giple.of Matthias, whose. appearance instantly, strucl he
wthat which accorded: with her enrly. imapressions; and w.
-, #he saw ‘M, Pierson, s1d others,. ~whom. she c,sweme(} good
and .wise- men.wash hig feet, as yas .the cusq
.- 5ith Mim in matters of-belief, she s posed it an.
.pm oF;5: _b@r fe;!tngs told her-ao,,an éhe thanked,

g mqmedln the , ghbomhomlqi fer
nheleﬁ J. Dwnontaﬂat the second. tmwl«_ull,sqme time, er
ker bo{e e ed h'r back and, mads fi

'

ade drge;:
< with, Mz..J.. Rutzu?e ‘ﬁﬁﬁn
-;lub:mkolawa - Thisaras.shout. ﬂ\e
s2then:same: to, New. ¥ork, with Mr,.and : ,ﬁmr.

iapecsabledady engnged in Whmg‘ a‘bmnui-
wmmamonsm ﬁ
stho test; she. worked occwon&‘hr Yﬂd
tourette, in the Bowe became a zedleus m
- Methodists, and with them attended many enmp meeungl.
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23 Sidanviie .)\(LJ a1 Salw yleidy plledns) o ewditoen bra
TQha BetiniiOiie mdwudmb»ungl "hdr ki md
JaPioteh Wagticted: in tle odnexibu aﬁnuyaofm:m.
[ ReRFeaE: upd uewm 6f other: mémbersatid of IMr.
I pEGrais Ritdaule, | Tt mnudnsbmhk Heriod of her

swmwmum ay i *‘hhm&q i#hdkhe
& adenbs Mith: which :shiel nfas Hamilids: o Thdse
- -obuem ot Hitd: oir awtit ontbieln, wé shill difer Yo the
W% otder'to réacls thetmuriasdve i telatibnitg Mnt-
Me, ahd! Mm Folg Ew ‘atid-othess; dt an earlidrep

34 1699, Teohid ity Mite. Gatfich; 78 NassauwStedet,
" New York, and in 1830 with Mr. J. C.':Dm%ing-,!dw
* Dunne-Btres, from buth' bf.-Whon sshid’ has! tertificgted] now

' ik possestion: - While: i rhese: tudtiony sheo wall a
Saonlous’ knd-ei;hsnientamdmbe\' Qflt}nf'Me(hudfsueh\chﬂm
£ Jolin Bereet:joining-the: tolowred olaws; atid rapteriding the
“ipdetingswity: the: khosledge of:her: .employetsi:: Alfjer
“: whifch.” abié-jdibed 1hé Aftigan church) in: Churety: Buéet ;
“uring lier memborship ‘thete, shel f uemlyiéttcndeduur
o} mtrarestad’s: thieetingsiy at rorfi:of weivich; Mr: St inwited
et 4G Hg t054’) : prafyer dteing, ‘oMtotingtructithie girlsiatthe
i Idgdﬁv 'Asylurti, Bowety glill; Aheni uniior the protection
“iof W Plefson, ‘dnd- soine dtheiripérsons, chiefl l{d t&le

‘ﬁmﬂe& "To-reach the Asybam; Isabelda ealied! on) Kita,
anons ncoloured: servant; of:henroshe:-kad:some
Ml :Mr; Piersori bat <Hér there,-convensed:avith

-reidr, &k ﬁer if -she had-been biptiged; nud was:uirswased
r.hnctermu]ly, byt~ Floly iGthost "W ek this;iisa-.
f bl $aw - Kata everdl:tiries; and -ocoasimmally: Mr. dhr-
giwon;:who edigsiged her to: lo.a‘p His Taomasé wﬁ)le.Kmai\unl
ot ¥inginiuito seehexr ohildpan ): .. Thisengugemeitvas cin-
*isi aneweb o prayér: Ly.MurPierson; whis had hith
Mma un?n imbject>while [Kets anid-Isabetla
u‘:::hnm e ba:ﬁ;oﬂzﬁﬁl;;ﬂ‘g:nmmmm

gty 4 88%:aifd noléstohave beenichsiptiro
? Mis.oPietpantusdeathy (Mo Piexscay shiag stisen
enwithe Bdweryt Hilhsanil awis 1then? livingitin
{ Suwdets {2 Yut; amonérhobersten) M :Stone;

?M.d ey conduet vt éetiainsméetin
ill, and mentions the fwo black women as being present,
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‘and ascribes to Isabella chiefly what is objectionable, as-
. suming her presence; yet we have direct proof to the con-
. trary. At the time when Isabella went to Mr. Pierson’s, a
. Mrs. Bolton, afternards the Matron of the Magdalene
Asylum, visited the house frequently, did needle work for
the family, and frequently slept there.  This lady possesscd
- the qualities which king George IV. is said to imve ad-
. mired ; she was fair, fat, and forty, dresced well, was plea-
sing and gentcel in her manners.  On her we must Lustow
a few lines, for through her we shall get at the charucter of
some of the parties, as well as a key to the celebrated Mag-
dalene Report.

It appears that Mr. and Mrs. Pierson, assisted by some cf
the clergy and other persons, had most benevoleutly ests-
blished a Magdalene Asylumn ; that Mrs. Pierson and other
ladies frequently visited the Five Points, and other similar
places, to make couverts, and supply the Asylun. - Of this ¢
Asylum, a Mrs. Carpenter,, (now Mrs. M:Dowall) was at
one time Matron—a lady of whomn we know nothing,.ex-
cept that she was respected where koown; but she was
made to give way to Mrs. Bolton, who waus. placed over
her; in iwet, Mr. Pierson preferred Mrs. Bolion, whom, at
this tinwe he thought highly of Now M= Bolton, besides
the qualities which we have already mentioned, apparently
possessed a greal share of humility, with much zeal, for she
was a new convert.  She had been a great sinner, but her
eins she confessed openly, in the presence of hoth Mr. Pier-
son and Isabella, as well as before other persons occasion-
ally. In these confessions she admitted that she bad lived
in fornication ; that she had used much skill and cunning
in seducing men, and had received large sums of money
from different gentlemen. She would cven describe the
manner in which she communicated her inclinations to vari-
ous dry goods merchants and clerks, some of whom she be-
trayed by naming to Mr. Pierson, before 1sabella, (we, how-
ever, have not sought the names.) To thiz ample confes-
sion of former sins she added, that she had been a great hy-

rite; and to hide her lewdness, that she had joined the
mhodisu. had attended the various protracted and camp
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n NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA.

before the time of Mrs. Bolton’s matronship, yet the inform-
ation given was just such as persons in her situation could
give; and the errcrs committed, and exaggerations made, just
such as we mught expect, from persons whose present merit
was rated in proportion to the:r former vices. Mrs. Bolton
bad been an exact specimen of corruption, in a pleasing and
unsuspicious form; and her practices, on her own shewing,
if believed, those which would justify the assertion in the
"Magdalene Report, that women were generally the seducers;;
and perhaps there were many Mrs. Bolton’s about the esta-
blishment. As proof, however, of the humility of this lady
she used to wash the feet of Isabella, who in return washed
her's, as part of the religious duty then thought necessary
by Mr. Pierson
At this period, Mr. Pierson was in the habit of preaching
in his own house, and Mrs. Bolton may be remembered as
going about the city soliciting hearers to the Prophet Elijah,
or John the Baptist, (Mr. Piersong and delivering religious
tracts, with extraordinary zeal, and thus obtaining a degree
of public notoriety, and accession to houses under her ap-
. _parent character, and whose residents might not have es-
teemed her, in proportion to her former course, as Mr. Pier-
son did. ' .
Among the attendants on Mr. Pierson’s preaching, and
indeed among his friends, was Mr. Mills. In page 96 of
Mr. Stone’s book, we have an account of Mr. Mills, under
the letters M. H. 8. which was almost unnecessary, as his
connexion with Matthias was notorious. The account of
his previous impressions are probably correct; we see no
inconsistencies, nor any object to be obtained in falsifying.
"His history is that of many, very many fanatics; he felt a
deep conviction of sin, and made himself miserable under
the idca that he had offended Deity, beyond the hope of
mon. To divert him, he travelled over land to New Or-
s; he afterwards visited England, Ireland, the British
end French capitals, and returned to New York in 1831,
very little altered; yet he became a member of the Presby-
terian church, was regular in his’ devotions, and fervent in
prayer, using ejaculatory prayer frequently; and with mueh
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‘zeal pressed the subject of religion on the clerks and ac-
g:a.intancel in his store; prudently, however, begging his

iends to check him when he was going too far in his store
exhortations. In the spring of 1832, he became acquainted
with Mr. Pierson, and soon formed an aftachment to him;
and being informed that Mr. Pierson was not considered
quite tight in his mind, be replied, says Mr. Stone, « Oh, i
is not so now.” The impression of Mr. Pierson's sanity,
among the party, we find to be general, notwithstanding a
few very singular acts, such as anointing his sick wife, and
expecting her resurrection; yet in this he relied on Aés un-
derstanding of scripture. It is evident that Mr. and Mrs. B.
Folger received their doctrines chiefly from Mr. Pierson,
and regarded him as perfectly sanc; even on the late trial,
Mrs. B. Folger conveyed that idca.

‘We see no reason to doubt the outlines of the early history
of Mr. and Mrs. Folger, as given by Mr. Stone. The con-
version of Mrs. Folger, who had been brought up in the
bosom of the Dutch church, took place in 1825, two years
after her marriage; and in the same year was formed what
was commonly called the Holy Club, the essence of which
was Mrs. ***, (so says Mr. Stone,) who is said to have in-,
fluenced the mind of Mrs. Folger, but the credit of the con-
version is given to the Rev. Mr. Dubois. Previous to this
a series of societies had been formed, of which Mrs. ***
is said to have been the focus; but against her Col. Stone is
evidently prejudiced, for he wishes to transfer to that lady
a great portion of the sins of Mrs. Folger, as the origjnal
cavse of her fanaticism, while the sequel evidently shows,
that however zealous Mrs. *** might be, she did not fall
into personal guilt, and would have saved Mrs. Folger from
her course, if she could; while there is clear evidence of
Mrs. B. Folger's originating things calculated to ruin this
lady, but which shc fortunately, and with good sense and
better principles, escaped. These are inferences drawn
from Ml:' Stone’s book, for we have not yet seen this lady;
we shall, however, if possible, obtain her version of
subject.

Ader the conversion of Mrs. B. Folger, her house became
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‘tion of imle ‘and female zealots was formed, consisting of
sabyterians, Baptists, and Methodists, including the ladies
before mentioned, for mutual instruction and prayer; but
those only were to sgea.k who were moved by the Holy
Ghost, or who thought they were. This association ‘was
aftérwards called the Holy Club. Mr. Stone says they did
not believe in the special observance of the Sabbath, but that
every dey should be alike. He likewise says, they did not
believe in the institution of marriage, and that a single life
‘was essential to purity; however, many of these then single,
afterwards got married; they did not believe in a final ga
of judinent, but that mankind were judged of their deedys
every day. We have not, however, perfect confidence in
Mr. Stone’s statements. It was this society that Mrs. B.
Folger associated with after her conversion, and to whom
she opened her house, and these proceedinﬁiz were simulta-
néous with Mr. Pierson’s a.Rreaching in his own house.
Mrs ***, of Stone’s book, afterwards removed to Bowery
Hill, lately cut down, attracting to her neighbourhood Mr.
Pierson, ﬁ.r and Mrs. B. Folger, and others, forming a so-
ciety, who believed themselves under the teaching of the
Spirit; the source, we again repeat, of all fanaticism. Here
ﬂfem Retrenchment Society was formed, and Mr. Folger, un-
der the influence of his wife, disposed of his elegant farni-
ture in town, and replaced it with plain furniture at Bowery
Hill; the party partook of plain food only, abstaining even
from butter, tea, and coffee, while the ladies sacrificed their
omaments, personal as well as household, and even institu-
ted rigid fasts, not to precede a feast,as among Catholics, to
which it serves as a whet to the appetite; but, to be broken
‘by bread and water. Mr. Stone adds, that Mr. Folger, not-
withstanding the sacrifice of his furniture, was not a member
of this society. We must now request our readers to look
-pver the last page or two again; 1t is the representation of

“Mr. Stone in reference to societies and individuals: in that
Won there is much general truth, but there is a

icular instance of ill feeling towards the lady with the
, Mrs.#%%: she is thrust forward perpetusily and alvways
for censure. We have already promised to show who this
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Jady is, and we shall in the future have to make frequent
Teferences to these statements, and therefore now endeavour
%0 fix the attention on them, while they occur in the nar-
.rave. . . . ' .
Mr. Pierson carried his principles further than the rest,
but he had no principles that :/ere not common to others, if
not to all; for others believed in the direct teaching of the
. Spirit, and these mistook their feelings for the effects of the
Spirit, and.their transient thoughts for emanations from the
Spirit; and being thus enlightened according to their leisure,
and to the encouragement they gave to their théughts and
fancies, they could frequently see farther than other le
into the Scriptures and the will of God, or fancied they

. could; and Mr. Pierson possessed these qualities in a su- J;

_perlative degree, and was hence highly res‘fected by the

party, while the world thought him a Inttle deranged; but |

.. on all subjects disconnected with religion, or where he did

. mot assume being divinely taught by Scripture, or the Spirit, [t

he was very rational and intelligent. He kept a sort of

diary, and hence we learn, when he received what he thought

a communication from the Spirit in Wall Street, that he was
then called Elijah the Prophet; and this took place before
he had seen Matthias.

Among other specimens of Mr. Pierson’s diary, Mr. Stone

" furnishes the following, which we offer as a proof of the |

importance he gave his thoughts:—
« Prayed for the harlots at Five Points: asked the Lord

to give us all the ground whereon the soles of our feet had §

trod, and all the souls now alive who had heard our voices
in that neighbourhood. ’

« Answer. The Lord said, ‘ Youmust go and fetch them
out’ The Lord said, concerning the two witnesses, ¢ Thou
art one and Sarah the other.’”

‘We have already noticed Mr. Stone’s gross error in ascri-

. bing to Isabella a part, and a very prominent part, in «the
_kingdom,” as it was technically called, on Bowery Hill, be-
fore either she or Matthias was connected with “the pasty.
M. Pierson had assumed the title of Prophet, asserting that
God had called him in an Omaibus, as before said, in these
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8, “ Thou art Elijah the Tishbite—gather unto me all -
aembers of Israel at the foot of Mount Carmel;” which
nderstood as meaning the gathering of his friends at -
ery Hill; and Mrs. Bolton, before noticed, with much
went about the city and into churches distributing tracts,
mviting the people to “ come and hear Elijah the Pro-
" Before Matthias appeared, the anointing had taken
, in which Mrs. Folger was consulted ; and the as
d influence of the 8pirit over the party believed, and
t led, or supposed to be led, by the Spint, they pushed
i:g:iries with zeal, and projected improvements both
and practices; still they were orthodox, zealous .
ms, and as such in intercourse with their fellow Chris-
. Ag a proof of this, it is noted in page 94 of Mr.
s book, that after the death of Mrs. Pierson, Mr. Pier-,
and Mrs. *** removed from Bowery Hill to Fourth
t, in one and the same house, while Mr. and Mrs. Fol-
vent to reside at Sing Sing, and where they were bap-
by the Rev. Mr. Frey, and admitted into the fellow-
and communijon of Mount Pleasant Baptist church. It
at this period that Isabella went to live with Mr. Pier-
(Mrs. *** having left him, and Katy having gone to
inia,) without any previous knowledge either of him or
1ias, who soon afterwards followed.
evious to this period, and indeed before the party left
ery Hill, and consequently long before Matthias ap-
:d among them, a transaction occurred which is minute-
lated by Mr. Stone, page 114, 15, 16, which indeed we
transcribe, which shows in some a peculiar state of
,and fitness for what we shall afterwards have to relate,
which would be scarcely credible, if it were not for the
ication of an original document, in Mr. Stone's work,
which we could not otherwise have got possession of.
knew that such a document had an existence: Mr.
e, indeed, by taking out the names, excepting that of
Pierson, who is now dead, has deprived it of interest;
interest we can restore, by replacing the name, and
ring its connexion with the principal persons about
hias, and by showing that this document demonstrates
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a position we shall afterwards take; and it clearly illus-
tmtes facts, which, as we before said, would be incredible,
without this document; yet its absence would not make
those facts untrue. In making this exposure, we are but
rendering justiceto an injured party, for one of the parties is
injured. This passage in Mr. Stone’s book is ered fur-
ther obscure, by being inserted after he had quoted dates
from Pierson’s diary of 1832, whereas it relates to 1830,
for he himself has preserved the dates. After quoting seve-
ral passages from Pierson’s diary, in relation to the expected
resurrection of his wife, Mr. Stone thus proceeds:—

« This is the last mention the writer has been able to find
among the pagers of Mr. Pierson of his wife, whom he so
dearly loved, and to whose memor{ll:e so fondly clung. It
is well known, however, that he had latterly imbibed the
singular idea, probably after all hope of her resurrection
had vanished, he was the spiritual husband of another—
a lady who had been one of the Bowery Hill association.
His latter belief was, that after the decease of Mrs. Pierson,
her spirit had entered into the body of the lady referred to.
It is not known how, or exactly when, this strange conceit
originated; but it is not more surprising than many other
features of his melancholy hallucination. Among his loose
papers, however, are two anonymous notes, in the hand-
writing of a female, which, taken in connexion with a eir
cumstance or two that will presently be related, render it at
least possible, that there may have been an artful conspiracy
at the bottom of this particular instance of delusion. Mrs.
Pierson, it will be recollected, died on the 20th of June,
1830. The following note is endorsed in Mr. Pierson's
handwriting— Received July 20, 1830’ And here it must
be borne in mind, that, connected with the idea that his wife
would be raised from the dead, and restored to him on earth,
was the farther belief, that she would bear him a son, to be
called ‘James’ This was one of the promises which he
had received from God, and which he has recorded as the
-answer to his prayers, in perhaps fifty places. The first
note is as follows :—

% + When my cousin -—— was engaged in prayer a fow



days ago with Katy, I saw a vision which I was directed
to write and send to you. I was lost a few minutes, when -
I beheld my cousin walk into your back-door with the dress
which she usually wears. She passed through the entry,
and went into the parlor. The difference in her state was,
that she was big with child; and I thought in the vision
that she was at Aome® in your house. Iknew not the mean-
ing of it, but was constrained to send it to you. Perha
the Lord will show you the interpretation. cousin told
me some time ago that the Lord had promised hér a son. I
never realized that it would be so until I saw the vision.’

“ The second note, in the same handwriting, and attached
to the first by a wafer by Mr. Pierson himself, with the me:
morandum, ¢ Received 27th July, 1830, is as follows :-—

« I thought, sir, that an apo{ogy was due to you for the
abrupt note I handed you. I have felt guite uneasy about
it, and wished to say to you, that after I had the vision, I
thought I must write it; and thought I had better tell it to

u than cousin, as I know she has a remarkably pure
mind; and I judged that if she suspected that I let you know
(it} it would make her feel very unpleasant. I have taken
up a cross in making it known to you: if I have.done
wrong, be kind enough to forgive me.’ 1

« It so happens that there was a very remarkable coun-
terpart to this vision of the writer of these notes. The lady

ibly referred to, had a vision on a certain night—she
ing at a distance from the city at the time—in which it
was revealed to her, that she was the spiritual wife of Mr.
Piereon. And she believed that such was the record in
heaven. This conviction was moreover strensﬁxenod by
another circumstance. On one occasion, her husband being
abeent, she prayed very fervently that the first person who
entered her goor. might be him. - It happened shortly after-
ward, and before any other person came in, that Mr. Pier-
on his appesrance ; and the good lady at once con-
claded, that although it had been written otherwise on earth,
yet, in the records of heaven, Mr. Pierson and herself weré
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one. Subsequently, on comparing notes with Mr. Pierson,
no doubtl::g leﬁtz' the ﬁ:ctl?l:ince it appeared that on the
self-same night, he had had a similar in his own
house. On discovering the coincidence they joined hands,
and walking into another apartment, where a third

was sitting, presented themselves, and mutually declared
‘themselves to be, spiritually, man and wife. Whether there
Was, OT Was not, any connexion between the mysten'oul notes
which have been quoted, and this singular incident of the
‘delusion, is left for the reader to determine.”

Now, in the first place, who wrote these notes, to whom
do they relate, and what actions in this mysterious affair cor-
respond with these sentiments? Mr. Pierson declared to
Isagglla. that Mother (Mrs. B. Folger) had had a spirit of
this kind for some time; and that she had declared to him
‘that he should have Mrs.
also stated the fact, that she had communicated this vision to
Mr. Pierson before Father (Matthias) had come, and re-

" peated nearly the words of the letter. Mf. Pierson aleo de-
clared, that Mrs. Folger must be a master spirit, because
she had first discovered this light. Mrs. —— was a mar-
ried lady. 'We have not yet seen her, but judging from Mr.
Stone’s book alone, we are perfectly satisfied that however
fanatical she may be, she has been unjustly abused by Mr.
8tone, for the sake of others less virtuous, or more fa-
natical. N '

Of the supposition that this lady intrigued to get these
notes written in her favour, and the assumed facts that this
lady had a corresponding dream, and that her prayer was
answered by the appearance of Mr. Pierson instead of her
husband, we know nothing. We have detected Mr. Stone
in notorious false statements in relation to Isabella, and these
therefore may be incorrect, especially asthe subsequent con-
duct of that lady does not accord with the facts, as related,
and yet the thing may be possible.

. 'l‘{e note has internal evidence “to (her) my cousin.” The

Y wa;::nsin lt;_l?b& B Folg:r, ;;!d. both were a?ociazee

e ill «kingdom. . ——, though mare

tied, bad no :{ﬂdren, and therefore needed revelation, “that

. o, “pe

W a

for a wife. Mrs. B. Folger -
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she should have & sen ;" und explains Mrs. Folger's « never
realizing this,” till she saw the vision. ,
‘When a note on this subject was at first mentioned to Isa-
bella, she instantly declared its contents, before it was read
to her, using some of the very expressions, and immediately
applying them to the history of the Sing Sing mystery, re-
lating where it was first named to her, the occasion, and the
action on it, a long while after. She instantly recognized
the phraseology as being used on another very singular, but
similar occasion, especially the expression, * If I have done
wrong, be kind enough to forgive me,” and imitated the soft
tone and manner in which Mrs. B. Folger would express
herself. It is also true, that her cousin was of a remarka-
ble pure mind. '
or the sake of connecting this subject with facts, we
ghall now antici the history of events, in relation how-
ever only to Mr. Pierson. This gentleman, at a subsequent
period, and while the parties, including Matthias, resided at
Sing 8ing, and after: some very singular events had occur-
red there, of which he was made a party, and of which we
shall afterwards speak, applied to this married lady, not for
a spiritual union only, but for a bodily one; and at this pe-
riod he related the facts of the note to {sabella. and repeated
to her the contents, explaining the propriety of such unions.
For this purpose he went to the residence of that lady, and
formally proposed the union, declaring both to the hus-
band and the wife, that he had a revelation from God, that
marriage was not of God, and that he was to take Mrs. ——
for his wife. This formal application both the husband and
the lady regarded as the act of a mad man, and treated it
accordingly. This occurred about two months before Mr.
Pierson’s death ; but hé had frequently named the subject
before, but delicately, as a dream, and only urging the lady
to come on a visit to Sing Sing, trusting to the power of
Matthias to effect the rest. This the lady had named to her
husband, while she declined the visit, never going there but
ence, and then to reprove Mrs. B. Folger for harbouring

“The fact of Mr. Piegaon’p'mking this singular applica«
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tion to a married woman, strange s ® is, is attest-d by Mr.
Pierson’s relatives, from some of whom we have the cor-
roborative evidence ; nor do v.e believe the lady will disavow
the fact; she has nothing to be ashamed of: she was net
duped by Matthias, nor did she tolerate, for a moment, the
preposterous proposition made to her. It is for this reason
we doubt the facts formerly related of her. ‘The curious
circumstances which led to this monstrous proposition, be-
sides the =otes, a long while previous, will be related in their
proper places, and will, in some rmeasure, reduce the sur-
prise. We speak, however, positire on the fact of Mr. Pier-
son making such an application to the lady before mention-
ed, and we know that this fact is known to his relatives, who
are also now living; we have not asked their leave to give
them as a reference, for fear they should be alarmed at the
publication, and attempt to induce us to suppress it. The
excuse for him, is of course his insanity; and if others, with
or-without visions, have made similar applications, and suc-
eeeded, they must invent their own excuses: we shall pub-
lish facts; the whole truth, and nothing but the truth.
+ 'We have thus anticipated the history, in order to identify
the author and object of those notes; and we do not hesitate
to say, that in our belief, Mrs. B. I'olger is the author, and
Mrs. the object ; but these notes were written in 1830,
two years before Matthias or Isabella was known to the
rty, and consequently proves a peculiar state of mind on
the part of Mrs. B. Folger, in relation to the marriage con-
tract, by no means uncommon among some religious people.
The Antinomians of England were frequently charged by
their opponents with violations of the marriage compact;
while we have known some of them justify leaving their
husbands or wives, because they were not spiritual, and
gtemting Scripture, as, “ Be ye not unequally yoked.” It must
observed e too, t}uit Mr. 'erso:lxla behl’zevet} ’in the bmmle i-
: on of spirits; he supposed that his wife's amiable spirit
ﬂfﬁkm up its abode with Mrs. ——, while that lady’s
husbanﬂwever excellent a man he mt:y‘h be as adcm.'d'm&
aéver made any great pretention to spirituality ; an
fore Mr. Pierson, advised by others, might lgmk the lady
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unmatched. Clergymen whb have not been considered de-
ranged, have held similar opinions, and acted in a like man-
ner, from fanaticism, united perhaps with lust. E

Now let any persons regard the consequences of these
sentiments, apparently expressed by Mrs. B. Folger and Mr. -
Pierson: the teaching of the Spirit, which means any émo-
tion or thought, in accordance with what we think Scripture,
including dreams and visions, a supﬁosed holy community
or selected favourites of God, together with the belief of
spirits, good or bad, successively occu;:ging bodies; and
you have, in these sources of fanaticism, the seeds of all the
mischief ascribed to Matthias; and these existed before he
made his appearance. We are not about to excuse him, or
take one particle from his shoulders which he ought to bear ;
but we have set out with a candid determination to investi-
gate the whole subject, and we are resolved to do justice to
every individual. In relation to those notes, we should be
unwilling to ascribe them either to design by Mrs. —, or
by Mrs. B. Folger: we see no reason, without very strong
evidence to the contrary, to deny that Mrs. B. Folger had a
vision, and believing in such visions as the effect of the
Spirit, we are not surprised at the result. All we want is
to give the facts, and to show their causes and necessary
resu h' (]

* In the above narrative we have omitted the lady’s name, (as an.
exception to our general rule,) we think her perfectly innocent;
we think both she and her husband have been severely injured by the
base insinuation of Colonel Stone, and we should on{y increase that
injury by giving publicity to the name: there are some crimes of so

egrading a nature, that humanity shrinks from the association of
the name with the crime, even if no proof can be alleged ; the crime
here m:ln:;x:d is or;le 1(‘ th&t: kind, and the_la;isyl imp i:g is either b;
g, or she has been most egregio! sinned against
Col. 8tone and his coadjutor: either she is d.egase by the perpe-
tration of some attempt to seduce Mr. Pierson, or he, the calumnia-
tor, is a wretch dangerous to sociti?.

There is no doubt that Mrs. B. Folger wrote that note or a similar
one, and we shall afterwards find in her, corres ing feelings and
actions: the stre; of the insinuation depends upon the counter-
part, “ that the lady dreamed that she was the spiritusl wife of Mr.

-
» [y
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Such then were the foelings and faith, and such the dis-
ition to act on those feelings and faith, by the party before
miu came. We shall now introduce this important

gentleman

Pierson ; and that on another occasion she prayed to see her hus
band who had been absent, and that Mr. Pierson presented himself
accidentally ; that discovering the coincidence with a dream of Mr.
Pierson on’ the same night, they joined hands, walked into another
apartment, and presented themselves as spiritual man and wife.”

here is in this account a peculiar caution which we overlooked a¢
first; we had supposed the presentation was to a comgany, instead of
which, upon recurring to the book, we find it was to a third person
or individuol ; thus this tale of infamy rests on an individual, and
that individual we believe to be a degraded one, to be in fact, Mr.
or Mrs. Folger, both of whom, t er with Mrs. Stone, the lady
with plumes in her hat, introduced in Mr. Stone’s book, have been
offended with the candour and honesty of this victimized lady ; we
mention this as a fact, not as the motives for a dastardly infliction
of a rancorous wonmf, for it does not appear a sufficient cause for
this vindictive course; we could, however, have wished that no pri-
wvate cause had existed for such an attack.

‘We have now seen this lady and her husband, we find in her
nothing fanatical, but a great deal of sense, and a very lively
sense of propriety. The testimony of Mrs. B. i“olger to her, that
she has a remarkably pure mind, is verified by others who know
her; while she denies ever holding the peculiarity of Mr. Pierson’s
creed about marriage, or any other of his peculiar opinions, such
3s the direct teaching of the s%n;'lt, &c. She at oncerecognized this
Tote as Mrs. B. Folger’s, that both Mr. Pierson and Mrs. B. Folger
had spoken to her on the subject, and that to the latter she had replied,
¢ Well, cousin, a dream is but a dream.” The mention of the sub-
ject by the former, only created a more distant or circumspect inter-
course, so that she does not recollect even shaking hands with him
afterwards, while he in his general deportment I‘Ppenrcd modest;
his invitations to Sing-S8ing, she then regarded as friendly, intended
for her spiritual benefit, and were declined by her, because she
regarded Matthias as an impostor, exclaiming ‘I will not visit at
8ing-Bing while that man remains there.” On this lady’s testimony
about eight weeks before Mr. Pierson’s death, he did visit the coun-
try residence of this lad{mlnd her husbend, and then he firmly
-announced his purpose both to the hasband and the lady, as we
before related, and was treated by them in the manner described :
thus the facts give the lie to the pretended seduction of Mr. Pierson,
and Mr. Stose kmew this, or might have known it, for his wife, the
Jady with the plumes, was intimate with this object of slander, and
hip- informer must have been aware of the facts, from the know-
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ledge of which, without seeing the lady, we draw our conclusions
as to the vileness of the slander, and the probable falseness of the
117

of :E counterpart, this lady knows nothing; she utterly denies
it, and throws it back as a fabrication om the author, or
his informer, or as a concoction of both; or it might have been
another dream of the author of the first dream; but Col. Stone has

51"0 currency to this counterpart, without proof, just as slanderers
o who wish to believe a statement detrimental to an object of dns-

pleasure. i

This lady then denies ever having, or relating a cotrespondin
dream to Mr. Pierson; she denies recognizing the coincidence an
walking hand and hand into another apartment, and presenting her-
self to a third person, or being so presented as the spiritual wife of
Mr. Pierson; she denies the prayer and the incident of Mr. Pierson
coming in after that prayer, although he might have come in after
such a prayer, (a prayer for her husband at. variance with the su
gi&ion of betraying him) without her observation. Now then is

L. Stone put to his Zrumps, he must bring his respectable proofs of
these facts, or be regarded as a base slanderer of a respectable, well
educated, talented, and virtuous female, one described by Mrs. B.
Folger as “of a remarkably pure mind.”

'hat we are correct in oar object, the facts connected with the
letter show; nay, Mr. Stone himself identifies her, but this we can-
not show without giving the name; we will however give Colonel
Stone proofs of identity :—this lady is the cousin of Mrs. B. Folger,
as the note itself intimates, she was the early friend of Mrs. Stone,
and member of the same church, and she did offend Mrs. Stone on
the subject of her peacock like aJJpeamnce in church; her husband
was known to Mr. Stone at Hudson, in his earliest exertions and
honest endeavours to raise himself from poverty : at that time, her
basband was a man of good family, fortune, and education, he was
on the groond when' Col. Stone, not then a colonel, was selling his
last dying speech and confession of Peg Huftail, (Peggy Houghtail-
ing, executed for infanticide,) before that miserable female had
drawn her last breath ; he knows the history of that pamphlet, and
be wasarm inarm with Lieut. Allen, on the morning after that gen-
leman had ncarly choaked Mr. Stone, who, in a drunken frolic,
after a ball, at which they bad all been, had called the Lieutenant &
coward; he was present we say at the reconciliation, and heard the
Lieutenant say, “Well, Mr. Stione, if m are satisfied, I am.”
These facts are mentioned to assure Col. e, that we are correct
in our information; and now we may add, that the highly in
pant husband is only restrained from offering a public insult to
slanderer of his wife, from the fear of the press, over which his
antagonist would have a control from his situation ; and if Colonel
Stone is not now satisfied, we are authorized to say, that this gentle-
man’s name and address 1# at our office, and at Col. Stone's serviee,

for any purpose he may choose. o
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CHAPTER IIL

’ By History of Matthias—Ieabella's Evidence—Myr. Stone’s Errory—

r. Multhias's Account—A Clergyman’s Blessing defermines Ais
Character—His Propertu and Ruin—Kirk and P is

e g il S ot U 4
nt n—. es8es a_ Jew—.

R ey of 2 , Abikity, and

Travels—M:. Mr. Stone—His peculiar Dress,
Opintons—Int n to Pierson— Fmpression on Isabeila—
a m ly acknowledge each others Prdmm—Suﬁ,uhr

Preaches at Mr. Mills—John_Galloway—Mys. Darch—Mr. Stonds
Management—Specimen q}( Matthias's Preaching—Letter of Mr.
Milis—Peculiar Sermon of Matthias.

‘W= propose to give only a sketch of the life of Matthias
in this place, because Mrs. Matthias, we understand, is pub-
lishing on this subject; and her wark will be the best au-
thority for his early life, unless it shows marks of prejudice,
while we believe that our work will be the best authority
for that period of his life after he left his home in Alba.ny,
and appeared amongst us as a prophet, and took up his
abode successively with Mr. Pierson, in Fourth-street ; with
Mr. Mills in Franklin-street; at his own house in Clarkson
street, and finally at Mr. Folger's in Sing Sing, because we
take our narrative from a living witness, with him during
all that time, sufficiently shrewd for. careful observation,
and too simple in character and defective in education to

"conceal the truth, even if she desired it, and sufficiently in-
Jjured by the declarations of Mr. Folger, and the publication
of Mr. Stone’s book, to seek @ justification of her moral
character, and cons_eq:ently to desire the publication of the
whole truth on the subject, as the only means of an honest
* justification. - :
- We have seen Mrs. Matthins, and ascertained from her
that Mr. Stone has been equally ignorant of facts, or care-
less in the relation of them, in the early life of Matthias,as
he was about Isabella, but as these matters are mostly im-
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“material, we may safely leave them to her, taking the libezty
of reviewing her book in the sscond part of ours, when we
propose drawing the portraits of the several persons form-
ing the Sing Sing group, as before expressed, and in' such
portraits we may properly introduce illustrative conversa-
tions, and minutia, exhibiing characters, some of svhich'are
sufficiently curious gnd amusing, and some rather indeli-

. cate, according, to our vulgar nouons of proprety; taese,
however, we shall manage without giving offence, and yet
Tetain the truth. IR

Robert Matthews, or Matthias, is of Scotch extraction, but
a native of Washington county, New-York, and is now
forty-seven years of age; he was religiously brought:up
among the Anti-Burghers, a sect of Presbyterians, the
Clergyman, the Rev. Mr. Bevridge, visiting the family after’
the manner of the church, and being pleased with I{obert.
Eut his hand on his head, when a boy, and pronounced a
- blessing, and this blessing, with his natural qualities, deter-
mined his character, for he ever after thought he should be
a distinguished man. Matthias was brought up a fhrmer
till nearly eighteen years of age, but acquired indirectly
the art bfy a carpenter without any regular apprenticeship,
and showed considerable mechanicel skill; but he never
did act as a mill-wright, as stated by Mr. Stone, as we ‘are
assured by himself; there were several others in the family,
one brother died in January last, 1835, and one other bro-
ther obtained considerable skill in painting, but died insane,
. according to Mr. Stone, but this is not acknowledged by
Matthias. Mr. Stone says Robert accumulated property by
his trade; this is & mistake, he never obtained money by
industry, on the authority of his wife, alt.houil;she was not
wn idle man, but he obtained property from his uncle, Ro-
| bert Thompson, and then he went into business as a store
. and was considered respectable, and a member of
, the Beotch Presbyterian Church; -he matried in 1818, and
" dontinuet in business in Cambridge; in 1816 he ruiried
) bimself by a.building speculation and ‘the derangement'of
| thy enrreacy which denied bank facilities, and soon afler
he came to New-York with his family, and worked at his -

R
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trade; he afterwards removed to Albany and becam
hearer at the Dutch- Reformed Church, then under:
Ludlow’s charge; he was frequently much excited om
ligious subjects, and especially on one occasion by |
Finpey, now of Chatham Street Chapel, whose pows

eaching has driven several persons mad; next to
mfluence of the blessing which he received at the ham
the Scotch clergyman; the preachipg of Mr. Finney ar
Mr. Kirk, seems to have assisted -in forming his charat

", for after hearing him, he declared that though he had ;

fessed religion twenty years, he never had any till he he

. them: he did not however become a follower of eithe

them, but they gave a new direction to his thoughts. Be

. his late ap ece as a public character he advocated

thusiastically the abstinence system as to liquor, and enfo:

.. it in his family.

In 1829 he was well known, if not for street preach
for loud discussions and pavement exhortations, but he

- .not make set sermons. In the beginning of 1830, he
. only considered zealous, but in the same year he prophe
. the destruction of the Albanians and their capital, and w

Preparing to shave, with the Bible before him, he sudd:

; gxt down the soap and exclaimed *“I have found it, I}

-foynd a text which proves that no man who shaves his b

" ean bea true Christian,” and. shortly afterwards witl
- shaving went to the Mission House to deliver an add
.. which he had promised, and in this address, he proclai

his new chamcter;“})ronounced vengeance on the land,
that the law of God was the only rule of government,

. . that he was commanded to take possession of the worl
. the name of the King of kings: his harangue was
. short by the trustees putting out the lights. About thist

“+

.. Matthias laid by his implements of industry, and in J

.he advised his wife to_fly with him from the destruc

v Which awaited-them in the city, and on her refusal, ps
i~.om account of Matthias calling himself a Jew, whom

n
L
k¢

AR unwilli:gito retain as a husband, he left her, tal
~8gme of ¢

: ldren to his sister in Argyle, 40 miles 1
~/fbany, andas he walked pardy in the night,and slep

atrd n e '
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| empty house, Mr. Stone says he was cnu;] to the children,
it we do not hear that the children themselves complain ;

@ wife and children since then have chiefly suppo
iemselves by their own industry, although he has given

lem money when he has had it. At Argyle he entered -

1 church and interrupted the minister, declaring the con:

tegation in darkness, and warning them to repentance; he

ns of course taken out of the church, and as he-was ad-
ertised in the Albany papers, he was sent back to his
mily. His beard hag now obtained a respectable length,
ad thus he attracted attention, and easily obtained an au-
ience in the streets; for this he was sometimes arrested,
ice by mistake for Adam Paine, who collected the crowd
id then left Matthias with it on the approach of the officers.
le repeatedly urged his wife to accompany him on a mis-
on to convert the world, declaring that food could be ob-
ined from the roots of the forest if not administered other-

ise. At this time he assumed the name of Matthias, '

lled himself a Jew, and set out on a mission, taking a
sstern course, and visiting a brother at Rochester, a
ilfal mechanic, since dead; leaving his brother he pro-
eded on his mission over the northern states, occasionally
turning to Albany, but he did not visit Arkansas, nor the
uth, nor the Cherokee country in Georgia, as Mr. Stone
ys, nor, of course, did he preach to the Indians, nor was
s imprisoned there, all of which is reported by Mr. Stone,
ho apparently confounds him with Adam Paine, whose
perience was something like this, but he did visit Wash-
gton, and sing through Pennsylvania, he came to
ew-York; Y::re he visited his brother-in-law, Mr. Andrew
Thite, corner of Duane and Broadway; Mr. Stone says
at at first he behaved mildly, but that on being asked why
» loft his family, &c. he became furious, uttered curses,

M declared that he had come into the devil's house. -

hring his journey we suppose he supported himself as the

did formerly, at least we believe he did not work, .
ing perhaps the benefit of clergy. His appearance

athe éity of New-York st this time was mean, but gro- -

que, and his sentiments were but little known. At this

' A\
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time we knew something of Matthias, and we once hears
him lecture; his aspect was certainly much like the engrs-
vings of Jesus Christ in the family bibles, and like him he
sat :to_lecture, and - dealt, in unconnected sentences, some- .
timés much to the purpose, at others very flat, while he cer-
tainly displayed no marks of great genius, or much learn-
ing: the only peculiarity then expressed was to denounce
the ‘practice of the clergy in seeking to make converts of
‘women, and visiting them in the absence of their husbands.
On one occasion too, he called on us on some business; in
this interview we certainly thought he displayed both
vanity and presumption, with a portion of clerical or pro-
phetical assurance, }':)r he wanted some printing done at our
l;i«:::l..blialzment for nothing although we were strangers to

On May the 5th, 1832, he first called on Mr. Pierson, in
Fourth-street, in his absence; Isabella was alone in the
house, in which ‘she had lived since the previous autumn;
on opening the door she, for the first time, beheld Matthias,
and her early impressions of seeing Jesus in the flesh, rushed
into Ber mind, she heard his riinl?uiry, and invited him into
the parlour, and being naturally Turious, and a good deal
excited, and possessing a good deal of Zact, she drew him
into & conversation, stated her own opinions, and heard his
Teplies and explanations; her faith was at first staggered by

his declaring himself a Jew, but on this point she was re-.

[

lieved by his saying, “ Do you not remember how Jesus -

rayed,” and repeated part of the Lord's prayer in proof that
&ax gs‘.ther’s ki;’l?flomp:vnas to come, and noz' the sgn's; -she
then pnderstood him to be a converted Jew, and in the cone
clusion she says “shmlt as if God had sent him to set u

thel:i:g]g]l:m ;’ thus Matthias at once secured the good wxﬁ
of Isgbella, and we may suppose obtained from her some in-
formation in relation to Mr. Pierson, especially that Mrs,

Pierson declared that there was no true church, and approv. .

ing of Mr. Pierson's preaching: Matthias left the house,
mmmm on Saturday evening. Mr. Pierson at

e

d

Isabella, desirous of hearing the expected convessation, :
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~veen Mmhm and Mr. Pierson on Saturday, hurried
work, got finished, and was permitted-to be present;
eed the sameness of belief made her familiar with her

ployer, while her attention to her work, and characteris-

faithfulness, increased his confidence. This intimacy,
result of holding the same faith, and the principle after-
rds adopted of having but one table and all things in
amon, made her at once the domestic and the equal, and

depository of very curious, if not valuable information ;-

his object even her colour assisted: persons who have
relled 1n the south know the manner in which the coloured
ple, and especially slaves, are treated, they are scarcely
arded as being present; this trait in our American char-

xr has been frequently noticed by foreign travellers..

e English lady remarks that she discovered in course of
wversation with a southern married -gentleman, that a co-
red girl slept in his bedroom, in which also was his wife,
| when he saw that it occasioned some surprise, he re-
tked “ What would he do if he wanted a glass of water

he night?” Other travellers have remarked that the pre- -

ce of coloured people never seemed to interrupt conver-
on of any kind for one moment; thus the peculiar religious
other characteristics of Isabella, gave opportunities
ch none other had, and circumstances have induced her,
rendered it nec that she should keep back nothing,
to tell the whole tmt;, which was the only way in whic
could escape the position of a scape;ioat, which Mr.
1e and some of the party seemed to make her; this di-
fion i8 not out of place, it accounts for much information
he subject which she Koemed, while her consistency
won our credence, and her good character and corro-
tive evidence has continued it. Isabella then was pre-
at the first interview between Matthias and Pierson;
his interview Mr. Pierson asked Matthias if he hid a
ily, to which he replied in the affirmative; he asked him

# his beard, and he gave him a scriptural reason, assert-

aleo that the Jews did not shave, and that Adarh had a
. Mr. Pierson detailed to Matthias his experience,
mggeMﬂMnMy&de
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they held the same sentimients, both admitting the direct -
fluence of the 8Spirit, and the transmissions of spirits from
one bod (o,um&&: - Matthias admitted the call of Mr. Pier-
son in the Omnibus in Wall Street, which, on this occasion,
he gave in these words: * Thouart Elijah the Tishbite, snd
thou shalt go before me in the spirit and power of Elias, to -
pare my way before me.” And Mr. Pierson admitted
ﬁ:nhiqs’ call, who completed his declaration on the 20th of
June, in Argyle, which, by.a curious coincidence, was the
very day on which Pierson had received his call inthe Om-
nibus. . Such singular coincidences have a powerful effect
on exdited minds: from that discovery Pierson and Mat-
thias rejoiced in each other, and became kindred spirits;
Matthias, however, claiming to be the father, or to possess
the spirit of the Father—he was God upon earth, becouse
the spirjt of God dwelled in him ; while Pierson then un-
derstood that his mission was like that of John the Baptist,
which the name Elias meant. This conference ended with
an invitetion to supper, and Matthias and Pierson washed
each other’s feet; but washing of feet had been established.
At this first. meeting a Shaking Quaker was present, and
Matthias remained over night. Onthe curious coincidence
of time_.above referred to, we must remark, that Matthias
declared himself in Albany; in the beginning of June, and
at.Stillwater on the 19th, as Mr. Stone says; and therefore
the expression, completed his declaration, is used; but it is
evident that if Mr. Pierson’s eall had happened on either of -
those previous days, the coincidence would have been more
striking, and equally asserted. .
Mr. Pierson preached on the following Sunday, but after
which, he declined in favour of Matthias, and some of the
believed that the “ kingdom had then come.” .
I. Stone gives the following paper, found among others, -
dated May QtEbefore the interview just related, which he
supposes formed,the heads of one of Matthias’ discourse: it
is worth preserving, as showing some coincidence with the -
belief of, the party, and some bearings on future practices;
he supposes Maithiss meant to curse - the - following ‘ob-
Joctyi— . . L R -
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» All who say that the Jews cruciiied Jesus; all who say
u the first day of the week is the Sabbath; all who say
% immersion with clothes on is baptism ; all who say that
rinkling is baptism; all who preach to women without
sir husbands; all who drink wine in' bowls; (he ‘ad-
cated eating the grapes, which he called new wine in
w boitles ;) all who cateth the passover in a lower room.” -
Before this period, Mr. Mills attended Mr. Pierson’s lec-
tes; so did Mr. and Mrs. Folger, occasionally a Mr.
tauman, a carpenter, Mrs, Bolton, Isabella, and Katy,
bo had returned from Virginia, with many others. These
horted and gave their experience, before Matthias came,
t not afterwards, as he disapproved of women speaking.
me of these persons very soon became disciples of Mat-
ias, and among them was Mr. Mills, who invited Matthias
his house whenever he pleased, and a circumstance not
aerally known soon occurred, which induced Matthias to
cept of that gentleman’s hospitality, in exchange for that
Mr. Pierson’s. Mr. Pierson had let out part of his lar
use in Fourth Street, to a Mr. Sherwood, who used it for
table school. This gentleman was thus brought in
itact with the party, and he pronounced Matthias an im-
stor; ‘and irritated by his language, for perhaps he had
led him a devil, he shook him well, pushed him down on
: sofa, and indignantly pulled his beard. This circum-
ace, together with Mr. Pierson’s timidity, induced Mat-
as to go to Mr. Mills's house.
For some time before this, Katy had returned from Vir-
da, as just stated, where she had visited her children;
| on her return she lived with Mr. Mills, leaving Isabella
her former situation; by mutual consent, and for' general
wveniepncy, Isabella and Katy now changed -places; in
, Isabella was the stronger and more active woman, and
- services more desirable at Mr. Milly's; than at Mr. Pier-
’s, at this time; besides, she wished to get-out of the
of Mrs. Bolton. Isabella therefore followed the eourse
hlﬂhil& and- thus we are ensbled to continue our his-
r. wpol her authority, testified by others, in'a unery of
[ 1art v . A '
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At Mr. Mills's Matthias preached frequently, and on .
every Sunday, and introduced the curious practice of provi- |
ding a dinner for any of the company who chose to stay. -
Pierson had before preached all things common, and Mat-
thias had approved it Matthias, too, taught that the good ...
things of this life were for enjoyment, and’ that the time of, .
abundance had come; he was not now abstemious, yet he
was not extravagant, except in dress, for which Mr. Pier-,
son was reeponsible, and afterwards in equipage; he eaf -
plain good food, but not pies, and drank no wine; he ab: .
stained also from pork.

Athis house, Mr. Mills was served by a man called Gal-
loway, a sort of half disciple. This man died some months "
after Mr. Mills's establishment was broken up, leaving'a’
young widow, Catherine Galloway, afterwards a conspicu- °
ous perscn, without any very distinguishing qualities. We
may remark, in anticipation of the history, that Matthias had
cursed her husband, because, contrary to orders, he had -
opened the door to the officers who arrested him, when
Mills’s establishment was broken up. This man's death, .
by a troublesome and lingering disease, following the ciirse,
strengthened the faith of some of his disciples. ’

We return now to the history of events. Matthias con-
tinued for some time preaching at Mills’s, and among his
hearers was Mrs. Drach, an elderly Jewish woman, very
talkative, and very familiar with Matthias, to whom she
would give her experience, almost the only female with
whom he was familiar at that time. This is the same Mrs.
Drach who afterwards gave evidence against him. The
female relatives of Mr. Mills left his house soon after Mat-
thias came ; they would not be his disciples, and he would
not bear rivals. : T

Mr. Stone, in his relation of this part of his history, com- °
mits a sort of fraud, for he introduces some finery, such as
beautiful ruffles, worked night caps, &c. whose proper place
is at an interesting period further on. About this place too,
he introduces the two.curious notes, on & very curious sub-

which notes refenoaperiodtwmun re. Thus
ho connects this excess of finery with Mr. Pierson and Mills,
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te whom they do not belong; and introduces the letters, a
parenily Mrs. Folger's, before she is named as the discip
of Muithias, thus obscuring. the facts. As specimens of
Mﬁmu' preaching and sentiments, which he broached -.-
while at Mr. Mills's, we copy from Mr. Stone’s wark, because
we know the gentleman who furnished these specimens, and
becguse they are admitted to accord with Matthias’ senti-
saents at that time, '

«.The spirit that built the Tower of Babel is now in the
world—it is the spirit of the devil. The spirit of man never

oes upon the clouds—all who think so are Babylonians.

he only heaven is on the earth. All who are ignorant of
truth, are Ninevites. The Jews did not crucify Christ,—it
was. the Gentiles. Every Jew (l;l&his guardian angel at-
tending him in this world. don’t speak through
preachers, he speaks through me, his prophet.

« +John the Baptist,’ (addressing Mr. Pierson,) ¢ read the
tenth chapter of Revelations’ After the reading of the
chapter, the prophet resumed speaking, as follows :—

«Ours is the mustard-seed kingdom which is to spread
all over the earth. Our creed is truth, and ne man can find
truth unless he obeys John the Baptist, and comes clean into
church. .

« All real men will be saved; all mock men will be
damned. When a person has the Holy Ghost,then he isa
man, and not till then. They who teach women are of the
wicked. The communion. 18 all nonsense: so is prayer.
Eating a nip of bread and drinking a little wine won't do
any good. All who admit members into their church and

er them to hold their'lands and houges—their sentence
is, * Depart ye wicked, I know you not’ All females who
lecture their husbands, their sentence is the same. The
sons of truth are to enjoy all the good things of this world,
and must use their means to bring it about. Every thing -
that has the smell of woman will be destroyed. Woman is
the eapslieaf of the abomination of desolation—full of ail
deviltry. In a short time the world will take fire and dis-
solve—it is combastible already. All women, not obediesil,
had better become 30 as 500n as possible, and: let-the wicked

opee h pée

oo
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spirit depart, and become temples of truth. Praying 15 a%
mocking. When you see any one wring the neck of a
fow), instead of cutting off its head, he has not got the Holy
Ghost. (Cutting gives the least pain.)

« All who eat swine's flesh are of the devil; and just as
certain as he eats it, he will tell a lie in less than half an
hour. If youeat a piece of pork, it will go crooked throngh
you, and the Holy Ghost will not stay in you, but one or’
the other must leave the house pretty soon. The pork will - -
be as crooked in you as rams’ horns, and as great a nuisance
as the hogs in the street.

4 The cholera is not the right word; it is choler, whick
means God’'s wrath. Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, are now
in this world : they did not go up in the clouds as some be-
lieve: why should they go there? They don’t want to
there to box the compass from one place to another. The
Christians now-a-days are for setting up the Sox’s kingdom.
It is not his; it is the Father's kinggom. It puts me in
mind of the man in the country who took his son in busi-
ness, and had his sign made ¢ Hitchcock & Son,’ but the son
wanted it « Hitchcock & Father,’ and that is the way with
your Christians. They talk of the Son’s kingdom first, and
not the Father’s kingdom.” :

‘We shall also copy a letter, written during this period, to
Mr Pierson, in New Jersey on a visit, written by Mr.
Mills, beeause it shows the standing of Isabella with both
Mr. Mills and Mr. Pierson, at this time. (Isabella heard

this read.) .
% New York, 20th July,183%.
“JouN THE BarrisT, or DEAR PIERSON:

“J have your letter, and am glad to hear that You are
well. The angels of destruction are making dreadful havoc,
but do not be troubled; they are reaping the tares. The
harvest is begun, and not a single blade of wheat can fall or
be injured. - :

“ is well, and at the ¢ Lord's house’ often.

“ Isabelln is also well. '

« Matthias is still with us, thank God! and I think we can
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no longer say, ‘whken he, the Spirit of truth, is come,’ &ec,
Bm-@’:y this is ‘the Kingdom .of God.’ S ;

_ “The money you spoke of I can use, if you choose to
send it,and on your return will place it in a satisfacto:

T will venture to send you the love of all ‘the kingdom.’

. . “ Yours, sincerely.”

. At this period Matthias was well dressed; and we suppose
visited the Battery frequently in a dark carriage, for Mr.
.Btone says so, and we think 1t probable; but Mr. Stone g‘oea
on to say, that he was frequently accompanied by Mr. Pier-
son and his children, and he thus particularizes: « He
would take the children by the hand at either side, and thus
with stately tread,” &c. ow here we detect Mr. Stone in
writing falsely. Mr. Pierson had but two daughters, the
elder, mdeed, the daughter of his wife, by a first husband:
we have seen her, and she positively declares she never
walked out with Matthias in her life, and never heard hes
sister say she had, and does not at least know of it, though
then living with her father. It is of no great consequence,
but it shows the inaccuracy of Mr. Stone’s facts. Matthias
explains this; it was Mr. Mills’s children; (see his book,
page 120.) :

Mr. Mills, it is known, was arrested for insanity, and his

establishment broken up, but his property saved. We arp
not sm};rised at the course taken by his friends; it was per-
lmga visable, and the last of the evils prevented,. Previous
to this event, Matthias preached a remarkable sermon, which,
if it contained nothing new to his disciples, who had believed
in the same doctrines before he came among them, ret they
were new to the people, and being preached openly, occa-
sioned some trouble. Candour is one of Matthias’ virtues;
as far as we can see, he would keep nothing secret, and if
secrets have been kept, they have so been at the request of
others; he appears to have spoken openly and to have acted
openly, and this openness seems to be the charm which has
attached Isabella to him ; she could scarcely believe that he
did not mean well; yet her conclusions are not necessarily

true.
Matthias, a few days before Mills's arrest, preached against

-
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the earliest commandment, « Increase and multiply.” *He
declared «that God had never authorized wicked people &
mnh-p:{ and that -preachers who, in the marriage cetémo
dng;l. e that Ged %ﬂned&mmﬁaam%dz

0 was-re y interru uring

course, for as he adinitted none righteous but his , and
as his audience were males, and understood themselves s
being meant for the wicked, and dislikin iit:xe doctrine, they
. repeuedly interrupted him, and had not Mills used'his

; bx insisting .on peace in his e honse. Yio-
_lence would have been committed. Thi

broughton the next, the breaking up of Mr mnﬁ“m
blubmem.wnhwbxchweahallhegmthenextchnpter
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CHAPTER 1IV.

tunacy— Violence to Matthias,

mmwﬂ‘df%" Street, sends for h fmi?—a the brother

M e at rkson Street, s or Ris fami eorge,

"-of Matthias—Matthias at a boardt{;g house—His conduct there;—loa-

washes for him—He goes to Sing Sing—Mrs. B. Fblicr calls onn

Jeadelia for Matthias’ clothes—NMr. Pierson has fits— The Flolger's ac~
ecount of Matthias—Introduction to them at variance with facts—Ar
omission fatal to the honesty of the writer—Assumed motives of the
Folgers'—Mys. B. Folger's narrative—Her sickness—Isabella at Sings
Sing— Her description of the family—Mrs. B. Folger's atientions to
Maithias—The immemmt made by Matthias on these altentions—
Mr, Pierson and erine Galloway join the family at Sing Sing,
and in Third Street— Their g:m ion %d amusem&dim
veligious ceremonies— Property given to Matthias—Mrs. B. Folger's
re-marriage—Her attachment to Matthias— The disclosure to Mr.
Pierson, in a journey to New York—Monstreus propesition to Mr.
B. Folger—Her and triumph—DMrs. B. Folger given up to
Matthias by her husband—His returning fondness— consummae~
tion of the union—Superhuman pretensions of Mrs. B. Folger—Mr.
B. c-r[‘ctdus the family of Matthias—Commits legal adultery on
tlumjt—e ives with Mrs. Lusdeu as his wife—Conclusion from the
above acts.

Tue circumstances which led to the arrest of Mr. Mills
upon a charge of insanity, was no doubt the rumoured ex-
penditure of Matthias, who about this time, the summer of
1832, appears to have projected the building of a New Je-
rusalem, to be furm'shecF elegantly and with plate, of course
at the expense of his friends. Mvr Stone relates his having

called at the store of Mr. Gardner, in company with Mr.

Mills, and giving large orders for plate, surmounted with
the Lion of the Tribe of Judea, and of Mr. Mills subsequently

. alling there, with a servant bearing a large tea service of

tilver, to receive the ornament of the Lion, and various scrip-

tural inscriptions, such as, « The kingdom of God is at hand.”

He then ordered a silver chalice, with two inscriptions, one

of which was, that « it was presented to the prophet Mat-

thias by himself and children.” These events seem to have

determined Mr. Mills's family to arrest both him and Mat-
5
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thias on the charge of lunacy. The account give
Stone is extremely brief; he simply says, « That
rant, the gentleman referted to (for he is not name
book) was sent to Bloomingdale Lunatic Asylum,
thias to the apariment of the insane poor at Bellvt

_.'.ld@i,.(pa‘ge 139,) « It having been suggested to th
of one-of the disciples, (Mr. Mills,) that the secr
_prophet's power over his infatuated followers, like

+1ay.in his hair, means were found to set the Phil
the police upon him, and he was shorn of his
beaid”

- When this transaction occurred, we wrote an 1

' the Sunday Reporter, which we then published, r

Matthias as a fanatic or impostor, but highly cond:
of this act of violence, disgraceful to the parties or.

. it, disgraceful to the police, a portion of whom

" bri to violate the peace, for which they are pa:

- serve, and disgraceful to the county in which it cc

without a redress; and we have not altered our opil
i8 precisely this spirit which is now ruining the
and blasting its fair fame in the eyes of Europe.
declared that that treatment was likely to excite
sympathy, and this we believe to have been the «
Mr. and Mrs. Folger, with several others, possibl
chain of unpléasant circumstances to this feeling
tainly riveted the devotion of Isabella and Mr. P
the cause of Matthias, and Mr. Folger expressed the
that he was ill treated, and hence induced, after a
time, to offer him an asylum. Isabella’s account o
fair does not differ, but she gives the detail of the
and their effects, without judging of the motives.
“drew Mills, Mr. Crooker, and Mr. Dias, appeared -
. While the constables stripped Matthias, took his mc
his beard off, and tormented him in every way. )
was taken without resistance, previous to the vio.
Matthias. Isabella, who is a powerful and energ
man, offered some resistance to the violence to Matt.
was violently struck by Mr. Andrew Mills, and re
put out of the house, which, to'the consternation of t!



NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA. 81,

i repeatedly re-entered, sometimes by, one door and
mes by another. Mr. Andrew Mills, indeed, kindly
I"hér an asylum afterwards, But she was not dnm
st his offer. ~ Those who assisted Mr. Andrew M
‘violence, she supg)aa to be members of churches,
ahie: calls them, Christians, of whom she sdys ‘the
was full, and with whom she apgea’fs to be complétely -
ted, by their lecturing her ‘on the subject of ‘religion,
“her advice, and denouncing Matthias as an impostor.
sious lecturing, advice, and depunciation, were lost
kier, from the fact of these persons sanctioning: the
iting, as she expresses.it; of Matthias. She could see
humane in this treatment, or any thing to recom-
‘he religion which suggested it ; while she contrasted
as’ philosophical submission, “and ‘at least afpparent
ty; she could see nothing but the old story of « Crua-
m, crucify him;” and thus she became, by this im-
treatment of Matthias, more closely devoted tb him.
Hieve it had the same effect on others. -
after Mr. Mills was taken, Mrs. Drach came to the
and continued in close conversation with Matthias.
ine Galloway, whose husband was Mr. Mills's ser-
lso came in. She, too, offered Isabella an asylum;
s also she declined, and returned to Mr. Pierson’s,
she assisted in procuring Matthias’ release, by apph-
to Mr. Buckland, a lawyer, and then. to the brother
ithias, to take out an Aabeas corpus, by which he was
rged, as of sound mind.” He was then arrested on a
1 of blasphemy, but for this he gaye bail, and was
brought to trial, as he merely asserted no more than
lergymen, who say they are directed by God's spirit;
Béulty of course was to prove that he was not, as he
sffer the same proofs which others, who are not called
emous, could. ' ; i
Btone says that Matthias, while at Mr. Mills's, was
ted of gross licentiousness, becayse he had females
nes with him; and that being sometimes angry, he
»d one or some of them. Mr. Stone does not say by
e was at this time ‘suspected: we have made dili-"
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inquiry on this subject, and find no truth init Mre
m an elderly person, was his chief female comE.nion,'
and scarcely any others saw him. One indeed he whipped,
a young Methodist woman, who declared that she was sent -
by Jesus Christ. Matthias undertook to say that the Lord
never spoke to young girls, and that she had a devil; he
dixmtoﬂer to go to her father, and gave her a few stripes
‘with & rattan; she never came again. This may be the
<onduct of a tyrant or fanatic, but certainly not of a hicentious
n. We notice this the more as unfair and unjust in
ﬁ:?o&one, because the leading object of his book is to cover
-up the licentiousness of his friends, and that of Matthias,
when its exposure would involve them. It is this conduct
which provokes a reply, for we wish to deal out evenhanded
_justice. Mr. Stone, too, says, that he learned from papers
discovered after the arrest, that Matthias wished to unite his
daughterto Mr. Mills. We think this possible, from what
-afterwards took place. "Mr. Stone says, too, that Mr. Mills
was pleased with the asylum and his treatment. This he
anight be; but he adds, that in a short time he became con-
wvinced that Matthias was an impostor. We have some evi-
dence which contradicts this, which we shall offer in its
place, as our only object is the truth of the statements.
Isabella, ever active in what she believes right, visited the
asylum, where Mr. Mills was, two days after he was con--
fined. The keepers supposing she was sent by his brother,
was about to lead her to him; Isabella saw that they were
deceived, but not choosing to act under false colours, she
declared her name, and who she was, when she was réfused
. -admittance. She however went again in a few months’
time. Mr. Mills saw her coming up from his window, and
came down to meet her. At this meeting he expressed the
same faith as before, and gave her an order on his brother's
house for twenty dollars, which money was given to Mat-
thias. Mr. Mills exhorted her to continue in the faith ; this
exhortation, and the gift of twenty dollars, seems at variance
with Mr. Stone’s account. ' :
In the first visit, some gentlemen in the stage discovered
who she was. She s to them that Matthiaz lid not be-
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.

lieve in going to the skx. On this -they rallied her, when .
oct,

she thus defended the rine, after, we suppose, the style

" of Matthias: « Paradise,” she observed, *‘was formerly on,

'
r
»
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the earth, and it would be so now if the wicked were not .
here; the wicked then will be driven from the earth into,’
the sity, and the earth made a paradise again for the goodg™
This notion, it appears, occasioned some amusement, if not
-convittion. Matthias and his disciples at this time did not
believe in a resurrection of the body, but that the spirits of
the former saints would enter the bodies of the present ge-
neration, and thus begin heaven upon earth, of which he
and Mr. Pierson were the first fruits.

Mr. Pierson appears to have been timid, and was appre-
hensive of violence in his house, if Matthias remained tgere;
he therefore proposed a monthly allowance to him, recom-
mended him to take a house, and take Isabella to live with
him, This he did, and took- a house in Clarkson Street,
near 8t. John’s burying-ground. Onthis occasion Matthias
sent for his family, and gave money to his brother George,
a shoe maker, to go on to Albany and bring them down,
together with his own family, to whom also he offered the
use of his house. George did go to Albany, but gave Mrs.
Matthias no moncy, as she says, and she now complains that
he did not properly represent his situation, and consequently
that she refused to come or send the family, which she now
regrets, as it might have prevented unpleasant consequences
at an after period. George, however, brought kis family,*
and found comfortable quarters with Matthias. These cir-
cumstances are not mentioned by Mr. Stone, who merely
aays, that he took the noted Isabella for his housekeeper ;.
and conveys the idea, in another place, that at this time
Matthias was immoral. We have examined into this fact,
and see no reason for such a conclusion ; but believe this a
mean insinuation, and an attempt to fasten on Matthias im-

¢ Mrs. Matthias states in her book, since published, page 28, that
brother was commissioned to give her $100, atthias; but

this by :
that he.kept it for himself; and that he did not direct her to come - °
% New York and bring the family, but instead of which, he barely - :-*

©ld her, that %a..zmm had died in Philadelphia.

4
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my.‘ without affecting his friends, and with & perfect in:
ifference to the injury he did Isabella, a coloured woman,
who is neither very young or beautiful. Mr. Stone states,
too, that when Matthias was angry with Isabella, he would
stop at home and preach to her the whole day. This she
denies, noy'is it reisoumsble. ‘

Goorge; Malthint’ Yrothes, becaime or was fond of spirits,
and sometimes - ifitemperate. < Fot- this Matthias reproved
him, and after a time requifed hitti to leave the house, which
he did, taking two leads of furniture belonging to Matthias
and Isabella, in ‘Nistth¥x’"dbsonce, with him, and some ex-

ive articles. “The ¢hieffunds of course had previously
m furnished by Mr. Pierson, but Isabella had drawn her
money from the Saving Bank to help furnish the house. At
this time Isabella was alone in the house with Matthias;
her being so was evidently accidental, or she might have
been 50 before ; nor do we see any impropriety in his having
:such a housekeeper. Indeed, up to this time, and till after
he went to Sing Sing, his moral character was not affected,
against which Mr. Stone shows no facts; neither does he
make out that Isabella is the Most wicked of the wicked.

In May, 1833, Matthias left this house, and placed the
farniture, part of which was Isabella’s, in the store of Mr.
8outherling, in Greenwich Street. This furniture was af-
terwards removed to Mr. Whiting’s, Canal Street, where
Isabella lived as servant; and Matthias lodged at the hotel
<corner of Marketfield and West Streets. Mr. Stone says,
that while here his conduct was liable to no censure; he
continued to converse and dress as before, but if the landlord
thought him troublesome, a hint was sufficient to make him
cease. Mr. Stone adds, * Justice requires it to be said, that
so far as is known, his moral character was irreproachable
while residing at the Battery.”

‘We now return to Isabella, who still kept up a connexion
with Matthias by washing for him, even while in the service |
of Mrs, Whiting, by her permission.

Isabella afterwards En.isea visit to her former master, John
Dumont, by whom she has always been respected, near

.Poughkeepsie, and visited her children in that neighbour-
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»old.' On lier return she lived with Mr. Smith’s family, &
~ocer, in Hudson Street, and here also she washed for
[asthias; and while in this situation, Matthias called on
sr, paid her for washing, and told her he had seen Mr.
olger, and was going into the country for a short time.
Ve'believe Mr. Folger had not seen much of Matthias be-
're, for he had retired into the country about the time that
fAatthias introduced himself to Mr. Pierson, and Mr. Fol-.
1er’s business had led him much out of town, so that he had
neard but little about him. A short time after Matthias had
gone into.the country, Mrs, B, Folger and Mr. Pierson’s
youngest daughter, Elizabeth, called on Isabella, and asked
for Matthias’ clothes, and said that she was Mrs. B. Folger,
and that Matthias was at their house, and well pleased.. Mrs.
B. Folger was then introduced to Miss Smith, to whom she
Telaled the same. The clothes were given to her, and by
Ingtructions forwarded to the Union boat. We shall pre-
sently see how these facts comport with the account publish-
ed by Mr. Stone, which he says is furnished by Mr. and
Mrs. Folger conjointly.

In about a fortnight after Mrs. Folger had fetched Mat-
thiag’ clothes, Matthias called on Isabellg, told her that Mr.
Pierson had fits, and that Mrs. Folger wanted help at Sing
Sing, and would be glad to have her. Isabella went to see
Mr. Pierson, and saw him in fits. She afterwards went to
Sing Sing, and resided with Mrs. Folger; but as they had
all things common, she removed there her furniture, Mr.
B Folger superintending its transfer, which had been stored
2 Mr. Whiting’s.

We will now open Mr. Stone's book, and there show how
he manages this introduction to Sing Sing.

In' chapter 7, page 146, of Mr. Stone's book, we find the
account of Mr. and Mrs. Folger’s introduction to Matthias.
He there informs us, that Mr. Pierson had frequently sought
b mMr_. Folger to hear Matthias, but owing to business
he had' no opportunity; but that in the autumn of 1832,
finding he some time to spare, after a return from the
sountry, Mr. and Mrs. Folger sought out Mr. Pierson ex-
wessly to learn the particulars of Matthias, the accounts of
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which, and of Mr. Mills's arrest, they had seen in the pa- -
rs. M. Pierson of course gave a favourable report; and -
r. Stone then states, that the account he is about to give of ,”

the proceedings at Sing Sing, he has received from Mr. and
Mrs. Folger; he adds, that he has entire confidence in the

narration, and he again says, the occurrences at Sing Sing

except those concerning Mr. Pierson’s death, are only known
to Mrs. Folger and Matthias. Well, we have seen Matthias,
and obtained from him a direct or indirect assurance of sll
the important facts which we have to state; but Isabella,
who was evidéntly not calculated on by either Mr. Stone or
Mr. and Mrs. Folger, is perhaps equally knowing with those
before mentioned, and what is of great consequence, willing
to tell the whole truth, or all she knows. ' _
After this introduction their narrative begins, which
briefly states, that they received instruction from Mr. Pier-
son to close their Sunday Schools, which they had opened
in Sing Sing, and to discontinue communing with the church
at the same place, and urged them to search the Scriptures
in proof of these things. They did search, and Pierson ex-
lained difficulties. These instructions are understood to be
in accordance with Matthias’ principles. They then pub-
Lish the deposition of Folger, made at the time of Matthias'
arrest, which states Matthias frequently called on Mr. Fol-
ger, at his house of business, and assumed that the spirit of
Matthias animated Jesus, but that at the second coming, he,
Matthias, was animated by the Spirit of God, could forgive
sins, and communicate the Holy Ghost to suck as believed.
And taking advantage of a circumstance, he said, “ You see
but one end of this sheet of paper, which is outside this
draw, but I see the whole of it; I see the end—and thus I
soe the end of all things.” Folger then states, that he be-
came fully convinced of thetruth of Matthias, (and we be-
lieve invited him to his house at Sing Sing, and that, too,
much at the instigation of Mrs. B. Folger;) yet the next
sentence begins thus: ¢ About the 20th of August, 1833, on
our return (Mr. and Mrs. Folger’s) from a short visit to New
York, we found Matthias at our residence. He had been
there two days. He was an unexpected visiter, but we
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. heard from his lips an account of his sufferings for the
e of truth, and our minds being prepared by Mr. Pier-
to receive him in the character he announced himself,
i:dg as dangerous to reject truth as to receive error, we
o h'}m to stay over Sunday, expecting him to go on
:chyis the commencement of Mr. Stone’s publication of
and Mrs. Folger's narrative ; yet it will be remembered
Mrs. B. Folger fetched Matthias' clothes. .
1 Mr. Stone's book there is at this place a line of stars,

* » * * *

must endeavour to supply the place. The fact is, that
. #** the lady whom we shall soon introduce, and is
h abused by Mr. Stone, visited Sing Sing about this
, for the express purpose of denouncing Matthias, and
ioning Mrs. B. Folger against the delusion. This, it
ars probable to us, was inserted by the honesty of Mr.
Mrs. B. Folger, but erased by the fact of Mr. Stone,
saw that it was fatal to the previous part of the work,
hich he endeavours to show, that Mrs. B. Folger was
unfortunate dupe of Mrs. ***g enthusiasm, being in-
iced by her. We believe, then, that these stars refer to
omission, for this faet is excluded from his book. We
iot, then, compliment the honesty of Mr. Stone, nor even
wisdom, shining in * * * *,

ur quotations from Mr. Stone’s book must now be un-
tood to be from the narrative furnished him by Mr. and
. B. Folger. Inpage 153 they make the declaration,
That every thing they have done, notwithstanding the
1ome scandal heaped upon us by the unprincipled, has
| done under full conviction that we were doing right.”
his position we shall not dispute, at least for the pre-
: ‘Ee shall remove the scandal, and supply facts, and
. review the position; for several pages after this, we
s the epinions of Matthias, or his doctrines, founded how-
*on visions and fancies, and supported by texts from the
thecies and other scriptures. ese we shall pass for
present; every person can conceive of visions, and the
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effects of regarding them as realities or emanations from
God. Those, however, which bore upon conduct, we shail
notice, as illustrating the workings of the minds of the

ll?e taught that all diseases were devils, and should be
cast out as formerly by Jesus; that wives were decoyed by
false teachers to prayer meetings and church, and children.
to schools in the care of strangers, but that’God’s plan was
to Llace all in families. In page 164, the narrative states,

which is evidently principally written or .indited by Mrs.

olger,) that they were in good health generally, while

Matthias was there. This she ascribes to the previous ad--
vice of Dr. Paine, of New 'York, and plain fo It is how-

ever but justice to say, upon the authority of Isabella, Mat-

thias, and some of Mr. Pierson’s family, that improvements

were made by Matthias, who banished pies, and other super-

- fluities, but lsved well ; and that he banished pills and medi-

cines, which Mrs. B. Folger had constantly used, before hs

came.

In page 165, Mrs. B. Folger relates that in the winter of
1834 she was sick; but we shall copy the exact words in .
this case.

* On one occasion, in the absenice of Mr. Folger, in the
winter of 1834, Mrs. Folger was taken sick, but she was
required to attend to her household duties as though she
was well—she was not allowed to complain, but censured
with savage severity because she looked ill. Her fever
and distress, however, increased to such degree, that she
could no longer keep about—and then he indulged in
threats of torment, &c., but she was so ill as to be indifferent
to them—in the excess of her pain she gut a little quilt on’
the back of a high chair to lean her head against, but even
this'was seized by Matthias, as soon as observed, and taken
from her. 8he was ‘denied any food whatsoever, but not
cravinﬂg it, she ‘suﬁposes that abstinence from food, a supply
of cofiee, which he saw fit at last tp allow her, with the
bathing: of her foet in warm ‘water, produced the effect, with
the blessing of the true God, to break her fever. She often
looked to-Mr. Pierson, who saw her treatment, and he told'
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her to be strong—that 'there was no doubt that this was the
way—and would often ‘encourage her with assurances that
werehx;ishtandhadthetmth..- .
“We long been in the practice, by the advice of our
physician before named, of using warm and cold baths, and
we continued them after Matthias and his children, ‘and the
servants -introduced by him, came into the family. It no
doubt was beneficial to our health, and we believe that Mat-
thias was himself satisfied of the fact; for when our use of
the -bath became known to him, he enjoined the practice
upon all the family. It seemed to be something entirely
new to the strangers who had joined us, and they talked
much: about it—but there was no indecorous washing, as
hasbeen rumoured. Mzrs. Folger always had the assistance
of her mother, or of a nurse who had been with us several
years; and subsequently, after she left, of one or the other
of the servants introduced into the family by Matthias—one
of them was Mrs. Galloway, and the other the coloured
woman, for a long time previous; and still a follower of him.
»Mrs. Folger always readily assisted any of the females
inturn, when it was necessary. The bath-house was in the
north wing of the building, where the nurse and children—
and, when Mr. Folger was absent, Mrs. Folger—slept.
Matthias was quick to observe and improve upon little cir-
cumstances, Soon after his visit commenced with us, the
housekeeper; in replenishing the pitcher in his room, car-
ried up more water than the pitcher would hold, and poured
the surplus in the wash-bowl. He. observed it—said his
spirit' had directed it, which she had done well to obey;
and from that time he made it a law that all must wash his
or her hands the first thing in the morning. . Many instan-
ces of this kind, where he borrowed ideas and examples
from others, could be named, and we would sometimes tell
him so; but he would argue the subject quite ingeniously—
showing that the action was by his spirit, and that we were
ind to him for the loan of it. Indeed, whatever was
said or done in the community, that met his approval, was
by the influence of his spirit, sent forth by him.  He could,
as he said, call his spirit out of any individual to give an
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account to him, from any part of the world, in a moment
This he called his omnipresence.” : :

The reader will observe that this extract is dated.1834,
and consequently refers to a late period, although given m
the beginning of the narrative; and though perhaps not
meant to deceive, 18 certainly calculated to do so. 'The sick-
ness here mentioned was that which accompanies child
bearing, and the whole relation is admirably calculated to
obscure, not explain facts; but as it refers to a later period
in the history than that on which we now are, we merely
beg our readers to retain the sense of this extract, till we
have filled up the intermediate space in the narrative, from
the testimony of Isabella, which is very curious and inte-
restig, and absolutely necessary to a proper explanation of
this extract.

Isabella went to Sing Sing, as we have related, as one of
the party ; she had no wages, put in some goods, and had
all things in common; her regular employment was, how-
ever, in the kitchen; each member of the family had their
regular province. Matthias was called Father, and certainly
directed all, but did not interfere with the several de
ments, when the appointments were once made ; so that this
“a]l things in common,” amounted to very little except a
common table and greater familiarity. Isabella did the
common work, Mrs. Folger assjsted in the light work,
Matthias did what he liked, while the farm was worked by
ethers of the establishment. In fact, the family at this time
differed in appearance very little from other well conducted
families; and new comers, such as Mr. and Mrs. Thomp-
son, assisted according to their qualities; he in. farming, she
in needle work. Mr. Pierson, his daughter, and Catherine,
also came to Sing Sing, and filled up their places according
to their habits, he doing light work and amusing himself in
the garden, or on the farm; Catherine assisting Isabella in
the kitchen, and the daughter engaged in light employment,
and chamber work. When, too, Matthias’ family, that is,
his daughter and three sons, arrived, these also filled the
stations they were fit for, assisted on the farm and in the
family, and partook of the produce.

T e M M O . A TERR Y
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Mre. B. Folger, when Isabella first went to Sing Sing,
wras not called Mother; that title was reserved for a special
occasion. Isabella describes the appearance and manvers
of Mgs. B. Folger as mularly fascinating, and.from the
mih menthlx ta bea [ﬁ was e’xtrgme. Mrs. B.-Fol-

ir 8 got properly a beautiful woman, but extrernely plea-
;‘::s,her complexion. is light, features good, nm‘%
nent, south pret;y. amber eyes, of great power, and preity
chin;: the form of ber face is long in the upper part only,
and her figure tolerably good; her voice is extremely #of
and Jer tones insinuating; gentleness is her apparent cha-
racieristic, and innocence and harmlessness appears x
- We: can therefore more easily account for the atachment
which Matthias formed, which we are about to relate, and
on which he shipwrecked his prophetic character; than we
can for the nttachment which she formed to him, and the
sxtreme sacrifices which she made, and her perseverance in
obtaiping the object of her choice, when so many difficulties
preaenied themselves, except upon the principles, that the in-
terna} spirit contained principles more active than the exter~
nal ' .of Mrs. B. Folger warranted in supposing,
and. that these principles obtained strength by the powerful
aid of fapaticism, which were here thrown on the side of

passion.

.Mirs. Folger, from the first, appeared on each moming
dressed with much taste, highly scented, and her first busi- -
ness.was to prepare the seat for Matthias; his linen and
clothes were carefully aired, and when he appeared, in the
kindest accents she would ask his wishes, thus: « FatAer,
would you like this? Father, will you have that? Father,
shall we do this ?” and so.on; butby the account of Isabella,
# was like Corporal Trim’s eloquence, more in the manner
than sthe matter. We have been amused at Isabella’s at-
- tempt to, imitate the soft manner of Mrs. B. Folger, which
was. ¢ertainly clumsily done, and generally terminated in
the easion, « O, I can’t do it,” heartily expressed. In-
deed, Isabella’s manners are what we think the reverse of
Mrs. B. Folger's; she has shrewd, common sense, energetic
mmanners, and apparently despises artifice; and it is even

6
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Matthias’ agparem candour and openness, which handisti
ted her; she does not conceive of such o -wil
- base design. Of course we cannot write Mrs. B. Poly
tones, gentle inflections of the head, and bend of bogy;:
yet when refined education is more common, the asaoeil
of musical notes with written language, may even effectd
in thl;:a. present case, it ml:i; be coi:)cflel\;eda ofplu'
B. Folger appear rticularly desirous
Matthias, and ﬁwrmy usg:i1 an artiﬁ{e calculated to o
this object, by according with his feelings and opinioms
_ﬁn‘ he had expressed them to her; it was done thus J
ps, without improper design.  She would first lears
IsabeHa, who had longer known him, his feelinge -
opinions on particular subjects; these opinions and feeli
she would afterwards express as her own, in his preser
when of course he pronounced them very wise and 1
correct, felt highly gratified, and in his turn complime
her upon the possession of the truth, the very spirit w
he Rad. She too made the discovery, that they were
“tainly match spirits. We are obliged to mentioa
things, for they alone explain what follows. :

At this time Mrs. B. Folger began to make Matt
night caps; she gave him also a large golden ring. '
attentions at first paid to Matthias by Mrs. B. Folger, 1
these exceptions, were not more than other single and 1
ried females pay to handsome popular clerg'ymen, wl
they regard as possessing particular” gifts; for these
served with the first and best attentions, and they onlyal
their influence in some cases, such as that of Avery, an

~_gravated case. Within two months after Matthias wa
Folger's, Mrs. B. Folger stated to Isabella, that all the
perty (the house and farm) at Sing Sing belonged to Pat
iven at her request, as it afterwards appeared. Isab
owever, had some doubts as to what these things w:
lead; she had, as she expresses it, her own thoughts al
it. From our listening to this coloured female, questiot
her frequently, and often recurring to very curious
doubtful subjects, we have discovered that she too, like 1
B. Folger, is not exactly what she seems. Though 1
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in this state, she has African features, and no apparent mix-
ture of blood; she is not exactly bad looking, but there is
nothing prepossessing or very observant or intelligent in
her looks; yet throughout we find her reflecting, “she had
her own or private opinion on every thing;” and these
opinions of her own we have frequently found very correct ;.
yet she is not communicative, and if circumstances did not®
prompt her to tell all she knows, it would be difficult to get-
at it ‘

At first, Matthias appeared only the recipient of Mrs. B.
Folger's attentions, and he was unconsciously madeto flatter
her, when she presented to him his own opinions; in these

riments, if Mrs. B. Folger made a mistake, and advan-
::Ke an opinion or feeling contrary to his, with the authority
of the Father, he corrected it, when Isabella found that Mrs.
B. Folger possessed a wonderful tact in backing out, ex-
plaining away her meaning, and getting at last to mean just
what Matthias meant. She has given us, or rather we have

- extracted from her, a variety of amusing examples of this

sort, but the detail would be trifling in point. Isabella had
her own opinions of these things, and getting at her private
thoughts, she said it appeared to her, that the spirit which
had occupied Mrs. Bolton, being foiled in its attempt upon
Matthias in her person—-(lI;dntthias had rebuked the preten-
sions and conduct of Mrs. Bolton)—had left her person, and
got into the more delicate frame of Mrs. B. Folger, that -in
that shape she might tempt him. We asked how such an
influence over him could comport with his pretensions of
professing the spirit of the Father ? and she replied, like as
David was tempted, who was after God’s own heart; and
Matthias was not more than David. Here we stopped our
theological inquiry, to get at facts.

During the progress of these things, Matthias and Mrs.
B. Folger spent much of their time in conversation, a large
portion of which consisted in telling each other their expe-
rience, and it may be charitable to conceive that a great deal
of self-delusion followed. As the conversations, though noet
private, were téle-d-téte, we have no right to know any
thing about them directly; al that Isabella can speak to,
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inthe ity of eonversation, and the geheral subject, théir
i experience, after the manner of Methodists; but e
Rave been surprised at arriving at information of the fFities
importance in illustrating facts and character, that woddd it
first appear impossible to reach. Thus we get t this hiire
of these conversations, not from Isabella, but from other per-
sons in the establishment, onc of whom has known ME
- many years, to whom Matthias has related facts, and the m-
ture of some of these conversations, to explain and juséify is
intimacy with Mrs. B. Folger, while Mrs. B. Folger has
done the same to-other-persons, to justify her intimacy with
Matthias, and consequently explained much of the-conversi-
tion that passed between them. o
Matthias, who, as Mrs. B. Folger observes, is not Mow to
learn or to take a hint, must have observed the devotedness
of Mrs. B.-Folger to him, and the advantage it gave him
over her, if he chose to exert it. . The basis was already
.. Jaid on hoth their parts; he had openlx denied the common
marriages to be o?u God; and she had had apparently, two
Zeau before, a vision about her married cousin having a
oly child by Mr. Pierson, and being at ome in his house.
Here was the base work; the superstructure was commenced [
when he went to Sing Sing, first by her extraordinary at-
" tentions to the Father; he soon informed her that he had a
« xevelation before he came to Sing Sing, in which he had
seen ker as the Mother of the Institution he was about to
raise; so that when he did see her, he instantly recognised
her as the object of his vision. He, too, was the master
-builder, and the proper person to select the most'suitable
-materials to build up the temple of the Lord. He, too, re-
presented himself as Adam, the beginner of a new otder;
-and where God made Adam, there was somewhere an Eve
‘to be brought to light in the course of events. Thus these
. things were gradually opened to Mrs. B. Folger; his expe-
‘rience and revelations were re-revealed to her, and she re-
{lied with her experience. These were the conversitions
by day, and thegv were very naturally followed by dreams
and revelations by night; and then again, each went to the
Lord, with all humility, to seek the interpretation of these
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things, and afier the manner of Mr. Pierson, they received
various answers, which must have consisted in other dreams,

. feelings, or thoughts. Such is the explanation given by

_Magtthias himself to one of the inmates, of his whole course
of wooing, and this person has confidence in the sincerity of
Matthiag, and also. in Mrs. B. Folger, with which we =
present shall not interfere. 'We relate these things as facts:
‘we have compared this account with relations through M.

- Pierson, and other sources, for we have with a singular co-

_ncidence had access to nearly all the party, with the means

of extracting matter from each, separately, which, when the
account accords with accounts from others, and the whole
resolves difficultics, we conclude that we are correct.

Some time after Matthias had been at Sing Sing, in 1833,
Mr. Pierson getting something better of his fits, came to
Bing Bing, but retained his house in Third Street, in care of
a coloured woman named Julia, and still later in care of
Catherine Galloway, holding the creed of Matthias, the
young widow of Mills’s serving man. This house was
used by the party for their town house, but towards the last,
Catherine was much at 8ing Sing, and the whole party were
occasionally in Third Street.

It must not be supposed that this ultra religious party,
who had now veered off into followers of Matthias, spent
much of their time in long prayers, psalm singing, long
preaching, and religious exercises. They were chiefly en-

in the farm, garden, and household employment.

. Matthiag and Mr. Pierson were good and cheerful com-

panions, discoursing indeed much about Scripture. ~ Mrs.
B. Folger had in her room a piano forte, and she and Mat-
thias offen amused themsclves with it. They kept a hand-
some carriage, and Matthias was frequently kindly, and
even affectionately, invited to ride out b{ Mrs. B. Folger,
in their carriage; generally some of the children went with
them, but these, when boys, frequently rode on the outside ;
but on one occasion, Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger rode to
Tarrytown alone, bn the authority of Isabella, partially con-.
firmed by Maithias, who fhought he recollected once or
more riding alone with her. This we extracted from him,
]
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" for-he did not appesr very desirous’ {3"€omimunicdte’ dia the
j This fact is of no consequence, except’ that'it it

iplicitlyrdenied by Mrs. B. Folget, ‘in Mr. Stotie’s’
in these words: © In no instance did Mrs. Folger-ridé'wi
him :unaccompanied,” and positively avowed by Isabells;

it was of consequence for Mrs. B. Folger to deny it; for'she | ;

has suppressed other conflicting facts; it is of mo clnse
guence to us which is correct; we have the whole trith o
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tell, and that ‘single fact is not essential to the general truth
External religious worship was gradually givenup,'and
_ejaculatory prayer substituted, while Matthias lectured ir-
regularly at meal times. Matthias afterwards hsd a close
carriage, and a beautiful pair of gray horses, given him.
- The following is the representation of the ground fidor of
Mr. B. Folger's house, at Sing Sing: =~ -~ "
A—Front Parlour. ‘
B—Back Parlour. ’
.C—South wing, Mr. Pierson’s room.
D—North wing.
E—Hall ’
J—Doors. -
A—Window. :
* g—Kitchen ‘stairs. o {
' North River.
A : i
E
: c‘a' B J[ f D
— k
New York Rosd.
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Over the middle ‘and north wings were chambers, and
“ over'the centre were garrets. . Isabella: slept in the north
* "wing, with the children, and, when she first’ went: there,
Mrs. B. Folger sleptin the same room when Mz. B. Folger
was in New Yo -A reference will. be made to-these
rooms presently. e
The affoctionate attention of Mrs. Folger increased, as
she dailmiscovered that her spirit more and more asgimi-
lated to his spirit, while he was loud in her praise, for her
wisdom, gentleness, purity, and other spiritual qualities,
whiich did not excite any particular attention ; during which
time, large portions of the property, both of Mr. Pierson and
Mzr. B. Folger, were made over to Matthias, but it does not
appear that they were legally conveyed ; they went, how-
" ever, in his name ; ‘it was his house and -his coach, and he
was preparing a temple for the Lord. He too, at one time,
made mmost of the purchases for the house. -
The opinions of -Matthias an marriage we have already
noticed, and the previous opinions of Mr. Pierson and Mrs.
- B. Folger. These opinions seemed to have weakened the
marriage tie, for Mrs. B. Folger gives an account of her
being re-married by Mr. Pierson, in 1832, simKly by each
declaring that he -or she took the. other. for husband or
wife; and she admits that she was afterwards married by
Matthias. This Matthias denies, He says, rather, that he
admitted that they were man ‘and wife,. after Mr. Pierson
“ had uhited them. . We can scarcely credit this weakness;
et the fact is as we have stated it, and the effect must have
en to weaken the-tie-of matrimony, because it.assumes to
be based on & union of spirits:- but we have recently. been
tracing the gradual approximation of Mrs, B. Folger's spirit
* to that of Matthias’, and we are not surprised to. find thet at
length this lady discovered she was mistaken; but we must
give all the facts. S
Laté in the fall of 1833, scarcely three months after Mat-
- thias' grrival at Sing 8ing, on one evening, Matthias and
Mrs. B. Folger remained in the parlour longer than usual;
the family had retired, except Isabella, and she entered the
room to take coals for the morning, when she found them



68 NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA.

sitting near the fire place, intent in conversation, and s
felt by their appearance, that she had intruded. Isabells
however, went to bed, and Mrs. B. Folger followed in the
same room, in the north wing. On the next evening, Mat
thias and Mrs. B. Folger were again in intense converst
tion, and the appearance of Mrs. B. Folger foroibly struck
Isabella, as she entered the room; her eyes, as it wer,
flashed fire; she found again that her presence was oot
wanted, and after some careless remark from Matthias, she
in went to bed, and Mrs. B. Folger followed. The day
er the next, Mrs. Folger went to New York with Mr.
Pierson, and took this opportunity to make a singular di+
closure to him, which had occupied her mind some time, viz.
that she was instructed by the Spirit that she ought to hase
Matthias for a husband; that they were mazch spirits, (8
favourite expression amoniothc par?'.) This fact was st
ted to Isabella afterwards, both by Mr. Pierson and Mrs. B.
Folger. Mr. Pierson received the declaration without av
tonishment ; his mind was evidently prepared for any stran
revelations, and he was one who might be said to be greedy
of belief. The two notes, written two years before, uponsa
similar subject, and his own reflections on them, and his
confidence in the purity of Mrs. B. Folger, and in the belief
of the truths of visions and revelations, explain this subjec,
we do net say sufficiently; it is so strange that it may be
incredible to some, yet it is true, for subsequent events.
it to be the only possible case. ‘

It appeared that Mrs. B. Folger's mission, at that time.
was to visit her husband, then in New York, and induce
him to give her up to Matthias, and to induce Mr. Piersor
to second her monstrous proposition, and in this she suc
ceeded. We must beg our readers’ {mience; the subject i:
S0 strange, 50 monstrous, so out of all course, and contrary
to experience and history, so comet-like, that we can scarcely

to carry the credence of our readers with us. That:

wite should secretly betray her husband, is very possible
such things have always been; and that a clergyman,
E.etender to holiness and inspiration, should secretly abus
is influence, obtain the affections of married women, an



NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA. . ®
‘wiong them and their husbands, is not only within the
‘range of belief, but a matter of fact and record, which has
‘always followed the course ‘of a wealthy clergy, gradually
becoming corrupt; but that a virtuqus, res and azhig-
ble married female, should deliberately undertake to induce
. ber husband to give herup to an inmate claiming to be very
holy, and endowed with. the Spirit of God, never before hap-
pened, £ our knowledge, and stands unique 1n the history
of the world, and therefore we scarcely expect credence, €2
cially when that husband was of the same faith, was gen-
tlemanly, humane, fond of his wife, even to excess, in good
circumstances, had a family, and surrounded with domestic
comforts, with the power to enjoy them; but if such a fact
~ i8 s0 incredible, if it is a new case in human society, or
nearly 30, there is the greatest necessity for a faithful ac-
eoung a full, true, and particular account of such a phenome-
non; tracing as far as possible all the secret sources and
motives of the mind. We do not then ask your credence in
this monstrous fact; we only ask your patience till we
have laid before you all our propositions, and the evidence,
both in testimony and in consequenccs, for it will be found
that this belief is necessary to the explanation of facts indis-
putable, and quite as marvellous. ‘
Mr. Pierson and Mrs. B. Folger went to Mr. B. Folger,
and stcceeded in their strange and monstrous project,
not without a severe struggle, passion and distress of
mind, on the part of the affectionate husband, and, we ‘sus-
pect also, from subsequent events, that a positive: promise
was also given of a substitute, which, while it explains one
‘part of the subject, renders another more difficult. The re-
atation to him was, that it was the work of God ; that
mmgned it; that she and Matthias were match spirits ;
that the Lord had shown her that she should take Father to
be her husband ; and that she was to have a holy son. , To
" induce Mr. B. Folger to consent to this, we have reason to
believe, from facts afterwards to be established, that a beau-
tiful ' young daughter of Matthias, then sqii)osed to be a
maid, was promised to him, as a substitute ; but Mr. Folger
pretended no vision; he had no maicA spirit with a persom
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he hiad never seen; and though Matthias might have sug-
gested it, as a holy proceeding, Mrs. B. Folger must have
urged i, as gratifying to him, or not entirely from spiritual
motives; and this strange mixture of spiritual credence and
carnal impulses, are found mixed up through the whole pro-
ceedings, and could only be conceived and practised in con-
nexion with great fanaticism. It is this connexion of carnal
feeling with spiritual fanaticism, which can alone explain
the strange sugject we are now delineating.

. We do not know the particulars of the treaty, or what
took place at the interview between Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger
and. Mr. Pierson, from them, nor from Isabella, through
them, exeept the result and occasional expressions.and cor
versations of Mrs. B. Folger with Isabella, on the difficulty
of her task. This was not made generally a subject of cor
versation; but the facts often came out in disputes; but
Catherine Galloway, who then kept the house in Third
Btreet, where this scene took place, told all she knew on the
subject to Isabella, which was, that “there was a terrible
to-do nearly all night,” and that from the noise and tones,
she discovered that Mr. B. Folger was afflicted with both
grief and passion.

Isabella did not know the object of the journey, but in
about a week Mrs. B. Folger returned, and as the carriage
was seen coming, the family had assembled in the hall
receive her, and among the rest her children and Isabella {
On former occasions, she would caress her children, as the
. first objects of her affection; on this, she hurried across the
path, rushed up the steps, passed her children, Isabella, and
the rest, and, to the astonishment at least of Isabella, flew.
into the arms of Matthias, standing in the north wing door
way, and he and she hurried into the chamber, and shut the
door, where they remained at least half an hour alone
These facts render the occasional, or the single case of riding
in the carriage alone, previously, an object of no conse-
quence. Some time afierwards, on the Saturday, Mrs. B.
Folger went into the kitchen, appeared particularly happy,
gave directions to have the house set in order, and an espe-
cial direction to set the weat room (Mr. and Mre. Folgers
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bed room) in order, and stated that she would tell her (Isa-
bella) something that would make her (Isabella) very glad.
8She also had made up three new chemises, without name,.
and gave out a new shirt and night cap to wash, that had
been previously made with care, while the wristband of
the shirt was carefully set with edging. - This excited
some surprise in Isabella, as it was not the time for wash-
ing. The same day she set out for New York, promising
to return on Saturday. C :
. On Saturday, Matthias took the carriage and went to
‘Tarrylown to meet the boat, and brought up Mr.-and Mrs.
B. Folger,and Mr. Pierson, and on their arrival,.and inthe
presence of Mr. Pierson, Mr. B. Folger solemnly gave his
wife into the hands of Matthias, to be his, Matthias’, wife,
for the future, in the name of ANN DEesBrossk, and re-
nouncing her as his wife. On the same night Matthiasand
Mrs. B. Folger slept together in Mr. Folger’s former bed
room; and from that time forward Matthias and Mrs. B.
Folger lived within the house avowedly as man and wife,
while Mr. B. Folger slept in the room formerly occupied
by Matthias.

Previous, however, to the parties retiring to rest, the
uxorious fondness of Mr. B. Folger appeared to revive, and
he seemed to wish some token of kindness from her. In
the hall, and in the presence of Isabella, he followed his
wife about, who evidently avoided him, and in the most
plaintive tone, he exclaimed, “ Ann, Ann,” while she re-.
pulsed him at every point. He endeavoured to catch her
by the hand, but s{e withdrew it, and in stern accents ex-
c{;imed, « Benjamin, behave yourself” He attempted to
lay hold of her person, when she pushed him away with
force, and he sunk on a chair, while she escaped precipi-
tately to her room. 8o pitiable did Mr. B. Folger look on
this accasion, and so much did Mrs. B. Folger’s sternness
excite Isabella’s feelings, that she looked upon Mr. Folger
with the grentest pity, surprise, and sympathy, and in the
relation of these facts, used a most expressive, but coarse
comparison, for she is uneducated, and was brought up on
a farm: “ My God,” said she, “ when I saw the manner he
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was treated, my‘lni:r rose, and when I saw him laying o1
the chair, I thought he looked like a dog with his tai
singed, or one drawn through a gutter; and I could no
belp pitying him.” We must, however, remind ous
ders; | . B. Folger had formally given up his'y

Matthias, and this apparent sternness on her pant, might,
a painful exercise o})u hilosophy. To liave indulged
fondness of Mr. B. Fofger, would only Bave increased
proper desires in those circumstances, and have led @ fr
ther impertunities. - " »

- From that time Mrs. B. Folger was called MOTHER
How the parties slept, we have not the means of knowing
but they all appeared for inspection at the breakfast table
Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger in high spirits, and vex
loving ; while Mr. B. Folger, in the eyes of Isabelis, wa
treated with neglect by his late wife, and his spirits and ap
pearance were necessarily affected. ‘

Were we writing a tragedy, or a fiction founded on'facts
we should leave off here; but this would leave a wromg im
Ppression of character, for miserable as we may suppose_
B. Folger passed the night of his separation from his wift
and miserable as he appeared on that evening, following hi
wife and spurned from her, and in the morning at the table
he bad joys in _store, at least in anticipation, and perhapt
could we Kenr him tell the tale separate from fanatical feel
ings, he would, in his story, say that he had exchanged
wife for a maid, in prospect, young, plump, fresh coloure
and pretty, though certainly not possessed of those highl
feminine qualities which rendered Mrs. B. Folger 0 &
tractive. Weare aware that these remarks may remove, i
some measure, the sympathy which we might otherwise fee
for him, but they are correct. )

Isabella was not present at the ceremony of the transfe
of Mrs. B. Folger to Matthias, in the name of Ann Pe
brosse, nor was there scarcely any ceremony on the subjec!
the facts were related by Mr. Pierson to her, and also b
Mrs. B. Folger, or rather Mother, as she should hencefort
be called. This was the grand story which was to mak
Isabella pleased, but which Matthias observed would poss
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ke her-sorry; and when informed of what had taken
m the day of the union, and that she was now united
ghias, and should take her station, (Mother,) with
dmplicity, Isabella asked, “ butare you going to sleep
im 7" to which was replied, * yes, certainly.” These,
ser questions, led to explanations, and the subjeét was
irds one of frequent conversation between Isabella and
, the one asking questions, and the other replying;
[sabella « had her own thoughts about the matter,” as’
presses herself. ‘ :

n investigating this subject thoroughlly, we discover
[rs. B. Folger had long wished for this union, and
e ascribed the feelings of desire which she admitted
d strongly felt, to G‘ros.s Matthias, too, attributed simi-
lings to God, in an acknowledgment to a friend of
Mrs. B. Folger really supposed, or at least appeared
1 that Isabella should suppose, her something su
other women, just as she supposed Matthias superior
r men, not only in holiness, and as recipients of the
3host, and of the Spirit of God, but in bodily qualities
8he claimed to be a virgin, and considered herself
more than woman, or Mr. Folger less than man, and
ud that she received no satisfaction from the one, and
atisfaction from the other, and offered some h{sical
3 why she should be a virgin, and yet have cg\i dren,
she attributed to extraordinary circumstances on par-
‘occasions, and after fasting. We do not, however,
Ito understand the physical power claimed or derived,
we understand the mystical: we regard the whole is
nation, or the doctrine of visions or dreams, sug‘poaed
emanations from God. We believe Mrs. B. Folger
o more than woman, and Mr. B. Folger not less than
ad the whole a self-deception, or an attempt to deceive
and to offer excuses for what those not instructed by
irit, called errors, faults, or crimes. ‘

. B. Folger, too, admitted that she made the applica-
Matthias: thatin so doing she had taken up a eross;
od to him, in conclusion, precisely the words she had
by wseéd in the note to Mr. Pierson, “If I have dane

7
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wrong, please to forgive me.” Matthias said “he would
think of it,” and took the next day to consider it, an L thei
replied, * Follow the dictates of the Spirit”” We suppgee:
thistook place on the two nights of close conversation beliarp,
noticed, which preceded Mrs. B. Folger’s application ta her:
hisband for a disunion. -
Strange as this may appear, and strange it is, yet of the
explanations, this is the most reasonable, or rather, the least
unreasoneble. o
That Mrs. B. Folger should place her affections on Mat-
thias, is no more than thousands of women do on ministdrs,
who might abuse them. The previous notes of Mra B.
Folger to Mr. Pierson, shows a state of mind susceptible op
these subjects, und suggests the manner of doing it: revels-
tions were made to_Sarah und Abraham, and why not, she
would suppose, to herself? and if a revelation, then no
shame. is seems to be the position taken; and that may .
be done and said under the sanction of God's will reves
which could not be thought or spoken of, without sueh &
knowledge, or supposed knowledge. :
"Maithias, it appears, did not apply to Mr. Folger to give
ur his wife, uxd we can scarcely conceive that such an ap-
plication could be made without the conviction striking. the -
persen applied to, that the applicant was a knave and im»
stor.  Besides, in the after parts of this narrative, we shall
nd Matthias justifying himsclf, by saying to Mr. Folger,
# Did I ask for your wife? Did you not give her up tome
voluntarily ?”” and appealing to Mrs. B. Folger for the truth
«of his statenrent. We do think, then, distinct from.the evi-
dence we have received, that Mrs. B. Folger sought the .
nnion, and projected the means; or at least we do mat
the wkole blame on Matthias, unless it shall be shown, that-
be was all knave and carnally minded, while she was. .the |
victim of his winning ways; and that the sternnesp of . hiv -
eharacter forbids. S
When Matthias was in town for a single day, be had
heard' of %\‘ ,imq]e:n{;:t work, and called to mal;: some h'jm,
quiries. . We took ortunity to obtain from hig b-.
wonfirmation of the mw;’r points, which he. gave wachh -
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-'ipeiiglinnot say very readily ; he however only hesitatdd «
~4ltfls, and did not deny any fact we put to him. &
" T fow days, the party returned to New York, leaving
¥, Plerson with Isabella, on which occasion, he gave his
- “ersion of Mrs. B. Folger's previous journey. ‘To him' it
was chiefly a spiritual affair; he regarded the whole ig a
" séfides light, and considered it the work of God. Yet Mr.
Piereon, too, it appears, had a partiality for Mrs. B. Folger,
and sometimes expressed an vpmuon, that he ought hus
-spirit-would have matched her's very well; but this we be-
lieve was after his disappointment with the lady before wre-
ferred to, who gave him a prompt and positive denial, at the
same time telling her husband, and treating the subject as
the vaguries of a mad man. )
" In a few weeks after the union of Matthias and Mrs. B.
Folger, Mr. Folger set off in search of his promised spoube.
<(He had indeed a substitute in the interim, of whom we
shall speak’ afterwards) We find in our notes, that Mrs.
B. Folger had informed Isabella, that Matthias’ daughter
- had been promised to Mr. B. Folger. The account given
in Mr. Stone’s book runs thus:
© «Matthias was anxious to have his family with us for
somie time before they tinally came. Mr. Folger was un-
* willing' to go for them, and suggested that Mr. Matthias
should go, with the carriage and horses, but he declined for
veasons known only to himself. At length Mr. Matthias'
and "Mr. Pierson’s continued urgency prevailed, and Mr.
Folger took his son with him and went to Albany, with the
carriage, for his wife and children. He found them in re-
duced ‘circumsiances, and harely able to obtain a support.
"He gave Mrs. Matthews whatever means she asked for, to
" clothe the children with warm clothing entirely—bought
-several articles and presented them, and gave her money for
“her own purposes. Mr. Folger was instructed by Matthius
-before he left home, as he understood him, in case any thing
-should prevent any of the family'from coming before the
e ﬁng. to have them comfortably provided for there until
:I?uum, and in conformity with this direction, Mr. Folger
‘$wétilised to remit to Mrs. Matthews thirty dollars on the
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first of each month, for the support of herself and
ehild, about five years old—;slds e dlletermm' ed Ix:t)t to go her:
self, or send the youngest child, until spring; but on repor-
ing the promise 1o Matthias, he said he had boen misander
stood, and totally forbade any money being sent her—that
she was a wicked, lying devil, unworth{ of any favour.
Mrs. Matthews gave into Mr. F.’s charge four of the child-
ren—a daughter and three sons. The daughter had been
married about a month previous, to a young man by the
name of Laisdell; but for some reason, never explained, thi
was concealed from Mr. Folger by the mother and the hus-
band, or he would have feltit his duty to have had the hus-
band accompanied the children, or to decline taking the
daughter. Mrs. Laisdell mentioned her marriage mn the
course of conversation on the journey. The boys were
somewhat ungovernable, and having been rather exposed at
Albany, their manners were not as good as could have been
desired, so that with four boys (including his own son,) and
* "Mrs. Laisdell, he found it quite a' burdensorie éxpedition,
and excifed much remark on the road, which was truly un-
pleasant.” :
Mrs. Matthiag, in her book of “ Matthias, by his wife,”
gives an account of Mr. B. Folger's arrival at Albany, and
her surprise, for she had heard that Matthias was dead, as
before stated. Mrs. Matthias was pleased both with the ap-
pearance and liberality of Mr. B. Folger, and finding he
was known to some persons in Albany, and considered re-
spectable, she consented to send her family, by the advice of
some of her friends, as she says, to see Kow matters were,
but declined going herself, not liking his doctrines. Mrs.
Matthias, however, suppresses some curious facts, which
occur at this time, and which illustrates character, and among
the rest some kissing. Mr. B. Folger had presented Mat-
thiag’ daughter, who was named Isabella, with a riding
habit of Mrs. B. Folger's, and to this he added a gold watch,
and when adorned with these articles, Mr. B. Fo?;er kissed
her, observing, that she looked much like his wife. ‘This
kiss Mrs. Matthias turned into a joke, perhapa to satiefy the
young woman's husband, who we believe .was prosemt..
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Morn. Matthias, indeed, though she omits the kissing, ac-
knowledges she observed Mr. B. Folger eye- her daughter,
and therefore asked him if he was a married man, and on
the assurance that he was, imputed his attentions to honour-
ble motives; she says, 100, that she told him that her daugh-
ter was married; but the reverse dppears to be the case.
Mr. Laisdell, the hasband of Matthias’ daughter, assisted in
getting the party ready, tied up their boxes, &c, and, in
conclusion, kissed his wife at parting, which we are assured
by a Mr. Thompson, known to the party, that Mrs. Matthias
again excused as a joke, and cven stated to Mr. B. Folger,
that he might think it strange that the young man should
kiss her daughter, but he was her lover. Thus for a very
shallow motive, she assisted in the delusion. We believe
this correct, because it accords with another fact, of which
we have abundant proof, and with the silly cunning of the
mother, of which we have since had abundant proof alse.
The daughter has declared to scveral persons whom we
have seen, that soon after the journey hné)(;:ommer;ced, Mr.
B. Folger inquired who that young man was who had
kissed her, when, for the first time, she informed him that
he was her husband. The fact is, the mother evidently
concealed the marriage of the daughter, either because she
was ashamed of the connexion, and had some vague ideas
about the wealth and respectability of the Folgers, from
‘which she hoped some advaniage; while the husband shared
in the bounty of Mr. B. Folger, and evidently winked at the
delusion.

The account of the journey, as given by Mr. Bione, ix
pernaps true, as far as it goes, {)ut there are some important
omissions. Mr. BB. Folger's son and Matthias’ boys were
sent in the stage, except the younger, John, about eleven

re old ; he travelled with Mr. B. Folger and Mrs. Lais-
1}, the daughter of Matthias, who, it appears, without the
father's knowledge, had been married This little boy, too,
slept on the road, in the same room with Mrs. Laisdell, or
in the same bed. On this occasion, Mr. B. Folger, durin
the night, came into Mrs. Laisdell's room, a ined .
there; ia fact, committed adultery with her, in the common
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‘acceptation of the word; nor do we believe that Mr. B. Fol-
ger, on this occasion, believed he was ‘prompted to this'
any vision or good spirit, for he acknowledged it ds & f
to Matthias, after his arrival, which sort of ‘acktiow]
ments, it appears, he was in the habit of making to the
"ther as a part of the system. We extracted this confession
from Matthias himself, when excusing himself ' for' séme
part of the transaction, and whipping his daughter. * He
said to us, “that before he knew she was married, that ‘inar-
riage was virtually annulled by the act of her'sand F s
on the road,” which we have just explained. Mr. B. Fol-
ger 'had also named it to Catherine Galloway, arid ‘she of
course to Isabella. Mr. B. Folger said to Catherine, that
he liked Johnny, because he had never mentioned the fact
of his having gone into his sister’s room ; but the child has
" since mentioned it to his mother, and his mother to us di-
.xectly. We know that Mr. Folger knew she was martied
“then, but we do not know if the child slept in the same bed
with them, which, if he did, it supposes a grossness imexpli
. cable by any visions, dreams, or spiritual influences. (]
do, however, suppose that he had explained previcusly the
“object of his mission ; and he might plead the sacrifice he
had made for her, and he was no doubt goaded by passion,
independent of the spirit. From this fact, an various
others, Mr. Folger appears to us decidedly amorous, and
therefore 'we are more surprised at Mrs. Folger’s prefarénce
for Matthias, and neglect of him. The sequel im too,
that Mrs. Laisdell was fond of him, and that he was &
‘ral favourite among females who knew him, and ¥
. even his wife explained away objections. L
On the return of the party to Sing Sing, Mrs. Laisdell
lived with Mr. B. Folger as his wife, with the know]e«
of her father, (Matthias,) Mother, or Mrs. B. Folger, Mr.
Pierson, Catherine Galloway, and Isabella. It muet also
have been known indirectly to many others. N
On this return of Mr. B. Folger with the family of Mat-
thias to Sing Sing, the beating of the daughter folfowéd, for
_which he was afterwards convicted of an assault. “T§eith
Mr. Bione nor Mrs. Matthias gives a ‘correct account of e
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: . Mrs. Matthias, in her book, page 34, intimates that
het daughter was beaten to compel her to take Mr. B. Fol-
' ger, ér rather compounds this reason with another, her im-
peftinénce to Matthias, and es iall%dt: Mrs. B. Folger,
“whom she refused to call Mother. s. Matthias knows
that this is incorrect ; she knows that she indeed urged her
daughter, when at White Plains, to make this charge, but
that she refused, alleging that she was beaten for imperti-
nenee only, and for not calling Mrs. B. Folger Mother. We
have seen several persons to whom the daughter has thus sta-
ted the fact. This was her evidence on the trial, and this the
statement she gave to Mr. Western, the counsel for Matthias.
The daughter of Matthias wanted no beating to go to -Mr.
B. PFolger; she was decidedly fond of him. On the very
" day she was beaten, Mr. B. Folger had made his confes-
sions to Matthias of having slept with his daughter on_the
‘yoad. Matthias in the afternoon assembled the children of
the kingdom (the family) in the front parlour, and made a
proper representation to them, stated that this act of Mr, B.
F‘:&; and his daughter on the road, had virtually annulled
her marriage with Laisdell, and that as they were fond of
each vther, and in fact could not be kept apart, and submijted
it whether it would not bc better to sanction their union.
" Mrs. B. Folger was asked first, then Mr. Pierson, then Isabel-
14, then Catherine Galloway; all asscnted, or answered in the
affirmative. Catherine Galloway, however, answered very
fiimty; she had indeed some reason to be dissatisfied. Mr.
B oiger and Matthins' daughter needed no driving to-

her; she having passed the first step, cvidently preferred

e ‘¢hange. The polished manners, kind treatment, and
rich dress furnished by Mr. B. Folger, were more agreea-
e to her than the comparatively rude manaers of her hus-
“bainid; whose claims to her fidelity were certainly not of the
Tist brder. ~ Matthias confirmed some of these facts to me,
. without knowing what other evidence we had. . = .
'If # be 'ukes why Laisdell has not prosecuted Mr. B.
Polger, ‘we ‘only know, that the mother of Mrs. Laisdell,
Matthia®’ wife, informed us, that Laisdell has received gifts,
afler knewing the fact, and consequently deprived himself
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_of legal redress, besides other positive disqualifying ¢

Now let us tak rospect of th bef

ow let us take a ret t of the part ore \
eeed. Our great object in communicating glese fact
public, was to show the extent of credulity, and to a
what proportions animal feelings could mix with sp.
and in fact, what deeds might be done in the name
Lord; and, at the same time, to apportion to €acl
share of the blame, according to their deserts, and to
those who were unjustly blamed, or blamed to an im
extent. The latter object must be yet deferred, becat
Taferences can not be drawn till the whole facts are ]
fore the public. On the first object we can now dray
eonclusion. In the name of God, and under the as
idance of his Spirit, Matthias procured the posses
ge property, both of Mr. Pierson and Mr. Folger,
eeived the wife of the latter into his bosom, and she a 1
of a gentle spirit, with a family, living in the affecti
ber husband, and respected by her friends. But M
18 already reputed an impostor by some, and inse
others, and that may be considered an answer, as fa
s concemed. We will therefore let him pass, till we
kis portrait.

Mr. Pierson has been kindly admitted to be partly i
and he too may go, together with Mr.Mills. Thenw
Mr. and Mrs. Folger, both regularly converted, the (
least religiously brought up, both moral, benevoler
apparently sincere, pious, and extremely zealous, we:
heaven with prayers and singing loud hallelujahs, 1
tive members of various religious and charitable instit
and unspotted in the world; yet the one, the fair f
seeks to detach a pious, childfess friend, from her hu
and, in the name of religion, to cause her to have a 8
her friend, Mr. Pierson, a holy son it is true. She
wards allows her affections to centre on another ma
Ber husband, and carefully nourishes the passion -
another woman would supprees, and seeks to have a ¢
him, also a holy son, and the desire itself, or the lust -
flesh, is ascribed to be God. 8he concocts the mer
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f from her husband, and yet living with him in the
“imime bouse, and in the interchange of civilities, and indeed
‘acts of kindness, as will afterwards appear, and in the name
of Godsucceeds in getting her husband to give her up, in’
ber maiden name, to his guest, a spiritual instructor, as-
euming superior holiness and power; and this is deliberately
done, 1 the presence of witnesses; effecting this, however,
by avowals that she would not live with her legal husband
any longer, and yet making no charge of conjugz! neglect
against him; declaring afterwards that she was not his
wife, and this, too, in the face of his children, one of whom
must be ten years of age, or more. Her new husband is
then taken to her old bed, while her former husband is stilk

- living in the house, and soliciting acts of kindness like a
dver, which, as it will appear, are partly granted and partly
refosed. And all this is done in connexion with rehgion.
‘While her legal husband’s property, too, by her previous
advice, is put into the hands of her lover, or new Euzhnnd.

. for the glory of God, and, as Mrs. B. Folger. declares, with
the consciousness of doing right. Now, separate these acts
from this consciousness, and they must be regarded as im-
moval and destructive to the happiness of society.

-In Mr. Folger we have a moral and a- respected man, a.
man of business and virtue, whose virtue is strengthened by
religion, and conversion under a regular minister ; who joins
a church, of which he becomes a consistent and zealous
member, and one who serves God by constant attendance at
his house, or the church, and in acts of charity, and espe-
cially those connected with the soul; nay, up to a late
riod, he becomes the patron and chief support of a Sumﬂ;
8choel in his vicinity; yet this man, consistent with hie
conversion, in perfect sincerity, which we do not doubt, gives
up bis wife, the mother of his children, some of whom are
large, into the arms of another, and in the name of God en-
gages to take the virgin daughter of the man to whom he
gives his wife; but in the intermediate time commits forni-
eation with another, as will be shown. He then to
Aldany to bring a family to his establishment, including hie

- imtended new wife; her, he finds a married woman, soon
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sfter they commenced their journey; yet in. spites
hnowledge, he proceeds on his course, the fani
warded by the stage, except his intended and her:’
brother, a lad about ten years of age; and in the nag
Folger commits adultery with Mrs. Laisdell, with
cither 1n the same bed, or in the room; but it is dows
name of God, for he joins Mrs. B. Folger in the decla
that they have done only what they considered righi
afterwar. deliberately nves with this female, maee
mally takes her for his wife before witnesses, who b
ﬂuc{ed to him, and he resists her return to her legn
_ band, till compelled by power to give her up. We
deny the sincerity of Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger, but ti
must come to the conclusion, that conversion is no pro
against crimes, and that any degree of grossnessis e«
ble with sincere religious profession, and the moet
practices and appearances; or that fanaticism is com
with any degree of laxity of established morals.- .O
guage is perhaps strong, but not stronger than facts s
published, and yet to be published, will justify. -
Of Mrs. Laisdell, we shall say nothing. She is; wre
inexcusable; but we do not know that what she d
. did in the name of Giod ; and therefore her's is an o1
case, CoE
Of Isabella, we have as yet nothing to say; she b
her own story, and has not accused herself. Mr. 8t
.proved nothing against her, and ygt he must have s
he could, as he wished to prove her the most wicked
wicked ; and the assertions of an anonymous pt
false, and do not deserve even to be referred to,mw
are anonymous. Isabella, however, is candid eno
say, that if she has escaped the peculiar pollution
threatened to affect the whole community at Sing Biz
she believes she owes it to circumstances, as much
thing—(she is near forty, not handsome, and coloure:
-at one time the spirit which affected the head, was inf
and threatened the whole body. She says it pleased
Ppreserve her, as no match spirit wes found in the'ent
ment for her.
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Other members have scarcely yet been introdueed, sad
lnt relniains to be told is about as curious as what we haye"'
'W hye now to show the proceedings from the union.of
writh Mrs. B. Folger, which ha; pened early in'the

winter of 1833, to the present time, mclu(flng the particulers
of : M. Pierson’s d Mrs. Folger's sickness, child bese-
ing, smd child birth. To this we expect to add a series of
portraits, or description of characters forming this singular

group.
“‘ . G. VALE,
Roosevelt Stireet, Teacher of the Arts di Mathematios,
:r:d Edi:or ofthe 0l m‘oflho"u&

.

m—-‘l'hn are lwo subje we have omitted in the prec
nnuod. Jﬂu rn}'le.rfm e;z one pgnod of nlf
rdnemcnl Mrs. n2 e mducm‘ cause of NI

u—: and crime ulnady menuonnd, nnd.i% be mentioned.
ﬂ-rrel between Matthias and Plerwn,uwhlle Matthias resided i
based u the following entry in Mr. Pieraon’s jowrnal, am

en
‘" l@,ﬁr Maithias shall go from you, and you shall go on M
- u‘lld be pro-perc(& and hl“e every needful gﬁ a w!n%omm
we find another en pp m 1
"Glnh {(Matthiss) no more money. rz’ 7

‘We omiled this lub]ec? becwne ‘there appeared a mystery in H, which ‘we .
could not fathar, and we feared the mentlon of a subject of which we were not
. Jmbells merely admitted the fact of the suppliexbeing at first
stopped; but would or could say no more. The fact ia ke lrn-
m-ret or mystery in it ; all was expressed on the
uarrel, but he was fond o gﬁre-chlnr aswe mm
ew him well, and therefore easily imaginod that
wumc his duty ; and when agposed by Matthias, and .
n. who resumed her task of looking up hearers, mﬂg '
truction of the Spirit to curtail at first, and then
ce seen Mr. Hunt, who furnished these dimini np-
scount, and relieved Matthias when distressed.  We have
on the subject, who merely remu'led, that “ Pierson for
1d became the Father ; he was mistaken, but he had the
/e had no el, but I had to submit for & time.”” Mas-
e Mr. B. Fol ger mmaged the h'?c money transactions of
fter that had vothing ta do with euch accounts.
This of Iumlle- bmke ugothe hounkeeﬂ? at Clarkson Street.
thiagwent r ya to & Mr. Boutherland’ reenwich Street, and-
wards at & hotel near the Battery, while Isabella vnm to Mr. Whiting's,
.d-nde.hcnmllmet,-ndumndmaumd rronher
Wmu manifested all the a] eeofdu
shat was the Lord’s will, nnhnhewo
b to repentance, Mr. Hnnnnthuunwumm
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by want, but full of faith, alleging his strength and patience, onder s snfer-

aaamiracle.

Mrs. *** is & lady now at Oyster Bay, to which her hushend sad

red, in the time of the cholera, where they have remained ever mince,

coltage, surrounded by beautiful scenery.

every fort, and the husband, a r:

bearing the same name, is evidently hospitable

Mur&nu’ for exercise and amusement ; the lady

manners, an rlenlu appearance, literary, and pious

fanaticien, at least in her a e and conversati

exprosses himself, i mir chickens, and lookin

try,” and, in fact, retired from the world, during the

has figured befo. 5"1«
ly ¢

ijf, 3

i

I

i
!

re the glbﬂe; and yet are the:
hcomedc:_nuwl “um au’bjecl& nﬁd thcd Mo B, Folger o
cauwe of Mr. Pierson’s and Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger’s extravagant
and more extravagant conduct. Finding discre cs in Mr. Blone’s
on this nbncl, and a decidedly bad feeling towards L o0
was not 5

g

, we Nmued

and sought an interview with this lady, and find that alterly
denles ing any of the peculiar sentiments of Mr. l’lem»::1 and every act
~xtra -¢ imputed to her. That she was placed at the of societien,
'Ndnc was connected, we can easily conceive, framn her good somse and
rior attainments. Instead, however, of premoting the delusion which Mr.
and Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger fell into, she would have restrained them,
taally visited &n% for that purpose. She was never a member of
than a regular church, and is now a member of the Baptist chureh at
Bay. She never did beliove in the direct teaching of the Spirit, and she
@e common opinion of the sanctity of the Sabbath, and the sacrednese of
riage. The items in which Mr. Stone has falsified her we shall out in
Beocond Part; in the mean time, we can assure Mr. Stone, without
the subjeet, that Mrs. Frances Folger is a very different person

Bx

i

i
L

?.E

Folger, and that she has most certainly reason to repent ever ha = kindnoss,
anemp'ud to save from errors, both K Jjudgment u:ed practice, .:‘—ln. R
very gay

1 and clally ever ha ested that the lofty plumes
«mm’ attire of Me. Col. mmf, didhor strictly aceord with her re
fossions, the services of the church, or the rimplicity of the Christian
in church. If she errcd in taking this liberty with her earlest
band, the cditor of the Ebmnmhl has amply and

It ; and the nameless lady, with the plumes, referred
a complete triumph over the devoted victim,
ascape goat, to bear, by impatation, the sins and fanatie|

lnﬂm. and ﬁmuu.i femalex, who may have

ted with religion. Yet Mr. Stone says, page “R
sole design of the prescent work, to inake it s stmple

r. B. Folger, in his adJreu to the public, page M1, ”l:’. ]
th or one else, should state the whole rofer.
mine. We have endeavoured, and shall endeevoug,

1
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PREFACE TO PART SECOND.

SiNce publishing the first part of this narrative, Isabel-
la, from whom we originally obtained the leading facts, has
recovered $125 in a slander suit against Mr. B. Folger,
one of the principal subjects of this narrative; and in this:
case this gentleman offered No defence; thusleaving us to
draw the inference that his statement was a groundless false-
hood, and as it appeared on the trial, for a sinister parpose;
and one too, of the most atrocious nature. The slander con-
sisted in having stated that this coloured woman had dtempt-
ed to poison his family; made, apparently, to destroy her
credibility, as she was expected to give evidence-unfavoura-
ble to him, in the case of Matthias. The first part-ef this
book was published before this slander suit came on, al-
though thatsuit was begun a long while before. Now this -
- suit offered a fine opportunity, to throw discredit upon her.
testimony, could it have been done, which would have at
once reduced the damages to that which was merely nom-
inal, and have put the extinguisher on this publication, as
far as her evidence went: now no such advantage was-
taken, from which we draw two conclusions; that her cha-
racter for truth is at least established, and that he, Mr. B.
Folger, is capable of falsehood of a most atrocious nature.

On publishing the first part, we forwarded a copy to alF
the New York papers that we could think of: several of -
these have reviewed the work, and no one has shown a
single error in one of our statements. We have reason to
believe that all the parties named in the work, or referred
to, and those interested in it, aud know some of the facta'.
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have seen the first part; they have been publiely invited
to point out any errors in it, with an assurance that we
would correct them in this part, but no complaint has
been made. We have seen some relations of Mr. and Mrs.
Folger, and Mr. Pierson, and we have seen several inmates
of the house at Sing-Sing; and these, ag far as each one
knows, confirm the truth of our statements: we have also
seen a number of persons in New York, and Sing-Sing,
connected with some of the transactions, and each of these
confirms the accuracy of our facts, as far as each is ac-
quainted. Besides, we have made ourselves legally respon-
sible : we could have no right to publish these statements
if they were not correct; and if this coloured woman has
given to us false statements, she would deserve a criminal
prosecution for such conduct, but we have had now abua-
dant opportunity to test her evidence: we have perhaps seen
fifty different people, some who'knew some small parts of
the transactions which she has related, and not one out of
the whole, gives a statement different from hers; while
most df them, in speaking of the same subjects, which she
has mentioned, give some additional facts, which she either
did not know, or had forgotten at the time; but which ad-
ditional facts, invariably harmonize with and corroborate her
testimony ; while some facts, apparently incredible, have re-
ceived confirmation, from sources which she did not know to
exist. While therefore in this second part, asin the first, we
have sought out other evidencethan hers, yet weare restrain-
ed tosay, that we might place a perfect reliance on her narra-
tive. A large portion of our white evidence, are desirous not
to have their names introduced: this we have complied with
as far as the necessity of the case would admit; without,
however, binding ourselves, which we have avoided. In
the case of Mr. Burnham, a respectable merchant and agent
to Mr. Pierson’s brother, who administered, he was partic-
ularly anxious that his name should not be connected with
so dirty a subject, as he expressed himself, and he very in-
solently told us we must not bring his name in; while at the
same time he refused us information, which wounld have

prscluded the agcensity for such mention of his name.. Ang
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as to his must, we know of no obligation where trath re-
| quires it; and where it does, our only answer to his must
not, is, that we will. That gentleman is or was in possession
of Mr. Pierson’s Diary, a fact we ought to mention as the
means of confirming many of our statements. He has made
this diary a subject of conversation, for his friends have men-
tioned it to us; and he let Mr. Btone extract from it, but -
he has denied it to us, with a plausible reason; but
neither will he give us any information from it, when a
reference to that Diary would be better evidence for man
things, than to him, or to others; because Mr. Pierson had
" putto paper, facts asthey occurred. This gentleman did in-
Seed tell us, that he would, condescendingly, say whether
any fact in the Diary was correct or not, if we would sub-
mit any known fact mentioned in the Diary to him: but jm
the same conversation he said we had published an error, .
or repeated one of Mr. Stone’s, but declined pointing out
what or where; the consequence is, that we have no conff- -
dence in his simple yea or nay: nor are we under any-- -
obligation to him tgr his endeavours to suppress the truth, .
‘We believe we are in possession of every important fact: -
but.the public would have been glad to have Mr. Piersep’s -
testimony to its truth, in addition to the evidence we offér.
‘We have seen also Mr. Pierson’s brother, the administrator, _
and his sisters; but they, while they display a great and
feverish anxiety about the property of their late brother,
know very little about the kingdom, and affect to believe
that Mr. B. Folger hasthe Diary, and that Mr. Burnham
has only a fei:rpnpers: we have obtained from this source -
o

no valuable information; but at the same time we are un~
trammelled by any partial.obligations.
l.
» .~ . _:-"9
oy _.-. .
‘ "- ' '_:. .~ '
ORI A o

waaaddiitag: .
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FANATICISM;
ITS SOURCE AND INFLUENCE,

ILLUSTRATED BY THE SIMPLE NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA
IN THE CASES OF MATTHIAS, MR. AND MRS. FOLGER,
MR, PIERSON, MR. MILLS, CATHERINE, ISABELLA, &ec.

PART IL

CHAPTER L

Object of the mrle—-.}’.iety, no ection against error or crime:—Im-
%ﬁ%&r ger mmnba;afm#a“:‘gg:.mbm
thias on Washing, and practice of his disciples— White evidence ad-
o Cathortas Guttomen on eriar et to Nt B Polper St
descriptive portraits of the leaders in the Kingdom.

Tre object of this work is usually mistaken by those
who look only at the titlepage: it is commonly supposed.
to be a detailed account of monstrous opinions, and acts of
deception, and gross immoralities of a man, already re-
garded as mad, or as a vile, unprincipled impostor; and as
the Eeople are necessarily prepared to beliove any thing of -
such a man, there is little curiosity on the subject, because
results ever so monstrous would prove nothing, as the feats
of madmen, and the villany of knaves, have no limits, and
however strange their conduct, that strangeness is in perfect
accordance with their supposed characters and principles.
Without determining the precise character of hias fo¥
the present, we declare this not to be the object of the work;
and only introduced as subservient to another important
public object : viz. the clear manifestation that sincere piety-
is not a protection aguinst the grossest errors in principles,
and the grossest abuse of mlﬁished morals, when such in-
dividuals ascribe their feelings to divine influence. Nown
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there are thousands of persons in this city, and tens of thou-
sands without it,in the wide world, who do this, and who
never dream that these feelings may obscure their judg-
ments even when they are in close communion with deity,
as they suppose, and supplicating him daily for direction;
there are thousands we say, who never dream that these
feelings may render them dupes or fools ; .and that their feel-
ings are excited by circumstances, and are nafural, but mis-
taken for Divine; and thus they render them the dupes of
fervent fools or designing knaves: and yet this is the fact,
and it is this fact which this narrative is intended to illus-
trate. And therefore the subject is of importance to thou-
sands, and especially to the religious public: but alsoto the
people at large as a matter of curiosity, and for philosophic-
al investigation. The work, then, has more to do with the dis-
ciples of Matthias than with Matthias himself; and for the
illustration, it matters not what is the charaeter of this man :
but in our relation of facts, we have been, and shall be'strictl:
impartial, and draw ouly such conclusions, as the facts shall
fairly warrant, whether such facts arein favour, or against
Matthias, or the most humblo or most elevated of his followers.
The first part has now been before the public several
weeks. It details facts never before published, nor ever
supposed, and it gives names without reserve, where any
responsibility is-impiied. We have challenged both inves-
tigation and discussion, and avowed a determination, in this
second part, to correct any error we may have committed
in the first; but no error has yet been pointed out, except
the fact, that we have misspelled the maiden name of Mrs.
Folger, which should have been Disbrow, and not Des-
brosse, as we spelled it. We are informed too that Mr. B.
Folger ought to have been called Mr. B. H. Folger.
Wherever, therefore, in this second part, we mention the
name of Folger, let it be understood as meaning Mr. B. H.
Folger, without we otherwise distinguish it. We conclude,
therefore, that our firet part is correct; and yet we are con-
scious that we have not told all the truth. We have sup-
preaved » portion of what properly belonged to the first part;
not with -the. intention of deceiving; but because the facts
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were too incredible to be believed at once. Thus: when we
stated the fact, that Mrs. Folger had first made known to-
Matthias her wishes towards him as being “ The Will of
God,” and had obtained from him a sanction of her course,
in the expression, “ Follow the leadings or dictates of the
Spirit,” and that in consequence of which she had proceed-
ed to New-York, and after much entreaty, prayer, and sup- °
lipcation to her husband, and threats not to live with. him,
he, Mr. B. Folger, did give his consent to give her up as
Matthias’ wife ;—when mentioning this fact, we had omit.
ted to state, that a few days before these things took place,
she had washed or bathed Matthias, in the bathing-room,
with the room-door locked on them alone; and that a sur-
prising length of time elapsed in this operation. Our read~
ers must now have patience, till this subject is propciiy
placed before them, with all our evidence on the subject;
for this is one of those facts we suppressed in the first part,
as being too incredible for belief; and yet it is a fact, for
which we have positive white evidence, according with the
narrative of Isgbella, who fetched the water on the occasion,
and remained in the passage by the stove, with Elizabeth,
Mr. Pierson’s daughter; and while thus standing, a child
went to the door and tried it, but finding itlocked, retired. To
make the above subject intelligible, we must explain the
doctrine of Matthias on this topic, and explain also the
practice; previous to which we shall remove the rubhish
which occupies the public mind on this topic, by an un-
principled anonymous publication in this city, viz. that in
the bathing-room, there was u globe stove; and that the
whole family, in a state of nudity, stood round this stove;
that Matthias first washing himself, communicated a holi-
ness to the water, and that he then sprinkled and washed
the bodies of his disciples. Now, the whole of this is false.
The only globe stove was in the hall, and that in the ordi-
nary bathing-room, in the north wing, there was no stove,
but a common fire-grate, and no such wholesale washing
took place. We need say no more in contradiction, than
that this amusing tale was published in the 8um, which
published the Moon Story. T BT
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The facts are these, Matthias preached against baptism,
or sprinkling, but in favour of washing, or purification;
and the members of the family were enjoined to wash the
entire body, or purify themselves, at least once a week;
and on other occasions, which seemed to require a sort of -
covenant, as we shall afterward find it practised on such’
occasions. -This washing was performed in a perfect state
of nudity; sometimes in a large tub; and at others, ina
shower bath; both generally in the same room: the men
otdinarily assisted the men, and the women the women.
But in order to comprehend the fact before stated, it is ne-
cessary to mention another doctrine of Matthias', which led
the way to the result we are relating. Matthias preached
that all shqme was sin, or consciousness of want of purity;
and consequently that the most pure would have the least
shame. Now, this doctrine carried out, leads to the ‘expo-
sure of the person; and though there is no proof whatever
for the assertion of the Sun, there is certainly proof that an
indiscriminate exposure might have been the consequence
of this principle; and under certain regulations; was proba-
bly intended, had the society continued togegher. _

By turning to page 67 and 68, of the first part, the read-
er will find that previous to the union of Matthias with Mrs.
Folger, they kept up a longer and closer conversation than
usual, and that Mrs. B. Folger appeared, especially on the
second evening, much excited, we do not know that we
shall now be incorrect, if we say by the passion of love or
_ desire, for we have very strong evidence. When we wrote

that paragraph, we did it on the evidence of Isabella; it was
one of those cases we could not hope for other proof: it
- made her story consistent; there was, then, no doubt about
the after facts; and those facts must be brought about by
some means, and a free communication must have been
held, before Mrs. B. Folger would have gone to New-York,
to gain Mr. B. Folger's consent for a separation. On this
reasoning, and because we had not detected Isabella in a sin-
gle falsehood, we admitted that paragraph, and certainly
believed that to have been the time  she communicated to
Matthias her wishes in plain language, so as to bring the
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affair to the desired end. Since that paragraph was pub-
lished, we have obtained, what we certainly did not expect,
positive, and white evidence -too, that these conversations
were on the. subject supposed; thus again establishing the
evidence of Isabella, in a ¢ase on whicinneither she nor we
sapposed any other evidence existed. With a good deal
of trouble, we sought out a Mrs. Thompson, who with her
husband and family, resided at 8ing-Sing. after this period,
for about a month, she, to assist the family in needlework,
and he to agsist in the garden and other work. I these
persons were not disciples of Matthias, they held some no-
tions of the happiness to be derived from a family or com-
munity system; and they were certainly expected to be-
come disciples by the other members, but revolted at.the .
initiating- ordeal. We shall have afterward to mention
these persons more particularly. They are not our friends;
we only saw Mr. Thompson once, and Mrs. Thompson
once, at separate times and places; they were strangers tc
us, and Mr. Thompson has since attached himself particu.
larly to the interests of Mrs. B. Folger. They are therefore
the friends of both Mr. and Mrs. Folger; of whom they now
spenk with respect: we obtained, however, much informa-
tion from these persons, chiefly in confirmation of what we
already knew; but as this information came to us through
an ordinary conversation, without their knowing: how much
we knew, we obtained again a valuable confirmation of
Isabella’s truth. Mrs. Thompson then told us in answer
to a general question, of how the connexion between Mat.
thias and Mrs. B. Folger was brought about ? that Mrs. B.
Folger took upon herself the whole credit; that she had
conversed on the subject; and on the evening when the spi

rit directed her to declare herself to Matthias, that God had
assisted her, for that Mr. Pierson had given her an oppor-
tunity, by retiring early to bed, and thus%eaving them alone,
when she introduced the subject. She explained some of
the means by which she was led to this resolution: she
observed, that she had a vision, and saw two columns of
smoke ascending and uniting at the top; and one, she ex-
plained, as representing herself, and the other, Matthias;
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by tie sentiments before noticed ; and it only supposed thas:
he-as the Father, and she, about to be the Mother; had ar-
rived at a- greater degree of perfection than other mexghery
of the kingdem. - Our opinion is, but it is only an opiniog, |
that on this occasion, Matthias and Mrs. Folger washed
each other, as a sort of purification preparatory to.the union -
they were about to form, and as a ceremony accompanying .-
the contract formed, agreeable to an apinion befare ex- -
pressed. Matthias had no set or written rules for the king-
dom ; we have to pick up his doctrines, and connect them
with his practice how we can. He never committed any
thing to writing ; and therefore we cannot get at the exact
rule for this washing: but as we find the practice intrq-.
duced on other similar occasions, and as this is not only
the most charitable, but the only rational supposition for such
a departure from common practice, or indeed decency,
we adopt it, as a supposition, viz. that Matthias and 'Mrs.
B. Folger, assuming, and perhaps believing that they were
pure, had no occasion for masks of shame, and perhaps as
a trial of their faith, had sought to subdue their passions in -
the greatest temptations. However, we haye nothing to do
at present with reflection, we give only the fact, and for this
fact we have ample evidence: the interpretation too of Isa-
bella, is, that Matthias and Mrs. Folger assumed to be far-
ther advanced in purity than the others of the kingdom,
and therefore could do this, while the rest, at this time,
were washed by those of their own sex.

We have now then supplied one of our omissions; and in
doing it we have effected another object: we have shown
that we have white evidence, that Mrs. B. Folger first con-
ceived and brought to bear her union with Matthias. The
public press has not eonfronted us in one single point:
but in private, we have heard the remark, that we rested
our evidence that Mrs. B. Folger seduced (an expression
we did not use in the first part) Matthias, on the credit of
a coloured woman; and although we had given other evi-
dence for other important facts, for this, we had not; and
that it was so incredible, that they never could believe it.
This was said by a bookseller, who knew the Folger's, and

2 ;
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who thus discredits our judgment or honesty. We have now
given him-: and-others white evidence for this. fact, -im ‘the- -1
person of Mrs. Thompson, a'strauger to us and friendly -
with-Mrs. B. Folger ; and this evidence comes to us from- -
a very different- channel than the other which it confirms, -
and there ave yet other evidences to be had, if we want:
them: indeed our strongest proofs are sometimes reserved,
both as a matter of policy in case of a denial of any we
have stated, and to avoid inserting names unnecessarily; but ..,
the identifying Mrs. B. Folger as the author of a: note ad-
dressed to Mr. Pierson, see pages 28 and 29 ofthe first part,.
calculated to induce that gentleman to seek to obtain a-mar-
ried lady as a companion, ought to have been presumptive
evidence that in the same spirit Mrs. B. Folger could ne-
gotiate for herself. . : .

We-shall now supply another omission, made indeed in
the same spirit. I[our readers will turn to page 79, first
they will find the marriage ceremony of Mr. B. Folger
and Mrs. Laisdell mentioned. T'his was not done justice to:
we shall take the liberty of going over the scene again, an
sthen connecting a subject with it, before omitted. :

Mr. B. Folger, it will be recollected, went to Albany to
fetch Matthias’ daughter; and that he slept with her, accom-
panied with circumstances before named, on the road home;
and that Matthias, to whom this fact was confessed, assumed
it as.the base of his proceedings, alleging that as her
former marriage was nullified by this act, she had better
marry, or be espoused to Mr. B. Folger, as their affection
for each other showed a kindred spirit. This was what law-
yers call profiting by the wrong done: while the fact of &
courtship to a married woman, a consummation, 2 marriage,
and then another consummation, all in three days, is cer- -
tainly ‘incomprehensible to persons of ordinary faith and
ordinary morals. For such things an extraordinary faith -
or revelation i8 necessary, or we must suppose gross and
corrupted morals. The line of conduct having been agroed -
upon by the Father, Mother, and the chief disciples; in the -
evening a cetemony was determined upon, and Mrs. B: .-
Folger, then -tf;e’ ‘Mother, stepped into"the’ kitchen with 't‘fl.:
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vely i and“hfﬁhné ‘oubitenance, asked the ‘jnmates of

* the Kitthen, Isabélls and Clithéring Galloway, if they wogld

! 'gotod wédding.’The foriner, naturally gay, though neitlter

'_'.‘gzq g, or white, readily answered, yes, I amn ready, gnd ‘}re—
Té

sa éd to'follow; the latler, as if struck with sorrow, faintly
" drawled out, y-e's, and with a heavy dull step joined the
" “festive party, and proceeded to thefront parlour. In this
g;rlour, the party took their seats in the following order :—

r. Pierson near the end of the rodm opposite the win-
dows; then in order, opposite the fire, Mr. B. Folger, Mrs.
Laisdell, (the daughter ‘of Matthias,) and Matthias ;- Mrs.

" B. Folger took a place by the side of the fire next th€ win-
dow, and Cathérine Galloway on the other side, with her
head crouching under the mantelpiece, and her eyes occa-
sionally learing towards the happy pair, Mr. B. Folger and
Mrs. Laisdell, who, though she had been improperly whip-
ped the night before and on the same morning, for imperti-
nence to ier authoritative father, by no means showed
marks of sorrow on this occasion. Isabella, the coloured
woman, humbly, or not humbly, took her place by the
door, rather without the party than among ther, but ad-
mirably sitnated for observation. Matthias began by ex-
plaining the circumstance, without, however, mentioning
particulars, and it is probable that all the facts already stated
were not then known, except to Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger
and Matthias. Matthias simply stated, that a» act on the
road had nullified his daughter’s marriage with her hus-
band Laisdell; and this being nullified, and Mr. B. Folger
and his daughter being fond of each other, he thought the
best thing they could do was to unite, or be espoused. He
then asked Mr. B. Folger and his daughter’ if they were
willing to be thus united; these cheerfully rerlied they were.
He then asked Mr. Pierson, if he gave his consent; to which
that gentleman replied, yes. Then Mrs. Folger was asked.
.who also’ replied, yes. Then Catherine (ialloway, who
".1p.a,very faint voice, doleful tone, and 'sorrowfil counte-
" nance, with her head still poked under the mantelpiece; and
"oty oving her eyes in'an’ upward or obligie direction,
y-e8 - sir. This question was repeated to Cathe.
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time, by Matthias, and again answered b{ the slow y-es.
- “The same question was then put to Isabella, who replied,
es. . Matthias then put his hand upon the head of Mrs. B.
¥'ol er and his daughter, and said, “ You will be blessed in
obedience, and in disobedience thou wilt be cursed,’ &c.
Mr. B. Folger then kissed the bride, and then kissed Mat-
thias, then Mr. Pierson, Mrs. B. Folger, Catherine, and
lastly Isabella, the door-keeper and cook in the kingdom.
Thig kiss was afterward referred to by Isabella, before the
v ﬁrand jury at White Plains, who asked her, if Matthias
ad ever kissed her: and on her re?lying, yes, one of th
asked, « Now, didn’t he kiss sweet?’ To which she replifﬂ,
« No sweeter than Ben. Folger;” for she supposed Mr. B,
Folger to have suggested this question, as. he had just been
in the room. The grand jury, on this reply, declined push-
ing their inquiries.

After this kissing ceremony, Mr. B. Folger showed a
disposition to retire, with his new bride; he supposed the
ceremony closed : but Matthias was ina preaching humour,
and commenced a lecture, which if they were not obliged
to listen to, they were at least obliged to sit under. We
do not think it was very edifying, or else it was apparently
badly timed ;- for he certainly did not get the attention of
some of the party: Catherine remained immoveable, her
head in the usua{ place, and her eyes, when engaged, were
stealing a dissatisfied lcok at the happy pair! while Mr.
B. Folger manifested a most ridiculous uneasiness, almost
starting up at every period, apparently hoping it was the
last. He had been alone on the previous evening, and
manifested the greatest anxiety to retire with his wife, to
the great amusement of Isabella, who seemed, like the rest,

. not much occupied with the prophet’s discourse, but enga-
ged in watching the countenances, and trying to catch the
thoughts of the party. Matthias, alone, seemed charmed
with his own voice, and with the greatest deliberation was
laying down moral rules, and giving spiritual advice to
those whose minds were not apparently then in a very spi-

_ritual mood. At length, the prophet ceased, and Mr. B. Fol-
ger led off his blooming bride, we cannot say blushing,
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for she had been married one month before to.a w
in Albany, named Laisdell, whom' she bad just l¢ a
friendly visit to her father. -,

We return now to the kitchen. The subject of this mar-
" riage necessarily became a topic of conversation between

Cl:tgherine and Isabella, who was not acquainted with all
the facts then. Ignorant people can only talk about what
they see and hear, and on these subjects they are aiways
talking: when they have said all they know, then the
begin again; and thus an ignorant person is easily detected,
if a liar, Catherine’s mind was evidently full of the sub-
ject, and when she answered, therefore, on the last occasion,
in so doleful & manner, and appeared so thoughtful and
dull, with her head pertinaciously stuck under the mantel-
piece, “ Good God!” inwardly exclaimed Isabella, « does
Catherine think any thing of Benjamin Folger!” It struck
her, as we learn by inquiry, for the first time, that Cathe-
rine had pretensions to Mr. B. Folger; and this, it appears,
surprised Isabella; for Catherine israther a homely young:
woman, the widow of a serving man to Mr. Mills, and
herself formerly a servantto him. She is uneducated, with-~
out polish in her manners, and as Isabella expressed her-
self, only fit to be in the kitchen with her. Catherine could
not help talking, nor Isabella inquiring, till at length, Ca-
therine declared that she had a greater right to Mr. B. Fol-
ger than Mrs. Laisdell, for that Mr. Folger had lain with
her in the house in Third-street, New-York, several times,.
since he had given up his wife, (about six weeks,) and that
too by the apparent consent ot knowlodge of Mrs. B. Fol--
ger, who had perhaps innocently prepared the way. It
appears, that Mrs. B. Folger, after her marriage with Mat-
thias, went to New-York, and communicated the joyful
intelligence to Catherine, as one of the kingdom. She had
explained to Catherine how that the Spirit of the Lord had
made known to her, that she should take Matthias, as her
match spirit. © Her visions, dreams, and feelings, were ex-
plained, as the leadings or guiding of the Spirit of God.
Catherine in relating these facts to Isabella, said that she
pitied Mr. B. Folger..especially as she then recollected the-

2 .

.
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i ghtentYeouble hie Whs in dipring the tme Mis. H2¥Slger
* 'was iblié'itidg'hisl’l‘e’éu&ie‘nt to he‘r'ﬁni‘cmj with Matthias, and
_ which she then did not understand; but as ¥ pity melts the
“mind to love,” it appears to have been the case with Cathe-
" _'rine; for the same sort of spirit that had operaied on Mrs.
" Folger, began to operate on Catherine: and she began to
dream, had visions, and strange feelings, which convinced
her that she was a match spirit for Mr. B. Folger. So

" powerful was this spirit in Catherine, that she rolled on the
ﬁround with its violence, and became extremely uneasy in
er person; and perhaps like her instructer, the Mother in
“the kingdom, included lust with the workings of the spirit;
for that lady distinctly admitted, that previous to her union
 with Matthias, she was all on a ferment, or to use the ex-
“*pression of St. Paul, that she burned. ~ This proof of the
error arising from feelings, we before omitted, for reasons
before given. Whatever were the exact feelings of Cathe-
“rine, her situation was explained to Matthjas, 2nd he ad-
" mitted their genuineness, and supposed that er. Folger and
".Catherine were matched spirits; and that it was the will of

" God that they should be united, and as such he sanctioned

. it, aithough there must then have existed a treaty for his
daughter to be given to Mr. Folger. Now, whether this

" fact was made known to Mr. B. Folger by Catherine, or
_by Mrs. B. Folger, we do not know; but we know that
'Mrs. B. Folger assisted Catherine in her wardrobe, and in
thé¢ improvement of her personal appearance. One gar.
“‘ment purchased for Catherine was afterward appropriated
" 10 the use of Matthias' daughter. Catherine, it appears,
" was really fond of Mr. B. Folger; she had known the
“bliss of matrimony, nor did she discover those deficiencies
"in him which Mrs. B. Folger so frequently referred to, in
“comparison_to Matthias. Catherine was conscious of the
“inferiority of her personal appearance, in taste and face, to
'the daughter of Matthias; but she flattered herself that she
‘was not less acceptable to Mr. Folger, and actually once
“made the ridiculous proposal to Isabella, that she should
“ask Mr. Folger which of the females he liked best in the
“Hark; a proposition which only could have been made to
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Isabella, we can of course furyish no

. Webavs now ,;a;?m the deficioncies of the first part; but
as pany of our readers, out of the city, and some,in it, may be
ignorant of the parties alluded to, and suppose that the dis-

‘¢ciples of Matthias were depraved people, rich or poor, who,

. without principle, indulged their appetite at theix pleasure,
_..and morely sought the sanction for religion as a ioke, or

cover for their proceedings, and that they never were or
could be sincere; we shall again briefly notice the leading

" characters.. Mr. Pierson was a retired merchant, supposed

to be worth $80,000; for many years connected with, and

. .an officer- in, the Baptist Church of Mr. Someis; and this
~ gentleman supplicd Mr. Stone with some facis and sowe
errors. Mr. Pierson’s sincerity was never doubted. even

i')(y_ those who disapproved of his opinions and practices.
he most. extravagant act before his connexion with Mat-
thias was his praying solemnly for the resurrection of his

‘j:v?viféaﬂer her death, and his belief that this would happen;
but for this he had scrigtural authority, while his intense

" affection for his wife, an

1 : uxurious passion, no doubt, assist-
ed the delusion.  After his death, his friends and the pub-

_lic, in charity, regarded him as deranged; yet his judg-

“ment, knowledge, and sincerity, were'so highly respected,

even while his opinions were verging on extravagance, that

~.we have known a very sensible and well-informed person

,send a friend to him for instruction on the subject of bap-

. $ism, as the more capable of the two,

" Mr. Mills, who just escaped pollution by the energy of

 his friends, was a merchant, respected for his intelligence,
- wealth, and sincerity. Before he became acquainted with

Mr. Pierson, he was a desponding Christian; Mr. Pierson
was his instructer, and he became full of faith and hope,

_and, with Mr. Pierson, a disciple of Matthias; to whose
_views he devoted his house and fortune. His manners are
_.ggptlgr[?nly, himself liberal and of an independent sincerity,
wlnc*;‘ espises popular opinion when he believes himself

right; and hence, sometimes, an extravagance in action.
Thesequalities, decidedly good. arethusillustrated :—At Mr.
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Pierson’s house, just before the time of Matthias, hym.
became the subject of discovrse; Mr. Mills rematlred to
effect: “I am for doing, not for talking ; we have too much
talking and too little doing; I will kiss Isabella’s feet,”
and suiting the action to the word, he forthwith kissed this
middle dged, not handsome coloured woman'sfoot.” The spi-
rit of the act was the result of generous and noble feelings,
but prostrated by fanaticism. We have this fact from one of
his equals present, but confirmed by Isabella. Mr. Mills,
as aegisciple of Mr. Pierson or Matthias, was cheerful and
happy, and thus improved in that particular.

\ gﬂr. B. Folger was a poot lad with an ordinary educa-
tion, but brought up by rich relations of the same name, who
assisted him in getting forward in life. By becominga part-
nerin a good house, he soon became rich, and respected as
one of the first importing merchants of hardware in New
York; but engaged in other speculating pursuits, especially
latterly. From his success in business, and rather showy
style of living, he necessarily became connected with the
best society, and by being rather a handsome man, and ac-
quiring a very polite manner, with considerable knowledge
of business, and necessarily some knowledge of the world,
he effectually concealed rather a defective education; his
good temper, extreme politeness, kindness, for he has for-
warded the interests of many poor men and families, and
his generosity, chiefly in K_is religious connexion, esta-
blished a strong feeling of sympathy in his favour, which
would have been respect, but for recent events, and but
for some vices and weaknesses in his character, which
counterbalance his virtues, and which recent events are
calculated to expose. Nine years ago this gentleman be-
eame a convert and made a particular profession of religion,
and supported that profession by distributing tracts, attend-
ing Sunday-schools, prayer meetings, and meetings for ex-
perience, in which he expounded the Scriptures, and mani-
fested on all occasions the greatest sincerity; especially as
these religious exercises, and his connexion with a small
church at Greenwich, could not forward his temperal inter-
ests, while they cost him large sums, as subscripfons to
various religious objects connected with them.
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Mrs, Folger is of a respectable family, merchants of the
name of Disbrow, from whom she inherits, while her
mother yet lives, $16,000. There is nothing peculiar in the
education or abilities of this lady; but her manners and
voice, by descn;&t;on, are the most persuasive possible ;.she
is gentleness ifself, and appears to have been simple and
artless as a girl, and particularly modest; the very last per-
son we should suppose capable of the facts we have already
named. She, too, was converted before her husband, and
became a zealous member of various religious societies
connected with charities, held prayer meetings in her house,
contributed to the establishment and conducting of Sunday-
schools, explained the Scriptures, and became in evérv
sense an active, and sincere Christian; she, too, adopted
Mr. Pierson’s opinion, and always regarded him as an in-
telligent, sincere, and able man, even to the time of his
death. The other disciples of Matthias, or members of the
kingdom, were in more humble life, and not having the
required time or money, could not be distinguished ; except
Isabella, the coloured woman, who had previously been
noted in Mr. Latourette’s meetings and at camp-meetings,
for long and loud preaching and praying, remarkable for
their influence in converting: she is well known among
the Methodists, and while amongst them, or known' to
them, was much respected by them. Mr. Latourette as-
sured us the influence of her speaking was mimcnlqug“t_bat
even learned and respectable people were running after
her; and she even commanded a larger audience than the
celebrated Maffet, when both were preaching on the same
ground, at the same time. The rest were Christians of
good repute, with one exception.

Nore.—On Iookmover our notes, we discover that Mrs. Laiadell, the daughter
of Matthias, was bathed or washed, previous to her ceremonious union with . Mr.
B. Folger ; this washing was performed by some of the females in the kingdom,
but it was done expressly in preparation for the union. This and other facts to
be mentioned, satisfy us, that, besides the ordinary weekly washings, this sort ot
ism, or washing, was performed as a ceremony, accompanying a covemant

or engag ; the t was not, however, perfeal{)underuood by Isabella
and some others of the kingdom, whom we have seen; but whatever n.nm
been the de oflnuhh-hmh.r‘ ing it, it b the of

f
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CHAPTER IL

* Mofthias i:lﬂd Mrs. bFl:léor in love :;ﬂtmmghh oﬂmq-;-%r P‘cr'mu
;. Connubial prospec onsequences -of: ion of. Mrs, Loisdell
"'* 1with Mr. B. Folger—My. Laisdell seeks his Wife—Cuyrious proposi-
tion ta him— The fight of Mr. Folger and Mrs.. Laisdcll—Pursuit
g Mr. Laisdell— Ezcitement at Sing-Sing, and examination of Mat-
sas, his daughter, and Mr. B. Folger—/Iaisdell obtains hs wife,
and returns to Albu n;-—l«'rimdly visit of Messrs. Voris and Prime
to Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger—Mr. B. Folger’s union with Catherine,
witA his w)’[c’e consent, and the singular manner in which.4{ was car-
ried on--Conscyu-nces of this union in the parlour—Mr. Folger's
déssatisfaction wiln. Catierine—Mr. and 3Irs. Thompson admitted
o the Kingdom--"Their mutual discoveries ond caution—Mrs.
Thompson initiated into the mysteries of the Kingdom by Drs. B.
Folger—Internal disccntent—-Scene of jealousy and re-marriage of
. Matthias with Mrs. Folger singularly cflected—A feast—Accident at
onkers—Adrantage taken of 1t by Mr. B. Folger, who obtains pos-
session_of his wife for one night—Singular effect—Mr. Thompson
boaves Sing-Siny-—Mrs. Thompson's timeby escape from pollution.

. Tug party, or Kingdom as it was called, appeared now
) re.rfectly happy; even Catherine seemed to forget her neg-
. lect, though she possibly received some private consolation:

Mr. B. Folger was then living. in the same family with
three females, whom he had enjoyed as a hushand ; and his
wife, with two men whom she had successively taken as
husbands. She was warmly attached to Matthias, after
_ their union, and the subject of her bliss formed a constant
topic of conversation. She regarded all former connexions

- ag.nothing, and not.only supposed, but declared, that she
...never knew a man but Matthias. For this fact, we have
.. legal white evidence, and we instance it only to show the

strength of the delusion and the effect of sentiment on the
mind. Of Matthias she spoke with enthusiasm; and, like
the followers of Mahomet, regarded him as supernatural,
- phiysically and mentally; he, she remarked on several oc-
~ casions, and to different persons, could “énter the most

. ‘Hboly of Holy,” and “ penetrate to the Sanctuwm Sanctorum,”

:"“fﬁﬁki"g' we suppose, of his understanding. These were
- the precise terms used, and reported to us by different per-

sbns,'who never'could have thought of agreeing in these

- ~expresstons, if not true; while, at the same time, we have no
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reason to doubt the truth of thcse wwhom we have never de- -
tected' i ‘fhlséhicod, and’ whose testimony, as in this very -
ease; & supported by other evidence, with whom she was" '
not ‘eonnected, Matthias, too, was evidently in love;'in~
spite of hiis sternness, “his prophetic character, and deep dé- -
sign, which, we think, he frequently manifested.  He eulk
ed her By all endearing names: she weeld kang upon his®
neck, and at"her instigation he took up her petty causes of
diseontent in the kitchen; listened to her complaints, and
scolded Isabella in good sct terms, even about washing;
and committed all the follies that young love is capable of;
which, as Isabella had no match spirit in the establishment,
she had more dpportunity, and felt more disposed to notice.
What she formerly considered as spiritual attentions, she ' -
now perceived to {e the beginning of carnal attachments.
Such was his affection for her, and such it continued, that
a: a later period, nfier the death of M. Dicrson, Matthias, -
when in the habit of pacing the passage in the Third-street °
house, frequently stopped at the front of a closet in that pas-
sage, and looking steadfastly at some of her garments, hang- *
ing there, has been seen to embrace them, and once was
seen to kiss them.” And now we may so far anticjpate the
narrative, as to'say, that this reality of practical love, be-
tween Matthias'and Mrs. B. Folger, is the key which un-
locks the mystery about the neglect of Mr. Pierson. He
was neglected, because the only two persons who had au-
thority in the house, were courting or spending a long -
honeymoon. For the same reason, Mr. Folger could not
get his breakfast in time, but was sometimes pacing the
passage, and waiting for Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger, com-
ing out of their bedroom. The work of the house was
thrown back by their deluys in the morning, and by Mrs.
B. Folger doing'less household employment, and spending
large portions of her time.toying with Matthias. This had:
nearly caused Isabella’s leaving the Kingdom, as she did °
nearly all the hard work, and received no wages; but had "
all things in common. Her duty, however, was in the -
kitehen, and when she once complained, especially of the
late bteaLfasts, that it threw hor back in her work, she re- °
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ceived this characteristic reply, viz.: “that she should be fur-
"nished with his and Mother's s'iirit, so that if they laid im
bed, their spirits should be with her, and enable her to do
twice the work in half the time.”  This was said to Isabel-
la in Matthias’ bedroom, where he and Mrs. Folger were
then in bed; for asthe fire was lighted in their room before
;’l:iy got up, she was frequently there while they were ia .

. This anecdote, more than any other, has raised &
doubt in us both as to the sincerity of Matthias and Mrs.
Folger, who admitted the excuse, and frequently repeated
it. Setting aside sincerity, it was certainly a good joke up-
on a eoloured woman, and calculated to induce her to do
more labour with less opportunities. It was.a good trick
to subdue her dissatisfaction ; but it certainly also disturbed
her faith : both in that and the love affair, she had no faith;
she did not believe in the coming of a holy -child, where so
much carnal affection and weakness were shown ; nor did
she believe in a double spirit, when self-indulgence dictated
the liberal donation.

Mr. Pierson was happy in anticipation; he was decid-
edly uxorious; his deep affection for his wife was founded
in constitution and desire, as well as in the mind. His form
was what phrenologists call amative; and of these facts
we have some very curious proofs. His affections were,
héwever, concentrated wholly on his wife; and hence his
extreme grief at her loss. To this loss his friends attribute
his after sickness, accompanied with fits, and his strange
hallucination of mind on religious subjects ; for he continued
apparently of sound mind, for all secular purposes. His
sincerity and religious faith, and code of morals, forbid the
indulgence of his passions after his wife’s death, while the
strength of those passions constantly reminded him of his
loss: the proof of this fact is in our possession, but cannot

~ with propriety be published. Nor did his grief for his wife
subside, till he conceived the agreeable but curious idea
that her spirit would occupy another body; and that ke
should again be united to her in another form: and this
delusion was strengthened by Mrs. B. Folger in every
‘way. Thelady referred to, who was the innocent subject of
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this imaginary transfer of spirit, was alike ignorant of the
workings of {oth the minds of Mrs. B. Folger and Mr.
Pierson, till we pointed out the connexion between Mrs. B.
Folger's two notes, mentioned in our first part, and Mr.
Pierson’s direct application both to this lady and her hus-
band in the name of the Lord, to be given up to him. On °
pointing out this connexion, and the fact that the subject
was seriously entertained at Sing-Sing, by the leaders in
the kingdom, that lady suddenly exclaimed, “I see it” and
then mentioned that Mrs. B. Folger was the general con-
triver of their proximities; to which she then attached no
importance. Mr. Pierson then was happy, in the prospect
of this union, which he imagined was the will of God: he
made several visits to this lady, but being naturally modest,
except on the last occasion, merely invited her to Sing-Sing;
but his pretensions to this lady, we know to have been en-
couraged by Mrs. B. Folger, if not by the other inmates aof
Sing-Sing.

Happy as the parties now were, it wants very little pene-
tration to perceive that in that society were the elements of
. disorder, and frightful consequences; the machinery was
imperfect and had not worked well, and some disappoint-
ments seemed calculated to prostrate the whole plan, and
defy the bold efforts of Matthias to keep the kingdom in
peace, composed as it was. The most unfortunate affair
seemed to be the previous marriage of Matthias’ daughter.
The reader may easily perceive that the first squall would
come from that quarter. Mrs. Laisdell had left her home,
with her brothers, on a visit to their father; the mother had
refused to come, and the daughter was to have informed
her of the situation of her husband, and prospect of the fam-
ily. Im the ardour of love or passion these difficulties appear
to have been jumped over, and Matthias solemnly sealed
these difficulties by the formal union, at which he assisted ;
apparently regardf;ss of consequences. After this marriage,
which took place in the winter of 1833, the family left
Sing-Sing for New York, leaving Isabella and Catherine °
Galloway with Matthias’ boys, and other young people;
with whom it appears she had a great deal of troub}: At

3
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this period Catherine Galloway .told Isabella .of; her:. prer
wious claims on Mr. B. Folger, and of the warkings of the -
spirit, or rather of her spirit, on the relation of Mrs. Folgar's
story. There is no proof, however, that Mr. Pierson.pver
knew of this connexion between Catherine and Mr. B. Fol-
ger, and this apparent secreting, even in the kingdom, is
not very fuvourable to the supposition of positive sincerity,
or coasciousness of right.
The union of Mr. B. Folger with Mrs. Laisdell had:
aaken place early in January, 1834; no information was
seut to Mrs, Matthias for three weeks, and then only a mea-
grenote from Mr. B. Folger, informing her that the children.
were weil, and po more money would be sent, as Matthias
disapproved it; (Mr. B. Folger had promised to send money.
wmonthiy.) Butis this note no notice was taken of Mrs.
tarisdell; this we learn frory Mrs. Matthias. On the receipt
<" this note, it appears the husband, Mr. Laisdell, set out
tor Sitg-Sing, On his arrival there, he was not permitted to
-enter the heve, iaen in charge of Isabella, who acted un-
der genorz) instructions.  Laisdell was an English e-
-clianiz, & combinaker, not very exalied in his notions of
diguity, and perinaps a litle awed at the elegance of the
house, and the supposed wealth and power of the party’'s
circumstances, which would not affect a Yankee in low
circurtistznces.  He obtained nothing satisfactory from Isa-
bella, who could ot be faithful to both parties; and as she
“was put in trust by Mr. B. Folger and Matthias, she pre-
- fefred serving then, or at least not committing them on her
oivn responsibility: she therefore kept him at bay for two
days, and on the third sent word to the family at New
York, that Laisdell had come; and in the mean time gave
him no satisfactory answer. Not being permitted to enter
the house in the absence of the proprietors, he endeavoured.
to attract the attention of Matthias’ sons, then in the house
.or_garden, and learn from them what he in vain sought of
Idgbella; while she, who has much energy, considerable.
shrewdness, and great strength of body, endeavoured to keep
the boys out of his way. The manceuvres of these parties at
this time, must have attracted the attention of the villagers; .

"
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for “though: the house is a considerable distarice from:the.
village on the New York road, Laisdell was for severak
-daysskulking about the house, and backwards and forwards
to the village; and not bejng bound to'secrecy, or very phi--
Yosophic, he of course told-all he knew, and awakened the
curiosity of the people, some of whom also wandered about

the house, and advised with Laisdell. On the knowledge of
Laisdell's arrival at Sing-Sing, Mr. Pierson and Matthias
then in New York, came up to Sing-Sing, still leaving Mr.

B. Folger and his newly-acquired bride, Mrs. Laisdell, im
New York, to make the most of their time. On their arsi~
val, Laisdell was admitted into the house, but lsabella was
seriously scolded by Matthias for not treating L:isdell more
seterely, and for sending for them: for whatever he might

think, Ke behaved as if he had a right to give this man’s-
wife away to Mr. B. Folger, and as if the other vught to
submit without grumbling. Pierson, however, gave him

monev, and made several propositions to him; one ¢f which

was that he should return to England to see his friends, for
which pnrnose money should be provided; another was,

that he should return to Albany, purchase instruments and

the raw materials, and that he should then come again to

Sing-Sing, ard set up business, for which money should be

provided: and to this last he assented, without ever secing

his wife. Aund while these arrangements were in progress,

he made himself comfortable, chiefly, however, in the kiteh-
en; where he became very talkative, even to his old cnemy,

Isabella, who had kept him at bay during the absence of’
the family. Matthias, too, lectured him considerably, speak-

ing to him with authority mixed with kindness; himself
assuming a superiority, and -treating Laisdeil like a boy,
who ought to submit without troutle. What they told him

about his wife, we don’t know; but we do know that he
was neither invited to New York, nor was there any inten~
tion of bringing her to 8ing-Sing, nor did they explain te
him how she was situated. In two or three days Laisdelt
was furnished with money, and left the place at Sing-Stag
to return to Albany for the purpose before mentioneéd. "Nowg,
whether ‘this was done merely to' gain time, or in -pes
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sincerity, with the strange expectation that this husband,
being thus engaged, would quietly give up his wife, and
remain in the same neighbourhood, and perhaps become
one of the family, or kingdom, we know not; but this
foct, together with the fact of Matthias sending for his wife
and family, to be similarly situated, has always struck us
as a proof of his sincerity, and, at the same time, of his as-
surance, his consummate impudence, and high opinion of
himself: for no man, without a conceit reaching almost to
madness, would think of sending for a wife, children, and
son-in-law, while he and his daughter were living in the
interchange of matrimonial enjoyments with others in the
same house. However, the fact is positive, and our readers
must draw what conclusions they please. Laisdell left the
house for Albany without his wife, and Matthias returned
to New York, leaving Mr. Pierson at Sing-Sing.
After the lapse of a few days, when it was supposed that
Laisdell was in Albany, Isabella discovered a figure like
him, idling on the road near the house, and talking to a
neighbour, Mr. Hatfield; and Isabella pointing him out to
Mr. Pierson; that gentleman went to look after him, and
found that it really was Laisdell himself, the real Simon
Pure. Mr. Pierson brought him home, dined him, pretended
to believe his tale, (of his being too late for the coach, &c.)
‘and gave him more money, and took him down to Sing-
Sing, in order to see him in a fair way of starting; but af-
ter Mr. Pierson left him, he altered his tact, under advice
previously given. His manners and habits certainly did
not command respect; it was evident he liked beer quite
as well as his wife; and it was equally clear, that he was
foolish enough to enter into a strange engagement, and
unfaithful enough to break it. Still his stay in the village
excited much curiosity, and himself a good deal of sympa-
thy; perhaps, tao, he did not tell how he got the money he
was spending. The whole village appeared excited:
crowds walked out to see the house; but all was mystery
. within. Laisdell at length applied to law, and set out for
-.New York in search of his wife, at No. 8 Third street.
* He was not admitted, and even threatened by Matthias, as
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he had broken his promisc; and the family, to avoid his

dhnoyahce, and the service of a writ, fled to Sing-Sing, {eni

ing Ldisdell agnin in the lurch, and without' bis wife.

Laisdell, however, followed up, and arrived again in Sing-

Sing.  As these things beeame kiown in the village, the

exciternent of ¢course increased; crowdsascembled about the

premises; the hill which overhung or overlooked the

house, was pensled; the enslosures were viclat:d by some,

and great ruinbers thronged-the road and lane feading to

the houss - while Laisdell, now assisted by the civil power,

had the means of comprHing the parties to appear before a

magistrate.  'T'he curriace was now got ready. and the ami-

ly, with great reluctanc.. got in and drove ofl’ i ¥ir. ('ros-

by's tavern, at the top of the hill, where the magistrates them

sat. On the road, the carriage was of conrse followed by

the mob, previously assembled. hooting, hallooing, and im-

plicating Matthias, on whom the whole weight of the dis-

Pleasure of the people fell. while Mr. B. Folwer, the mest
culpable in this case, not only escaped their violence, but

was enabled to protect Matthias. 'The family, including -
Mrs. B. Folger and Mrs. Laisdell, who was very unwill-

ing to leave Sing-Sing, determined to prolong ner stay. if
possible. They relied on the promise of Laisdell, 1o come

there and live, and on the wishes of Mrs. Laisdell, to »e-

main; and this evidence she gave in court, concealing the

real case, by stating that she preferred staying with her

brothers, and wished her husband to come there to live, as

he had promised : but Laisdell, being unwilling, and prov-

ing his marriage by a certifieate, obtained his wife; and

set off' for Albany, from whence he had been absent thres .
weeks. Thus Mr. B. Folaer retained possession of Mes.

Laisdell about six wecks fromn the day of her leaving Ab-.
bany, in January, 1834, to her retarn.

In a visit which we recently made to Sing-Sing. these
facts were confirmed, as v s was known outside -ths
house, and by this accordance .. again test the truth of the
narrative. Mrs. Laisde!l, on her return home, informed
her mother, Mrs. Matthias, of her father’s new connexiem,
and the situation of her brothers: and when these brethees

. 3*
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akerward returned home, the younger, John, mentioned
the case of Mr. Folger sleeping with his sister on the road;
but these boys, and the men engaged chiefly out of doors
on the farm, were not generally intimate with the in-door
transactions.

As to the family, a different fate awaited them. Matthias
eontinued to be mobbed, and it required all the energy of
Mr. and Mrs. Folger to protect him from personal violence.

The next day Messrs. Voris and Prime, (the former a
respectable lawyer, and the latter a teacher in Sing-Sing,)
visited Mr. B. Folger, in the morning, for the purpose of
offering their friendly aid and advice, and anxiously desir-
ing the dismissal of Matthias, as the supposed cause of the
various suspicions: for some of the bolder people now de-
clared their belief of the facts we have related ; viz. that
Matthias had takén Mirs. B. Folger; and Mr. B. Folger,
Matthias’ daughter, even though a married woman! Isa-
. bella saw these gentlemen approaching the house,and know-

ing that Matthias and Mrs. Folger were yet in bed, and to-
gether ! and being unwilling, as she expressed herself, that
they should be caught in this situation—for their connexion,
though known to the kingdom, was not acknowledged to
the world, or among the devils, as the whole family, in
imitation of Matthias, were accustomed to call other people:
and in this, perhaps, Matthias gave more offence to man
individuals than by his associations;—Isabella being un-
willing that they should be so caught, hastened into their
room, to which she had access, as before explained, and
gave the necessary information: on which, Mrs. B. Folger
_hurriedly assumed her garments; while Isabella went to
call Mr. B. Folger, also in bed. He and Mrs. B. Folger
" then received their visiters, and not very kindly declined
their services; in fact, they considered their offers as ob-
trusive: the parties had then no wish to alter their circum-
stances, and regarded advice, out of the kingdom, as the
advice of devils.
. After the departure of Mrs. Laisdell, Mr. B. Folger re-
turned to Catherine Galloway, with the knowledge and
assistance of Mrs. B. Folger, who again discovered-that they
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were matched spirits: she assisted in making up clothes for
her, and adorned her naturally rather plain person in the
best manner ; and apparently took so much interest in her
happiness, as to inquire after her wedded enjoyments, as
proofs of their being matched spirits. This extreme atten-
tion to personal pleasures, among the adults, led to a par-
tial neglect of others in the household, or kingdom, at a
later period. Thus Mr. Pierson’s daughter was made to
wear some garments made from rejected clothes of Cathe-
rine, after Catherine dressed well, and speat a large por-
tion of her time in the parlour; while this child, then ‘only
ten years old, did considerable of the chamber-work, and
even washed the outside stoop to their handsome establish-
ment; which, we suppose, Catherine would have done had
. there been less love. We do not know that this union was
known or approved by Mr. Pierson, as before expressed, at

least there 1s no proof of it: it was not openly avowed, but. -
it was the frequent subject of conversation between Cathe-

-rine and Isabella, and occasionally mentioned or referred
to by Mrs. B. Folger, to one or other or both tegether, of
the other two. Catherine slept avowedly with Elizabeth,
Mr. Pierson’s daughter, the child before mentioned, in the
north wing; Mr. B. Folger slept over Matthias' room, and
Matthias and Mrs. Folger slept in the front parlour. Ca-
therine used to get from her bed, leaving the child, and went
up to Mr. B. Folger's room : this the child not only knew,
but talked about; it is true she was but a child, but we
think Mrs. B. Folger, who had the charge of this child,
ought not to have placed her in such a situation.

With regard to several members of the kingdom, no se-
crecy was attempted. At a late period, in Third-street,

\

Isabella would frequently go into Mr. Folger's room with -

Catherine, and remain there till Mr. B. Folger came up,
when she retired, and saw the door locked on them botE,
no reserve being thought necessary in her case: The con-
sequence, too, of this intercourse was a miscarriage on the
part of Catherine; which unfortunately occurred in the

parlour, in a full meeting of the kingdom, when Matthias

was lecturing. As this was a very early miscarriage, it
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‘was attended with a little sucknees only,-and Eluabeth ‘she
¢hild, was made to attend her, and even to wash her gar-
mente.  I's consequences, in the parlour, were observed by,
the child before mentioned; who spoke of the occurrence
as singular, without undcrstundnw it; and yct she per:
formed part of the washing which this circumstance ocga-
sioned.

It does not appear that Mr. 8. Folger was ever fond:of
Catherine, but took her merely as a substitute ; or, as Isa-
bella coarw'y expresses heiself, as a hack. Catherine, on
the contrary, appears to have been extremely fond-of Mr.B.
Folger: he was indeed a handsome man, but rather cffem-
inate—only, however, in appearance; of extremely pleas-
ing manners, very polite, and very generous: while she
was a woman of no conversation, nor of any qualifications
but those fit for the kitchen. The consequence was, a dis-
satisfaction on the part of Mr. BB. Folger: he found that he
had given up an extremely pleasing female to his bearded
_friend; and got, in exchange, a woman whom he did not

value. In spite of Mrs. B. Folger's and Catherine's dis-
covering that Catherine was the match spirit to Benjamin,
}as Mrs. B. Folger used to call her husband,) this dissatis-
action was shown by Mr. B. Folger, not towards Cathe-
Tine, but towards Maithias and Mrs. B. Folger, whom he
now evidently wished to recover. This, we have no doubt,
was foreseen by Mrs. B. Folger; and hence her anxiety to
adorn Catherine, and to please her husband through her;
for in all these transactions, besides the teachings of the
Spirit, we generally perceive some human passion or prin-
ciple at work, to which the teachings of the Spirit scem
‘sithservient. Indeed this is the danger of the doctrine of
supposing feelings supernatural, or the effects-of the Spirit
of God; they are liab qe to be mistaken or confounded. Mr.
‘B Folger s dissatisfaction evidently increased, till the final
‘breakmcr up of the kingdom, of which it was the cause:

‘and, in its progress, produced singular scenes a and curious
eﬁ'ects Of course it'begun in ventlv inurmurs, which grad-
-dally rose to a storm, and even a hurricens; when a calm
would -ensue, to be succeeded by other imurmurs, -storms,
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- and hurricanes: while the terms of peace were often.curi-
ous, and quite characteristic, involving singular violations -
‘of decorum, and curious reasonings and self-deceptions, to- -
reconcile practices even to an altered code of morals. In-
. dulgences were granted t6 Mr. B. Folger by Mrs.. B. Fol-
ger, as the terms of peace; but these will be illustrated as
we progress in this singular narrative. f
In the spring of 1833, the kingdom was increased by
family from Albany. Mr. and Mrs. Thompson, (before
mentioned,) with their young children, joined them, as an
experiment. Mr. Thompson was a combmaker in Albany;
he had seen Matthias there, and knew something of him:
he heard of the wealth of the parties at Sing-Sing through
Matthias' wife, Laisdell, antf the family; and L« hcld
some peculiar notions about the advantages of living in the
country and in families. About March, or soon after Mrs.
Laisdell had returned home, he visited Sing-Sing, and then
made arrangements to bring his family and be admitted
into the kingdom ; he to be employed about the farm, and his
wife in needle-work. We have seen both the husband and
wife, but at different periods, and not in each other’s pre-
sence, but in the presence of other persons. Mr. Thomp-
son does not profess to have believed in the supernatural
character of Matthias; but he had no objection to the prin-
ciple, that heaven should be upon earth, or that men should
be as comfortable as possible; and that large families were,
by united efforts, best calculated to effect that object. He
had no objection to some of the doctrines of Matthias, and
could see no great harm in Matthias holding any curious
notions, provided he was at liberty himself, andy nothing
more required of him but Aearing ; at least, he was willin
to make the trial ; and his wife necessarily came along wi
him, without any particular profession. Mr. Thompson did
not know, at first, the connexion between Matthias and Mrs.
B. Folger, nor that between Mr. B. Folger and Catherine,
when he took his family. He soon, however, made these
discoveries; but at first flattered himself that his wife could
pot see them, and consequently would remgin with a mind
uncontaminated ; and he even reproved her for some obser-
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_yations she made, which raised a suspicion of that kMid.

Thus he’flattered himself on his own shrewdness; widle

she made far greater discoveries than he did; but ptadently

made a timely retreat, after some initiating instruction.

" Mrs. Thompson had all to. learn and much to discover.
She soon perceived that Mrs. B. Folger did not sleep with
her husband : she next observed, that there was but dne
chamber in which she could sleep, unless with Matthias ;
and in'that chamber china was placed on the bed after using;
and she was much struck to find the china appareritly ‘in
the same position on a successive morning. In ordet “to
satisfy herself on this point, this lady, with very natural
curiosity, made an experiment. She placed some pieces: of
china in a particular position on the bed; and then heréu-
riosity was satisfied, by finding, on the following day, those
picces retained precisely the same position. Thus, while
Mr. Thompson was flattering himself on his superior
shrewdness, and was very cunning to keep his wife in the
dark, slc had actually proved what he had only suspécted.
This experiment was, however, wholly unnecessary; the
union of Matthias with Mrs. B. Folger became a subject of
conversation afterward, between the latter and Mrs. Thomip-
son, as Mrs. Thompson says; to her Mrs. B. Folger'ac-
knowledged, that the union was of her seeking—that she
had seen the two volumes of smoke unite in one—that she
had visions, and that God instructed her how to act; agd,
as we before observed, advised Mrs. Thompson to go to the
father (Matthias) for interpretations, if she (Mrs. Thompson)
had visions, dreams, &c. To her Mrs. B. Folger declared
the superior powers of Matthias, and affirmed that there
was no man but him, and that even her husband was not a
man: and such open avowals, based upon divine teachings,
or impressions, admitted, of course, of questions being ask-
ed, and some would very naturally arise. Thus Ms.
Thompson asked, « But when you go to New-York, where
your husband is, do you not sleep with him?’ To this
Question was apswered, “ Yes;” and then a justification, by

. observing thet Benjamin was but a child, he-¢ould ‘dg’ g%f,f

no harm; it was only like a mother sleeping with"¥é#



NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA. 35.

.Th were the subjects of frequent conversations, with sin-

gu arr illiistrations.  “ The Spirit,” she observed, * worked
" Mattlrias, but it did not work with Benjamin” Thug

was Mrs. Thompson being initiated into the whole of" the

mystenos while her husband was arriving at the same in-’

formation by observations, reflections, and more caunous
comnversations with, Mr. Pierson and I\'I‘llthm:

‘We have no acquaintance with these persons, ... uever
saw them before or afterward: they are attached to Mr.
and Mrs. Folger, and only gave us this inforination in con-
versation, as not being bound to secrecy. 'The strength,
then, of this additional testimony is, ia uts perfect accord-
ance with what we before knew; for, as strangers, we could
not have relied cn theirsingle testimony, however respect-
able and artless they mightappear: but as i
was individual, and appncntly disinterestod, with a feeling

in favour cven ofall the parties, including Matthias and’

Mr. and Mrs. Folger, and as that testimony accords with
Isnbella’s, we regard it as geod evidence, from the impossi-
bility of its being otherwise; for amusing or slanderous
falsehoods would not accord with each other.

Soon after Thompson came to Sing-Sing, (h'c believes on
the first Sunday.) he witnessed a cutious jealous fit of Mr.
B. quc., and a singular termination.  Of course we can

* only relate a portion of what took place. Mr. B. FFolger's
discontent, on this oceasion, rose to such a height, that he
denied Matthias’ right to Mrs. Folger, and high words
arid’ angry feelings Tasued: but as Mr. B. Folger had &
legal claim to th\, lady, Matthias could use only spiritual
weapons and he alternately denounced judgments with a
high hand and a strong voice, and appealed to the sympa-
thy of. Mr. B. Folger, “and to his religious faith. The fam-
1ly, it appears, had received anonymous letters, threaten-
ing’ Matthias, and treating him as an impostor ; and Mr. B.
Foloer in his angry moments, applied similar epithets.

ttf*las, in great fury on this occasion, stalked about the
pal ouy, cursing with all his soul; and collecting the vari-

. ﬁr l"lleno\mcmg the most horrid cursas upon their authors,

4ir testimony,

u$ lettérs, and some other documents, thrust them into the
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and then upon Mr. B. Folger and others who had not faith
in his prophetic character; he cursed also the quills, and
goose that supplied the quills for these writings. This
scene, however, thus terminated. '

1t is evident Matthiae could not retain Mrs. B. Folger by
violence, and these paroxysms of passion and curses only
served to subdue the spirit of Mr. B. Folger, and perhaps
allay his passion by the creating of fear, lest he should
really be opposing God’s anointed. Matthias appealed to
his sensibilities and to his own. superior character: and
when all was calm, Matthias solemnly observed, « I grieve
in the spirit for a bosom companion.” Some conversation
then arose with him and Mr. B. Folger about the object;
when Matthias declared, that there was but one person of
sufficient purity of mind for him, or suitable to his charac- -
ter, in fact his match spirit, and that was Mrs. B. Folger.
Matthias added, * You know I havedeclared Ann (Mrs.
B. Folger) to be the Morugr.” To this Mr. B. Folger
replied, * Thy will be done;” and Matthias rejoined, « I
have not found such great faith, no, not in Israel” And
Mrs. B. Folger was thus a second time deliberately given
ap to Matthias by her husband’s consent ; and the covenant
was sealed by the ceremony of washing or baptizing: and
Mr. B. Folger was, on this occasion, solemnly washed, in .
the manner before described, by the conjoint services of
Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger, and this was known to the
.whole household. The washing part is, indeed; the only
_ portion that Isabella has spoken to, as the rest took place
1n the parlour while she was in the kitchen ; but she knew
the rest by report, which accorded with the information we
had received from other sources.

‘While Thompson was there, another occurrence took
place, to which he attaches some importance, but in which
we can see nothing but a good dinner. A fatted calf was
ready for the knife, and Matthias chose to make it a time of
rejoicing and amusement. He called the season a feast,
and Mr. Thompson one of the Levites, and“ordained him
butcher on the occasion. The fatted calf was killed, various.,
Scripture names were given to the parties, and the flesh



‘NARRATIVE OF Tsadyra. B

m in various forms, roast, boited, dnd -stewed, with

suimbe:aocompaniments: and the whole family, including. -

.those:whe worked out of doots, sat down totable, making

more tham twenty.  Of the adalts were Matthias, Mr. Pier-
.son, . Mr. and Mrs. Folger, Mr. and Mrs. Thompson, and - -

Henry, & young Englishman, now in Ohio, and, from his
long residence, acquainted with most of these facts. Cathe-
rine and Isabella were also there ;.the latter taking the head
of the -eéble, next to Matthias, by invitation, as, from acei-
dent, gvery other place was filled before she came to the
table. Of juniors, there were Matthias’ children; Eliza-
beth; . Mr. Pierson’s daughter; - Mr. Folger’s children, Mr.
Thompeon’s children, and. Catherine’s by her late husband.

This feast received a Scriptnral name, but we do not iden: "

tify it with any fixed principle, belief, or practice.
In June, 1834, an event occurred which immediately de-

cided Mr. Thompson on leaving the kingdom, after a so-

journ.of ‘little more than three weeks. Matthias, his son,
and Mr. and Mrs. Folger, were returning to Sing-Sing,

from New York, in their carriage, when an accident oe-

curred, and the carriage broke down, some distance frém
Yonkets. Matthias took advantage of this circumstance,
as he did of most others, to enforce his authority. His son
had:beer appointed driver, but Mr. B. Folger chose to con-
duct the carriage, and was in the act of driving when the

accident occurred; and to this act of disobedience Matthias-
ascribed the mischance. With him every one in the family-
was erdained to some duty or office, and any deviation froigt ~

this. was eonsidered an act of disobedience. We believe he

was yadicious in his appointments, and suited the emplog--

- moent . the person; while he, as the Father, and Mrs.
Flolgae, as the Mother, directed all, and received the homage
dne:teeach.  Matthias, on this accident, was out of temper,

sond asribed it .wholly to a.curse resting on disobedience. -

.Bit he :had other causes of discontent; for this accidont -

ohliged the party to remain at Yonkers, where they put-a

atv M Chiristfield’s store and tavern, who assisted thu:

with their broken carriage, aud engaged to-carry them' fer-

vepddhe noxt'day. The tavernkeeper, knowing the par-
‘ . 4
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ties, provided a double bed for Mr. and Mrs. Felgue;and
_on the same floor provided other beds, for Matthias, Cathe-
rine, and the boy. We have, since then, seen these rooms,
‘and obtained some facts from the landlord. Thue, without-
an open declaration of the peculiar situation of th,e.glma' \
for which, it a;:})ears, they were not prepared, Mr. B. Fol-
ger was obliged to sleep with his wife. We da not know
thut Matthias laid him under any injunction, or heavy -cur-
ses, as we belicve he did on some other occasions, when
under trial of his faith; and when under these circum-
stances, he was permitted to enjoy the presence of his wife
in bed, but denicd the privileges.of a husband, ander the
severest curses which Matthias could bestow, and the fear
of which, he supposed, would destroy passion or. desire in
Mr. B. Folger; from which he then inferred the will of
God, that he, Mr. B. Folger, was not her match spirit.. We
Lelieve this to have been practised, but we do not know the
consequences; Matthias, we suspect, deceived himself. On
this occasion, Mr. B. Folger laboured under no curse;
perbaps he contrived to keep in company till bedtime, an
thus avoided an injunction. Matthias, however, pretended
to have confidence in him, and the purties went to bed as
the Jandlord had arranged. In the morning Matthias cross~
ed the passage, opened the door of Folger's room, and de-
manded if “all was well” Thus much we must have put
up with, had Mrs. Folger held her tongue; but Mrs.
- Thompson relates, that she told the affair to her; and add-
ed, that she felt utterly prostrate in the morning, with no
power to rise or get up, till Matthias assisted her: and we
believe she was going to say, until she was purified or
washed ; but finding that she could not mention the subject
to her own mind, she broke off, declaring it impossible to
explain herself; indeed we found that she had already said
more than we had a right to expect, and her very confusion
looked as if she had been betrayed into the truth. We.
bave since found that Catherine, who slept on the same
floor, and whose curiosity prompted her to make observa-
tions, confirms this testimony. -
The next day.the family set forward in two carrigges:
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‘the'Sibger driven by Mr. Christfield, with Mrs. B. Folger
and Cutlerine in it ; and the other by Mr. B. Folger. Mat- -
thias being out of humour, declined riding, and obstinately-
refused the continded entreaties of Mr. B. Folger; who at
length drove on, and left him on foot, having about eighteen
miles to walk. Mr. Christfield having left the family, re-
turned with the carriage. and met Matthias on his journey,
with whom he conversed some time. And here vee discov-
“er a characteristic trait of Matthias; for he repeated his
tnquiries about the journey, putting the question’ several
times, « Was there no accident ?” which suggested to Mr.
Christfield the idea, that Matthias wotild have béen pleased
if there had.been. This is perfectly characteristic; Mat-
thias’ great influence lay in the heartiness of his curses, and
in his adroitness in interpreting natural or accidental events
as the results of his judgments. While Matthias was at
the tavern, he assumed a superior deportment ; and informed
Mr. Christfield that all was under his direction, and that he
wou!d pay his bill. In the mean time Mr. B. Folger had
‘puid the bill; and this being discharged, Mr. Christfield
was not particularly sympathetic with Matthias' resolutioh
to wallk, . :

On the arrival of the party at Sing-Sing, Matthias’ con-
duct became the subject of conversation to the family, then
sitting down to dinner, and Mr. Pierson immediately des-
patched a man with a horsc to meet him. But Mr.Thomp-
son perceiving no prospect of great comfort from the divi-
sions in the family, and from Matthias’ authoritative, or ra-
ther tyrannical manner, at once resolved to leave the house;
and taking leave of the party, went off; even before Matthias
returned; leaving, however, his wifs, till he ~ould make
arrangements for her removal. The authoritative manner
of Matthias was, ne doubt, a sufficient reason for his remo-
-val, and this he assigned to us; but he had othcr sufficient
reasons, one of which he gave to Isabella when preparing
for his departure: he observed, “ There is too much chang-
ing of wives here; I have a nice little woman, and I should
.mot much like to lose her.” Nor was this said without

- rewsohr: his little wife was looked at, as a victim of love o
R .
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oty By the chief members in the kingdom. Mr. B, ylger
.bad :zuced her significantly; Mrs. B. .Eol.ie: had: ibefruct-
".ed her in some of the mysteries; and Matthias had at least
-attempted to corrupt her mind; while Mr. Pierson had
.some pretensions to her, as he was partly in despair of ob-
- .taining the lady for whom he had so long waiﬁial These
-are rather inferences than facts; but they 'are fair infer-
.ences, -when all the circumstances are known and con-
_sidered.
. Mr. B. Folger had been disappointed in Matthias' daugh-
ter: he was not satisfied with Catherine; and although he
-had twice* given up his wife formally, he never lost his af-
fection for her, nor did she lose her influence over him;
-he was consequently in-a constant state of irritation; for
.while he professed a belief in Matthias’ power, he yet could
not acquiesce in the substitution of a very plain, unpalished
woman, for his fascinating wife. Events, too, turned the
mind of Mr. Pierson on the same subject. He had been
very happy in his marriage; nor could he be revonciled to
the death of his wife, till he was amused with the thought
“of again possessing her spirit in the person of another- and
when there appeared buat litle hope of possessing his first
.object, he became wnsettled, and sometimes even thought
to rival Matthias; and even expressed an opinion that he
ought to have been the Father, and that Mrs. B. Folger
ought to have been his; and in despair of this, iuroed his
_attention to Mis. Thompson, without, perhaps. her know-
.ing.it; for Mr. Pierson was alwuys extremely modest in
-his deportment, and never gave her any offence, but some-
.times paid her little attentions. But this subject was dis-
" cussed with Matthias, especially with Mr. B. Folger; and
-1t was long agitating, whether Mrs. Thompson should be
.given up to Mr. Pierson, or to Mr. B. Folger; and this
-was only prevented by her timely removal, at her wish,
when she became acquainted with some of these facts, [t is
. true that we should not present this subject to the public as
*facts, on the evidence we possess in relation to any other set
-of people, nor should we believe it of other people; but
there is no reqson for disbelieving it, in relation to these
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oms, for it is consistent with their former and after cop-
and of which we have positive proof; and we ventuge
to say, could we see Mr. Pierson’s diary, it would contain
evidence of what we have now asserted. - This diary has
been denied us, while it has been the subject of converss-
tion, and much stranger things have thus been revealed
from that source. S

‘In additioa’ to the testimony_ of Isabella on this.swbject,
we get at the following facts:—Mr. Thompson related to
us the doctrine of Matthias on the subject of mu:riage; and
their effects, as extremely artful, based on apparently lofty
morals and high pretensions to superior power and divine
wisdom ;. but, in their progress, calculated to overcome the
barriers to female purity, which might be abused at any
time. There is no proof of Matthias’ incontinence to Mrs.
B. Folger, but his opinions might be applied to a commu-
nity of females, if he had chosen, after the manner of Ma-
- homet. He then mentioned, that Matthias had thus attempt-
ed to overcome the modesty of his wife; who berself told
us, that she bad objected to any bathing ceremony: but
Matthias, in talking to her on this subject, had reproved her
for her pride, obstinacy, and impropcr thoughts; he said
to her, “« You have a little devil about you, which I shall
sometime see, in spite of your present pride.”” And this
ber husband interprets as referring to the exposure of her
person. And yct hethen entertained considerable respect
for Matthias, at least no ill-will; and hoped, in treating on
the account of the kingdom, that we should not be too se-
vere on the o/d man, as he did not think him worse than
ethers in the kingdom. '

Mr. Thompson, it will be observed, went away from Sing-
8ing, partly on suspicions of this sort, but left his wife tll
he could make arrangements for her departure. Previous
to her husband's reso%ution she had reason to suspect some
such design ; but as the approaches were gradual, and the
language doubtful, there was an uncertainty as to the inten-
tion of the party. Mrs. Thompson then informed us, that
Mr. B. Folger would sometimes walk under the portice in
frorg of thie house with Matthias, and vent his dissppoint

‘. . .
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ment that he had given up his wife, and had- oo . smitabls
mateh spirit, for he could not be content with.Catieerine.:
and Matthias would comfort him, urge him to patience, and
sssure him that God would provide a match spirit foz -him;
and on one occasion assured him, that perhaps that very
house contained such a match spirit. He frequently re-
peated, that Elizabeth (Mrs. Thompson’s nanfe) amd Benja-
min were Scripture names, and indicated a likeness. of spi-
rit. And these conversations, part of which were frequently
-heard, she understood as referring to her. And after her
“husband’s departure, the doors were locked and bolted, at
perfect variance with Matthias' former doctrines, which de-
ised locks and bolts; and, in explanation, Matthias ob-
served, « If I have a tender lamb, and I see a wolf coming
to take it, shall I not take care of her?” This, too, Mrs.
Thompson understood as referring to her; but the bolts
might also have reference to his unpopularity in Sing-Sing.
Matthias also distinctly told her, that her husband was_not
her match spirit. Now this lady may have heen mistaken
in some of her conclusions, but she could not be in others.
On’ her husband’s return, she immediately acquainted him
_ with her suspicions, and he removed her as soon as pos-
sible. . :
- Our explanation of this strange affair is this. Matthias
“had taken Mrs. B. Folger, at her will, for his own pleasure.
To justify this he was obliged to enforce and enlarge upon
-his former doctrines, of the marriage of devils, match apirits,
“&ec. His doctrine of heaven upon earth led to personal en-
joyments, which, in the weak and perverted minds of some
of the establishment, led to voluptuousness, as yielding the
" greatest-enjoyment, and hence a gross sensuality pervaded
the whole establishment. Mr. Pierson was disappointed ;
*4nd Mr. B. Folger clamorous—decejved in obtaining a plain
“widow,; instead of a beautiful virgin, and impatient-at his
dieappointment. Matthias was led to adopt any measures
to'éatréfy - the parties; and like many others; only songht
how to get out of present difficulties, even at the risk of
‘ofiets.  But let the interpretation be what it will the fadts
fenuie- wonltersd; and ‘may. be relied on, that Mixthisr was
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poadering upon the propriety of inducing Mrs. Thompsou.
to give herself up to either Mr. Pierson or Mr. B. Folger,
with whom conferences were held on the subject; and, as
we before observed, we venture to say, that Mr. Pierson’s
diary will contain evidence of this. ‘The other facts, what-
ever conclusions may be drawn from them, may be equally
relied on; and therefore our conclusion, if not correct, s
at least according to evidence, in the circumstances. of the
Srty; but every reader will, of course, draw his own con-
usion. :

Nova,—When Mrs. Thompson was preparing to leave Slni , Mrs. B. Fol-
ger, aware that she carried with her some secrets of the ~mﬂm, whieh it
whe was not desirous should be made public, said to ber, amongat other ,
& Well, you are going to leave us ; now what can you say you ave seea
hon!momnotuym ve seen me sleeping with Father Matthias, can
ou ¥’ Fo which Mrs.Thompson says she replied, *“ No, ma’am, | canngt say
ever saw you sleeping together; I have only seen you in Mastthias’ roppn in
your and with your shoes and stockings off.””

\
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CHAPTER IIL .

Myr. Humle 'ymc, and account of the business transactions ¢f Bfs.
Piereon and Mr. B. H. Folger—Land speculations—Mr. Picrson’s
ourious manner of doing business— Globe stove factory; causes
lose—Magnificent :cheme of a T'emple—Mr. Flolger's jealou ]
resolution—Sin r dialogue and uproar in the Idngdom——grm-
lution of Mr. Folger, indulged by Mrs. Folger— The village #h com-
motion—Matthias shaved—Nirs. Folger's distress—Malthias driven
Jrom Sing-Sing—Mr. Picrson’s prelensions to be the Father—Mrs.

Folger rejoins ias in New York; her anzicty about him ; with
duls' with a supposed holy son ; pretensions lo be j':ccd JSrom sickness
——Mam;emen! of the property in the kingdom—Strange infatuation -
Mr. Pierson and Mr. Folger relative to Mr. Hunt's clayms—Mr.
referred to Matthias about his claims—forces a setticwient by a
suit at law—Mr. Hunt applied to, to vrite for Mr. B. Folger, beforc
Col. Stons—Mr. Hunt’s opinions of the parties and circamsiances.

WLk the events which we have been relating were in
progress, there were others of a distinct nature, contemporary,
which we have not mentioned, because they were princi-
pally unconnected with the events we have related; and
their introduction wwuld have spoiled the unity of those
transactions which bore upon each other. We must now,

. however, introduce another person, and with him the his-
tory of his connexion with Matthias, Mr. Pierson, and Mr.
B. Folger. ‘ :

In pages 247, 8, 9, of Mr. Stone's book we find the fol-
lowing:

“ There is no doubt of the fact, that there were a set of
thorough-bred knaves hanging about the skirts of Pierson
and Folger, more especially the former; a knot of harpies,

. who, availing themselves of the delusion by which those
gentlemen were blinded, sported with their credulity, under
pretext of joining the association, but in reality to plunder
them of their property. Such an impression has long been
entertained by those conversant with their pecuniary con-
eerns; and when circumstances previously known are com-
ﬁed with some of the private but imperfect memoranda

by Mr. Pierson, the proof is as clear as cowld be de-
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+ sizggd, that there waa indeed a combination of robbers: w

" plumdered. them, though the evidence is not exactly sgchl;?;.
- cagn bring, home the facts, in a legal form, to a court and
jury. The loose papers, just referred to, contain various
-entries of moneys advanced, or rather given, to these people.
“Fo one individual, on a certain occasion, he gave the sum
of one thousand dollars, by direction, as he supposed, of the
Holy Spirit, and with a promise, from the same source,
that he should receive thrgefold in return. Pierson and
Folger were' likewise inveigled into various unfortunate
speculations in patented inventions, by which many sums
of money were lost. What some of these unlucky adven-
tures were, the reader will discover by the following ; rayer,
taken from the papers of the former:— .

. “*Noo. 12th, 1833. Spirit of Truth! guide us into.the
right way concerning the globe stove, self-loading cart, and
planing machine. Manifest thy’ mind concerning these
things, that we may know and do thy pleasure.

« T ask that the evil spirits may have no power to hinder
the successful and beneficial operation of these things.

«¢Q Lord God! let not the enemies:triumph over us, but
send help, such as is needed. = - .

“«We [I] consecrate the gain to the building of thy king- -
dom. Now, Lord God, hear this my prayer.’

«They likewise embarked, to a considerable extent, in
speculations of real estate—always under the direction of -
the Holy Spirit—Mr. Pierson having the vision, and Mr.
Folger making the purchases and sales. These were not
all unsuccessful, but no very great profits were realized.
And even had there been, the avails would have been swal-
lowed up in the stock eperations which Mr. Pierson sup-

he was making by the same Divine direction. The
following is a copy of one of his spiritual missives, to Mr:
‘Folger, to purchase stock:—

««June 3, 1833. Wrote to B. H. Folger: Now is the
accepted time; buy three hundred shares. Let it be left
with thee to sell, and I will direct. More than ten will be
obtained for it. Cost, 105 per cent.’”

. Nowa Mr. Hunt, the inventor of the globe staves, con
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siders hiimself as one of the persons alluded to in the abovs
paragraph’; ‘and alluded to in such a manner, that while
1t serves as an accusation, understood by him and his friends;
he is not named or mentioned in any way which makes the
author of the allusion responsible. This 1s cowardly, mean,
a stab in the dark. It was this trait in Mr. Stone’s book
which first arrested our attention, and determined us to re-
ply toit, could we get at the facts. And what dependance
18 to be placed on such allusions may be judged by the in-
famous attack on the Mrs. *** and tgxe exposure which we
gave of that in the first part. T -

‘We are not about to deny allegations made in relation to
persons whom we have not seen or known, and concerning
which we have never examined. Some allusions may re-
fer to facts, which could be established ; but then, we think,
these facts ought to be stated, in relation to such individuals,
leaving the public to draw such conclusions as the facts jus-
tify. . Instead of which, we find the basest charges hrought
in the meanest manner ; and in the cases we have examined,
these charges have been vicious, or designing. ‘

Wo have seen Mr. Hunt; he has put into our hands pa-
pers prepared for a court of law; he has given us every
iniformation we sought, and candidly answered every ques-
tion, and explained every matter apparently doubtful, and
challenges even public exposure, without reserve: and as
we have followed up his references, through the most re-
spectable sources, we get at what we believe the truth,

Though Mr. Pierson had left business, and was very de-
.girous of becoming a minister of religion, and, as such, was
a close student, especially of his Bible; and although he
was successively engaged with various institutions, and

rticularly the Magda%ene scheme, which he first estab-
ished, and to whom it was finally given up, after the pub-
lic testimony and the publication of the celebrated: report.
Although he was thus busy in collecting inmates for that
institution, managing it, and forming a church, and after-
ward so closely engaged with Matthias, he was, neverthe-
lees, engaged. 1n speculations, and had a particular inclina:
tion for machinery and patent-rights. With this object in



NARRATIVE OF ISABRLLA. - w

view he obtained an interview with Mr.' Hunt, (mentionsd
above,) in 1832, through a disciple of M. Pierson, whose
name. hag not appeared, because he was not connected with
Matthias; and by Mr. Pierson Mr. Hunt was introduced to
Mr. B. H. Folger. Soon after the first introduction, Mr.
Pierson informed that gentleman that he had considerable
suins of money at command, which he would like to invest
in machinery and patents; and wished Mr. Hunt, whom
he regarded as a mechanical genius, to direct him in the
disposal of his money, and urged himn to commence some
operations. 'This gentleman, awarc of the uncertainty of
mechanical operations, dissuaded him from this -purpose, -
and advised a speculation in lots in the upper wards.” With
much difficulty Mr. Hunt succeeded, and introduced Mr.
Hiram Parker to Mr. Pierson, a respectable land agent in
the 6th and 3d Avenues. Wc happened to be known to°
Mr. Huat, and we knew Mr. Parker; the former sought
us out, and we sought out the latter: and thus we have
seen both the gentlemen separately, and obtained from them
a correct account. '

It appears that speculations in land, to the amount of
fifty thousand dollars, were entered into by these gentlemen.
The land was bought principally by Mr. Parker, assisted
by Mr. Hunt. These purchases were made in the name
of B. H. Folger, but chiefly with Mr. Pierson’s money, as
Mr. Parker supposes. The fact is, that Mr. Pierson would
not suffer his name to be used in any way connectéd with
either manufactories or speculations ; but he was regularly
consulted, and appeared the principal in the transactions.
We believe his reason for not putting his name to these
secular transactions was, that he wished, as before express-
ed, to be a minister, and supposed these business and spec-
ulating concerns would injure his claims to the ministry, *
Mr. Parker and Mr. Hunt were to have a small share of
the profits, if any, for their agency, but supplied no capital.
Matthias, it appears, objected to the appropriation of this
money in the purchase of land—he called it buying his
mwother—and he had then much influence over Mr. Pier
son.. Matthias preached that the whole earth was theim,
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nd wonld he in their possession.when. the kingdeiwas
.cﬂ:glyletg.: and on this hint Mr. Hunt, who was not'a dis-
£ipls, urged that there could be no impropriety in their.ob-
gmmg & portion of it now an opportunity offered ; amd: this,
r the time, obtained bath his and Mr. Pierson’s consent.
But Matthias’ objections were renewed ; and taking advan-
tage of opportunities, under the direction of Mr. Parker,
those Jots were finally resold, and the accounts.closed, at a
profit of about eight thousand We have this from Mr.
Parker, who very candidly gave us every information; and
not knowing that we knew Mr. Hunt, referred to him for
farther information : and thus we-obtained a correboration
of Mr. Hunt's statements. .
Mr. Parker is now in occasional intercourse with Mr.
B. H. Folger; of him he remarks, that, as far as the trans-
actions with Aim, on which he lays emphasis, he has been
always honourable: he also considers Mr. Pierson and Mt.
Hunt, particularly, honourable in all their transactions.
_ On 1nquiry, we found that the money actually paid:down
on the various purchases was a very considerable propos
tjon of the whole; in some cases haif, but in many two
thirds. Mr. Pierson, however, was not satisfied with these
speculations ; and, even before they were closed, urged Mr.
Hunt to commence the manufacture of his globe stoves, in
~ partnership, desiring also to buy the patent-right. At his
entreaty .Mr. Hunt commenced a manufacture, in partnesr-
ship with Mr. Pierson, and afterward with Mr. H. Folger.
Here agein Mr. Piersonand Mr. B. H. Folger were to find
capital. Mr. Hunt was to take up what money he wanted
for the manufactory, and monthly settlements were to be
made. But Mr. Pierson, from the motive before noticed,
would ot suffer. his name to appear; and therefare leat
Mr. Hant the money, from time to time, taking his acknow-
ledgments regularly for so much money.lent, The fact is,
a clergyman, (the character to which Mr. Pierson aspired,)
‘might lend money, when he could. not appear as s .masia-
facturer, according to prevailing usages. Ther:‘;m _
- et payeh inconvenience in this at first, as.ithe
were . moonthly, when the disbursementsgancelled ‘the smr
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~ismowiedgments, but it aflerward proved a ey sitidus
~owil. -'Mr.-Hunt was engagedin.this factory wien Matthina: -
was in- Clarkson-street: and when Mr. Pierson, for &'die,
- banished him, perhaps merely bocause he stood in his-wsy
.of preaching, (1n which Mr. Pierson was very fond,) w#to
?rral appears to have happened; he then permitted Mr.
. Hunt to give him small supplies, from to time, but stoppéed
this regular allowance. L
Here we may notice, and we learned it both from Mr.
Pasker and Mr. Hunt, that Matthias recovered his inflaence
in a very characteristic way. ‘Mr. Pierson.was taken ill,"
‘which afterward terminated in his being subject to fits.4—
‘While sick, he sent for Matthias ; to which Matthias, though
then on very short and precarious allowance, and mush
distressed, haughtily answered, there was no necessity for
his coming ; that if he, Pierson, hiad faith in him, he would
get better ; if not, he would die. Mr. Pierson had faith,
.and did get better. Matthias then returned in triumph, and
referred to his sickness as a judgment onr his late conduct,
and his recovery as the effect of his power.  From. that
period Matthias ruled in his house. But Matthias informed
us that he had not the charge of the accounts, or the man-
agement of the large sums, such as were required for the
transuetions we have recently referred to. He said,that.at -
the time of his difference, Mr. Pierson assumed to:be the-
Father, and gave to Mr. B. H. Folger the charge-of- the
aceounts at that time, with whom they continued -til ‘his

In the hands of this partnership the globe stove -was net

successful ; but it is now in'successful operation, but out of -

the hands of Mr. Hunt; and hence we conclude that the
imvention was good. Mr. Hunt gives the following rea-
soms for the globe stove failure while he was connected
with it. ‘His partners were #o¢ mechanics, but had equd]
inflaenge with him in the shop: the consequence was, that -
/Y. improvements were suggested, and money foelishly
: in experiments. Mr. Pierson called this-stove,
2 -his-canfidence in it, the « Ne plus ulira kingdommsews”
s fsted sthe price of it as. not lessthan $70 or §75, Meadly -
5 T

ter b gy
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.«gwble its average. value. And as the improvements. wete
.ot .u'mm the stove was begun, .customers were
Lamformed that they might return their purchased steves at
~amy foture period, to have the improvements added. ~ The
‘+ - consequence was, that they had their shop full of old stoves,
*. some of which were not fit to reccive any alteration. This
"+ wag, in fact, an illustration of the old proverb about *too
 many cooks,” &c. But the greatest cause of less arose
- “froa Mr. Pierson taking a foundry at Waterford, above
- &ludson, on the North river, while Mr. Hunt and the factory
‘svere in Greenwich. The inconvenience of this was pointed’
- out by Mr. Hunt, but overruled by his partners. Thecon
' -sequence was, an enormous loss, as no errors could be
= : voally remedied at that distance, and bad castings accuma-
Wed; which, at last, was remedied by Mr. Hunt’s presence;
" 1thus carrying, in part, the factory to-the foundry... A per-
_30n, teo, mamed Doyle, employed when Mr. Humt was ill
"zand abescnt, tried experiments, lost considerable, and then
. vetwred to the old methods. We can easily conceive, as
- :there was no want of capital at first, and as the stove was
" idegun before the plans were completed, urged on Mr.
- Pierson, and as their sale was impeded by an overcharge,
* :- and a&s there would be orders and counter orders, with equal
“power, and different opinions—we can easily conceive of the
~ want of success in the first instance, and of its final suocess,
_»-mow they have profited bﬁ‘; experience.
" ", ..’After a lapse of time, for some reason, which Mr. Hunt
~does not suppose was the want of money, the monthly set-
* .tlements were not made by Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. H. Fol-
“ger; and the supplies were given niggardly, and often so
‘" as to increase the difficulties'and final expense: and every
) lication to obtain a settlement, by Mr. Hunt, was pat
' ~-:’I)?till his acknowledgments, in the hands of Mr. Pierson,
“i.became large, and to him alarming, as they stood as bor-
_-zowed money, which, in case of Mr. Pierson’s death, m
" ‘appear against him. As the active partner, he was enti
" %e ¥emunmeration for his services, besides expenditures.—
“When, too, the supplies were i lar, and & great loss
" «sivould occur by stopping the manufactory, l\emm

U
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to raise funds elsewhere, from week to week, expeum«
settlement, according to the terms. We think it likely
Mr. Folger began to feel a deficiency of money, as he aftes:-
ward became embarrassed, and therefore cut off the supply- -
from this unprofitable business, and deferred a settlement -
from' nec'asit{. But in thé midst of this a curious event
occurred, highly characteristic, which nfarks the folly ox-
madness of the party. : o L
Mr. Pierson, it appears, had intended the profits of this

globe stove manufactory to be applied to the building of o .. -

magnificent temple, suitable to the future splendour of the -

kingdom ; that is; what it was going to be: but althoughr - _
this concern was rather a loss than a profit, this object was

seriously proposed; and Mr. Hunt conceives, that their noy

settling with him was possibly connected with a desire tor-
command his services in this scheme, as they had great-
faith in his knowledge as a mechanic; at least thus much.
is true, :

Mr. Pierson had now removed to Sing-Sing, in 1834 ;
and by what took place on the subject we are about to relate;
it was after the period of Mrs. B. H. Folger's union with-
Matthias, when one day Mr. Hunt received a pressing m-
witation to come to Mount Zion, Sing-Sing. He had some
idea of the subject from previous hints. This subject he-
would gladly have evaded ; but as he wanted a settlenrent,
he thought he might promote that object by going; and be -
therefore went, and was met at the landing-place by Mat-
thias and the carriage, in which he was driven to the house,
Mount Zion. On entering which, and addressiny Mrs. B .
H. Folger as such, Matthias corrected Mr. Hunt, and in--
formed him that that lady was not called Mris. Folger, bin
Mothker. This was acquiesced in by Mr. Hunt, who ent
wanted a settlement. He then had a private interview witl
Mr. Pierson and Matthias; when the latter, assuming a
smiling countenance, expressive also of doubt, as if whae
he was about to say would be received as folly, remarked
to Mr. Pierson, “Shall 1?” to which the other gave haa
assent. When Matthias, resuming his gravity, began te.
state to Mr, Hunt, that zhey, Pierson and Matthias, had.semt ~
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for. him,. to induce him to assist-them m.huldphg %
o sather twelve temples, forming one great w oﬂ;, which
should, in splendour and magnitude, when finished,, exceed
that of Solomon’s. Mr. Hunt received the proposition with
due gravily ; as he wanted a settlement and not to offend
them. And afler receiving various compliments upon his
mechanical genius, and pressing invitations to join tE: king-
dom, he begged to take time to consider the proposition,
and then hinted at the settlement; but Mr. Pierson was
now wholly engrossed on this temple building, and could
attend to nothing else: he left, therefore, without effecting
any thing for himself or then.. :

Now this temple schemne supposes an extra degree of
madness, if the parties were really so short of money. As
the scheme was one of Matthias', in which Mr. Pierson
entered with all his soul, Mr. B. H. Folger must also have
been privy to it, as one in the kingdom. It was calculated,
howe er. to have a curious effect on Mr. Hunt; he could
not conceive that there could be a deficiency of money for
his settlement, or for carrying on the factory; and as such,
it was well adapted to malie him submit to the delay he
experienced iu getting a settlement, howcever siugular he
might think it. The factory, therefore, went on as well ag
he could make it, with partial supplies and all the difficul-
ties stated; and at every opportunity seeking a scttlement,
sometimes from Mr. B. H. Folger, and then from Mr. Pier-
son, -and by both put off: indeed, the longer it ran the more.
difficult a settlement became, and new reasons could be
given for deferring it. .

. We are now approaching the period we left off'at in the
last chapter; and as Mr. Hunt had something to do with
the next sipgular trausaction in the kingdom, we chose to
introduce him, as we have done, in connexion with the prop-
erty of, Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. H. Folger. We shall
now, therefore, resume the proceedings which properly be-

- long to the kingdom, or which arose out of the religious

doctrines of Matthias.or Mr. Pierson; and these might be
called. spiritual, in distinction to the. secular transactions,
lasely. mentioned, if they were of a less gross nature.
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Mr. B. Folger's discontent was not remedied s:i'the de=-
perture of Mrs. Thompson, (whose account closed the last
chapter,) ot the recent formal, second delivery of hisgwife -
into the arms of Matthias: his dissatisfaction evidgntly T~
creased ; and if he had not' resolution, or stréength of mjnd..
to renounce the faith of Matthias, and take his wife, to &hom
he was yet attached, yet he had frequently courage to go
half way, and deny her to Matthias. The barrier which’
he met was in his wife’s affection for this latter, and the-
contempt in which she apparently held his physieal powers:.
In this case a sort of middle course was observed : he, Mr..
B. Folger, denied by his wife, denied her to Matthias, as-
he had the legul right: she, so situated, slept, when. in.
Sing-Sing, in the north wing; but, as may easily be sup~
posed, she left her chamber frequently in the night, or morn~
ing, for Matthias’ room ; believing him to be her proper
spouse, or matched spirit. The discontent of Mr..B. Folger -
continuing, he not only gave vent to it within the kingdom, _

but complained also to his friends, of the intrusion of Mat- -
thias, without explaining his exact situation; and. these -°

generally supposed that Matthias had obtained that sorx.

of influence over Mr. B. H. Folger which clergymen oftem .

obtain over females. Bat it was not then generally .sup-

posed that he had given up his wife. Besides, he was va- -
cillating—one day a sincere believer in Matthias, and ano- ...

ther, did not scruple to suspect him an impostor. Perhaps,
as Voltaire says of courage, it depended a good deal on his
physical state, and he believed or disbelicved according as
his passions or desires prevailed or subsided. His friends.

about this time, took a good deal of interest in his case, amE .

advised him to get rid of Matthias.

On 8unday, June:Ist, Mr. Stone relates, (page 189 of his
book, that Mr. B. Folger remained in New York, muehk -
agitated about Marthias’ doctrines, (we think it would be-
nearer truth if he said, bis wife,) that he attended the Rex..
Mr. Duboise, in Franklin-street, and sat in his thother-im~
law's pew; and was there so much affected that he wept.
That 'in the afternoon he attended” Mr. White's church,.
Allen-street ; and that, on the following morning, he wems _

s* ’

~
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to Bing-8ing, determined ta withdraw his faxily fromy there.
Then follows a description of what took place at Sing-Sing,
and the consequences: but as his account is extremely gar-
bled, and as proceeding from the pen of Mr. or Mrs. Fol-
ger, actdrs in the scenes, and consequently interested, we
shall prefer giving our own narrative, which we have ob-
tgined ‘from Isabella, corroborated, in various parts, by
others.

The going to church part is, we believe, correct; and it
is equalfy correct that, at this time, Mr. B. Folger's discon-
tent, assisted by the advice of friends, had worked him up
to the purpose stated in Mr. Stone’s book : but the person
who chieily influenced him at this time was Mr. Hunt, his
partner in the globe stove manufacture, whom we have just
mtroduced ; and who walked about Greenwich with him,
for about four hours, urging him to this step, and at last
obtained his consent. It was to this gentleman, and at this
time, that Mr. B. Folger made the exclamation, * If Mat-
thias is not true, I am a ruined man!” This gentleman
ﬁrevailed with Mr. B. Folger, and he determined to remove

is family from Sing-Sing. Mr. B. Folger mentioned his
purpose to Mr. Whiting, in Canal-street, and also, we be-
lieve, to others in New York: and when he got down to
8Sing-Sing, he mentioned his purpose to several of his friegds
there, and fortified himself for the encounter by some pota-
tions of liquor. These friends all encouraged him in his
object, and offered their assistance. .

‘Being thus determined, he proceeded to his house; and
meeting his wife in the entry, the following is part of the
scene which occurred, on Monday, June 2d, 1834:—

He caught hold of her, and exclaimed, “I am glad to
meet you!—You are my wife, and I am going to take you
and my children away;’ when the following dialogue
ensued :\— ) . )

Mys. B. Folger. + Benjamin, behave yourself” (Here
Matthias came forward from a room, and put out his hand,
which was declined.) . o

4thias., “ Behave yourself” ce e
. B. Folger. « You're a d-—d impestoi !—I will have.
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yoR-0ahof this house—put. you wheze: e will. aet he-heasds
or seen.”- (With several other gimilar expressions.), .

Mrs. Folger. «1 am not your wife!—Bechave yourseif!”
(Az Mr. B. H. -Folger now grew more angry, indeed furi-
ous, Mrs. B. Folger took shelter partly behind Matthias;
who, in front, thus appealed to Mr. B. Folger,)

Maithias. 1 nevor courted her favour, nor ever asked
you for her; but yon came and gave her up to me, in the
name of Disbrow; and you actually told me, she was not
your wife, but that she was mine.” (At this period Mr.
Pierson and Edward Folger, about ten years old, son of
Mr. B. H. Folger, came in from the garden, where they
had been cutting weeds.) .

Mr. B. Folger. (Catching at the knife in the hand of
his son.) “D—n you, I'll stab you!” (Edward here
throws away the knife. By this time the party had moved
or shuffled into the parlour; and Mr. B. Folger, rushing
towards the poker, exclaims) « I'll split your brains out!”
(The poker was removed, and Mr. B. Folger rushes from
point to point, to seize some offensive weapon—all the king-
dom present, and in confusion, each removing every kind
of offensive instrument. The knives were thrown, partly
into the cellar and partly into the garden, and other instru-
ments were scattered about; and some of the knives lay
three weeks in the garden. Mr. B. Folger at length ob-
tained a -broom, anga menaced Matthias, who still kept in -
front of Mrs. Folger; or, rather, she kept behind him. The
broom was wrested from Mr. Folger; and then, summoning
all his strength, he at length seized Matthias and threw him
on the »ofa, evidently much alarmed, Matthias, with an
effort, freed himself from his antagonist, and rushed towards.
the door, entangled with Mr. B. Folger; whom Isabella,
the coloured woman, seized by the arms, and held him.
against the door. Mr. B. Folger's strength was.now ex-
bausted—he shook like a leaf, and stared wild—when Mat-
thias returned with a gword, and drew it. Mr. B. Folger
exclaimed) “ Isabella, Ingbella, go down in the kixhend”

Isabella. “1 bave never done you any mischief” (Hers -
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Matthias swung his sword about, and with characterissic-
solemnity, thus cxclaimed,) .

Matthias. + Let that spirit be destroyed " (8till swing-
ing the sword and repeating the words.) The spirit, how-
ever, did not obey him just then; and Mr. Pierson iater-
fered, with a mih{ and slow speech. . :

Pierson. * Now, Benjamin, let me have a private inter-
view with you."”

Myr. B. Folger. “ Pierson, when you told me that the
Lord told you, not to let Matthias have any more money,
that was a true spirit: Why don’t you stick to that?” (M{
B. Folger's strength was now expended, but not his pas-
sion, and he still determined upon his purpose; and for-
that end said to his wife) “ Fix yourself to go with me.”

Mrs. B. Folger. * Benjamin, I will not.”

Much more occurred, in the same spirit; but Mr. B.
Folger still insisted on his wife's leaving ; and telling her-
he was going to get a wagon and a carriage, desired her
again to fix herself, and lefl the house, still in his passion,.
to go up to Sing-Sing, for the purpose mentioned : and here,
it appears, he repeated his grievances to several friends.—
He procured a wagon, and directed the landlord to for-
ward a coach to fetch his family.

In Mr. B. Folger's absence, Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger
gat in each other’'sarms on the sofa, lamenting the events ot
that day, and devising the best means of defence; while:
Isabella forwarded dinner, and the rest of the family con- -
tributed to the restoration of order. But curiosity prompted
Isabella occasionally to observe the conduct of the princi-
pals in the kingdom. + And when Mr. B. Folger returned, -
which he soon did, with the wagon, Mrs. B. Folger re-
tired to one end of the sofa, leaving Matthias in-the middle :.
in the mean time dinner was prepared. On the entry of
Mr. B. Folger he was more calm, but apparently deter-
mined ; and he took a ¢hair near them, and the dialogue
recommenced.

Mr. B. Folger. Now, Ann, I want you to go. Come,
fix yonrself,
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Mrn B. Folger. Now, Benjamin, eat something, and I ..
w%ﬁl ou what I will do, L X
7. B. Folger. 'Won't you come with me at all ?

Mis. B: Folger. Stop a bit, and Twill tell you. .

.Afier mauch more persuasion and evasions, the family sat
dawn to dinner, and soon after Mr. B. Folger joined the.
table: in fact, he was evidently foiled, and his resolution,
- perhaps, began to waver; and after dinner he submitted to
discussion. But this quarrel closed in a characteristic way.
Mrs. B. Folger led off Mr. B. Folger into the north wing,
calmly to discuss the matter, and arrange affairs privately.
This was the chamber into which she and Matthias had
retired when she first announced her husband’s cc-ent to
their union, as match spirits. It was used, it will ue recor-
lected, as the bathing-room, and as the children’s bedroom;
in this room, too, Mrs. Folger sometimes slept. What weres
the arguments used on this occasion, or what were the
means of persuasion, (for the interview was strictly private,)
we know not: they must, however, have been extremely’
soothing ; and if not gratifying, at least satisfying to Mr. B.
Folger, for he came out like a tamed elephant, with all his
passions subdued ; affording the strongest proof of his irre-
solution, and of her influence over him. Whether this
magic spell was the effect of favours granted, and promises -
made, or of religious instruction, we know. not, but he now
professed to have been in the wrong. He renewed his
faith in Matthias; and, conscious that he had raised a storm-
in the village, which might not be easily laid, he desired to
go into Sing-Sing, and quiet, if possible, the feelings he had
excited against Matthias. He then dismissed the carriages,
and went immediately on this new mission. And now,
after many hours' ferment, there was a calm in the king-
dom; but of short duration, for other troubles, anticipated
-indeed, were just at the threshold.

On Mr. B: Folger’s arrival at the village, he observed
his assembled friends, who were waiting to hear, that he
had either turned out Maithias, or that he had brought
away his family ; but when Mr. B. Folger informed them,.
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that he mast bave been mistaken, and that he then beliévisd .
Matthias a good man and true prophet, the{omld not sup-"
press their astonishment: and however he might have
changed his opinions, his friends retaiued theirs, and avow-
ed their determination to expel Matthias from the village, .
with or without Mr. Folger's consent. When, therefore,
Mr. Folger returned, he was followed by some ofthe people.
: And soon after he entered his house, several -of his friends
came to offer their services and give advice. Mr. Folger
begged them to retire, declared he had no complaint, that
he must have been deceived, and urged them, as his friends,
to leave him alone. Still the people increased in numbers ;
and if night had not kindly come to their relief, the mob
would possibly have proceeded to some violence, as it was'
with much reluctance they retired. Maltthias slept that -
night with Mrs, B. Folger; but, in her night-dress, leaving
Matthias in bed, she visited her husband in his chamber, in
the morning. ' :

On that morning the sun.arose as usual, and so did the
people ; and a few ominous stragglers, and impertinent bo

e their appearance about the house. Mr. B. Folger,:

who knew the irritated state of the public feeling, again
proposed going into the village to attempt to allay it, and
set off for that purpose. But on entering the vi?!age. he
found so high an excitement against Matthias, that though
he proclaimed, as before, that he was mistaken in his for- -
mer accusations, yet he had no hopes of allaying the strong
feelings against Matthias. And doubting the safety of the
prophet, he procured a coach, with the intention of advising
the Father to retire from what evidently appeared an ap-
%roaching storm. The carriage, therefore, was driven to

ion Hill, and Matthias acquainted with the state of things,
who himself thought it prudent to retire; and in much sor-
row, especially to Mrs. B, Folger, the members of the king- -
dom began to prepare his baggage. But by thistime (now
about noon) the crowd had increased. The hill which over-
looked the house was capped with spectators, expecting
some movement; the road and lane leading to the house
‘was crowded ; the fences invaded, and the trees climbed
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by ﬁt'boya. who hung on the boughs, as a bad substitute

it; and it was now thought dangerous for Matthias
to appear in the crowd. In this dilemma, providence seemed
!;)e.c:&ztrive a way for his safety, but at the expense of Mis

- A wag of a fellow, known by the name of .E t
to cut off th:’md

" . "Taylor, undertook, for a sum of money,
of &n

tthias, and bring it to-the tavern. For this purpose

"he drove up to Zion Hill; and assuming to bo a constable,
- and pretending to have a writ, he demanded that Matthias
- should be surrendered to him: but intimated, that it' would

. .be_ extremely dangerous for him to go to Sing-Sing, and

. ‘through such an .enraged crowd, with his beard on, and
. advised- him to have it cut off, or let him cut it oiff. Mat-

thias believed he had a writ, and took ten minutes to con-

. sidef his advice; at the expiration of which he wisely de-
. termined to sacrifice his beard, for the preservation of his
. head or body, and himself began to cut it off; but not ma-

king much progress, he sought the assistance of Mrs. B.

-.Folger, and these two, with much mutual condolence, ef-

fected this object; while Catherine received the locks in
her apron, and Mr. Pierson kept Elephant Taylor in con:
versation. Isabella seeing the beard off, hurried Catherine
into the kitchen, and, without instruction or advice, rolled

-.up the precious relic, and stuffed it under the kitchen car-

t, as a prize, which she suspected Mrs. B. Folger would

. like to retain.

Thus altered in his appearance, Matthias entered" the car-
riage, and with him Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. Folger, as
part of the kingdom, and thus set off for the village, Ele-
phant T'aylor bringing up the rear in his old wagon. The
people were ignorant of this measure, and were consequent]
con?ounded, especially as Pierson wore a beard. Some fol-
lowed the carriage, some staid behind, some said.- Matthias
was in it, and others that he was not: but a universal shout
of triumph, as the carriage drew off, and the crowd followed,
agonized the delicate frame of Mrs. B. Folger. When she
entered the house she directed the windows to be closed—
ealled that the house of mourning, and gave vent to the
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most Jamentable exclamations. - O, my poor Fasher ¢ my
poor Father!| What will become of him 7’ She rolied bn
the bed, with excessive agony of mind, and at fizst vefused
all consolation, uttering a succession of lamentations.

On arrival at the village inn, the people about were
equally confounded, as Elephant had not made his enﬁ
ment very public: he succeeded, however, in showing Mat-
thias without his beard ; and then, assuming an excuse, told
him there was some mistake about it, and allowed bim to.de-
part.  But the people now began to understand it, and agnin
to raily ; and having got him out of the house, they seemed’
determined not to suffer him again to cnter.  On hia retuxb,
therefore, to Zion Hill, before the body of the people EI
up, he did not get out of the carriage, or even dnve up the
lane, and his baggage was brought to him; Mrs. B. Fel-
ger running half across the lawn, in the presence of the
whole people, in the most frantic manner, and wmﬂ
her hands, apparently much agonized, as the carriage:
off on the road to New York. -

Late in the afternoon, after Matthias had gone to New
York, aud while Mr. Pierson and Nir. B. Folger were in
the garden, back came Elephant Taylor, making a request,
.or rather a demand, for Matthias’ beard. But as the trick
was now understood in the kingdom, he was received with
a show of violence, and obliged to make his retreat in quick
time; for Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. Folger seized upon some
poles, then in the ground, ac” put themselves in fighting
attitude.  Violence, we believe, was prevented only by tnus
timely retreat.

It appears that Elepbant had engaged to cut off the beard
Aimself, and bring it to Sing-Sing, and in this he had fail-
«d; and committed himself by saying, that he Aad cut off
the beard, but forgot it. Had we not known of this flse-

..hpad we should have endeavoured 1o see this person at
Sing-Bing; but this fact would render any additional evi-
dence, on his part, doubtful. We believe, Kowever. he got
his reward ; and he has since been made constable, perhaps
for this feat of humour, on his side successfully executed.

As the evening closed in, Mrs. B. Folger © 10re
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s providence, removing Matthias. It is, toe, evideat,
shat the fascinating manners of Mrs. B. Folger -had made
- coasiderable impression on the stern virtue of Mr. Pierson.
Now Mr: Pierson wasa man who thought and wrote much
-xmore than he spoke; he was not a talking fan, and he
evidently could restrain his feelings. When, therefore, Mr.
Pierson says a little on a subject, and when he showed a lit-
@e attention to.Mrs. B. Folger, we believe there were very
song impressions made on him ; and we believe that his
- aliary, or jourmal, would contain strong evidences of his
wish to become the Father, and to take Mrs. B. Folger as
the Mother, as a substitute for the lady in whom he was
disappointed. We. feel it our duty, however, to declare,
. that we -know of no evidence of any improper freedoms
ever existing between Mr. Pierson and Mrs. Folger; for
she, who must have known the influence she had over him,
always expressed dislike; and, on this very occasion, de-
.clared, “ she could not bear to see Mr. Pierson sit in Fa-
ither’s place, and pretend to be the Father.”

“The effects of a corrupted moral atmosphere, which Mr.
Pierson had partly created, on the honest and pure mind of
Aimself, is a very singular case; and we much regret that
we cannot lay open his diary, as proofs of our conclusions,
and for the benefit which might be derived, by showing,the

~soonnexion between error in principle and practice, however
;-pure the motives may have been.
Mr. Pierson’s assumption of the Father was, however, of
. short duration ; for Matthias was not permitted to languish
tJong imn New York for his matched spirit, “ which,” as he
“said, * his soul desired:” for,the day after the next day, Mr.
Folger, Mrs. Folger, and Isabella, went to New Yor{ and
won their arrival, Mr. B. Folger was sent to look after Mat-
- ~thias: Mrs. Folger first sounding her husband, by observ-
.ing, “I wonder where Father is: Benjamin, I wish you
-would go and see where Father is.”” Matthias, it appears,
fizst went to the City Hotel, and afterward he came to the
' in Third-street, No. 8: and on his arrival, while Mr.
8. Folger was out,. Mrs, Folger came down stairs, and
:fiww into his arms ang kisped: him ; her fondness appsaritig
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rather to increase than to diminish. We shall now, huwie-
ever, leave the regular narrative of the kingdom, to recwiit.
tary with some of the events we have been relating, but R
all of which we ‘have not the exact dates; as, at the time
theb)i‘wefe noticed, there was no intention of making thesfa.
ublic.
g In. consequence of the connexion between Matthias amét
Mrs. B. Folger, this lady became with child, as she had
expected and foretold, agreeable to certain visions and im- -
pressions, which she snpposed to be from God, and im:
which Matthias acquiesced. The expected offspring, she
su J)osed, would be a holy son; and Matthias, with mere
boldness than cunning, taught her to believe that she would
bear this child, as koly, without sickness, and bring it forth
without pain. But, as early as the preceding March, 1834
the sickness, which usually follows conception, came on her,
and she manifested all the symptoms of other women im
such a situation. Now it will be recollected that Mrs. Fal-
ger stated, in her narrative, in Stone’s book, an example of °
atthias’ cruelty, in taking a pillow, or little quilt, from
her, which she had rolled up and placed on a chair whem
sick, to give her ease. This then occurred on the occasiom .
we are speaking of, in her, or Matthias’ room. We Have--
quoted the passage in full, in the first part of this work : see:
pages 57 and 58, part the first. Matthias did pull the quilt
from the chair, exclaiming, “ This will never do! This =
the old story,” in reference to sickness in child-bearing—
shaking his head, putting out his lips, and assuming a su-
periority : for she had supposed that she should have na
sickness, and he had encouraged the idea, and now wished
to overcome the feelings of the body by the excitement of
the mind; either sincerely, in faith, or cunningly, upon phi-
losophical principles; and could he have enabled her te
surmount her feeﬁngs, he would have obtained a trium
The account in Mr. Stone’s book, (page 153,) avow
written by Mr. and Mrs, Folger, is calculated to deceien,
and conceal the fact we have just stated. .
“"We shall now proceed with the narrative, in-whick vitge.
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sdvanced as far as the summer of 1834 : but, as far back
as the winter of 1833, Mr. B. Folger had become insolvent,
soon after he had given up his wife, and at the very time
he was engaged for or with Matthias’ daughter. Previous
to this, however, he had made over the house at Sing-Sing,
and considerable property, to Matthias, at the instigation of
his wife. This Mr. B. Folger would frequently remark, in
pleasantry, that she (Mrs. B. Folger) had played the Jew ;
m first getting the property made over to him, (Matthias,)
" and then taking him herself Mr. Folger's insolvency
did not appear to be generally known; for Mr. Hunt, at
that time, did not seem to understand it so: perhaps the
magnificent ideas of Mr. Pierson, about the twelve temples,
as we before supposed, might have misled him. About this
time, however, the property was taken away from Matthias
and made over to Pierson, as being more secure. Isabella
:heard; at that time, a good deal about bankruptcy ; but from
her previous habits, in a farm, and in the Methodist church,
she did not even know then what it meant, but supposed it
referred to property in a bank. She was, however, inform-
ed, by Mrs. Folger, that this transfer was to make the pro-
more secure, as it might be taken from Mr. Folger,
as Mr. Mills’ property was taken from him. Mr. Pierson,
however, afterward made the same property, and other,
over to Matthias again, at Mrs. B. Folger's entreaty : but
which property has since been recovered by the executors
of Mr. Pierson for his daughter, some of which was never
" legally transferred. We learn from Mr. Pierson’s sisters,
and the former owner of the property in Third-street, that
Mr. B. Folger claimed that property, in exchange for the
house at Sing-Sing; and that much of Mrs. B. Folger's for-
-tune of $16,000 is now lent on mortgage on that property.
‘We should certainly feel a great delicacy in going into the
account of property, were it not for some mysterious facts
connected with Mr. Pierson’s estate, and the foolish but
characteristic attack on others, in Mr. Stone’s book.
Mr. Hunt, partly in ignorance of Mr. Folger's circum-
stances, still continued to press for a settlement; and when,
at a later period, he became convinced of Mr, Folger’s in-
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salmency, be of course became more anxious for an a
ment: he was, however, assured by Mr. B. Folger, that
his insolvency should not affect him. After various delays,
some of wln'ci appeared trifling, and others cruel, as am
appointment at a time of Mr. Hunt's known sickness, whem
it was impossible for him to attend ;—after every excuse
made, both by Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. Folger, had beem
exhausted, he at last obtained a meeting, and a positive pro~
position, but one of the strangest that ever one business mam:
pat to another; which was no less than that he, Mr. Hunt;
must. apply to- Matthias, and that, whatever he (Matthiasy .
said, should be done. Now Mr. Hunt held Matthias. im
contempt, especially as a business man. Mr. Hunt had, fr-
deed, treated him kindly, but as a weak-minded fanatic
who might be sincere, but, if sincere, then a foolish ‘mam.
Matthias, apparently, knew Mr. Hunt held him in this es-
tamation, anga did not generally presume, as he did with. -
those of the kingdom, and therefore he remonstrated agains -
such a decision, from the incapacity of Matthias, -independ
ently of his will. But as this was resolved on, dnd as Mr.
Hunt wished to remove every excuse for a settlement, he .
consented to go to the Prophet. At this interview Matthing |
claimed all the property, spoke in mysterious language, -
gave no satisfaction, and finally, positively refused to come
to any settlement: and as this decision was considered -
final, on the part of Mr. Pierson and Mr. B. Folger, Mr.
Hunt now had recourse to a suit in Chancery; which was .
begun to compel a settlement, without any angry feelings;
and the papers prepared for this suit have been put into our
bands. When, however, the suit was commenced, Mr.
Pierson and Mr. Folger came to Mr. Hunt, with variews
propositions for closing the old and making new -
ments, and requesting from him propositions. At length
a proposition was made on the part of Mr. Pierson and Mr. .
B. Folger, which Mr. Hunt chose to accept, rather tham
leave the affair unsettled, and all his acknowledgments im
the hands of Mr. Pierson. The substance of this ar:
ment was, that Mr. . Hunt should receive back all his se-
knowledgments, which gave him so much uneasiness, and ,
6.
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that his claims for salary should be allowed for the time
he had been engaged, that he should be liberated from all
demands on the concern, and receive something less than
a thousand dollars clear. And that he should give up his
share in the globe stove manufactory, with the patent-right;
also his right in the globe castors, coach bell, screw ma-
chine, his profits on the land speculation, and his good will
on a lease of property in Amos-street, then occupied as a
factory. And these terms were finally complied with, as
far as he was concerned. But Mr. Hunt yet complains,
that Mr. B. Folger has not settled some small debts, on the
part of the concern, which he (Mr. Hunt) had promised,
and on whom a moral claim yet exists, extremely unpleas-
‘ant, as he relied on the word, and consequently the honour,
of Mr. B. Folger.

Now, of course, this is a one-sided story; but we had the
means of testing the truth, in a great measure, as well as
the character of Mr. Hunt for probity; and on this we have
. relied. But in addition to this, we have the fact of this
claim being settled before Mr. Pierson’s death, and in fear
of a lawsuit, upon terms proposed by Mr. B. Folger and
Mr. Pierson; and, therefore, on terms which they thought
just—and this, certainly, ought to have shielded Mr. Hunt
from any insinuations. Mr. Hunt is yet in friendly inter-
course with Mr. B. Folger, and was the adviser and cor-
rector of that address to the public, in the name of Mr. B.
Folger, in answer to some statements of Matthias about pro-
perty, when first in custody; the facts, however, were fur-
nished by Mr..B. Folger. This address may be seen page
241 of Stone’s book. It is a curious fact, too, that Mr. Hunt
was applied to, to write the book which Mr. Stone has writ-
ten, or one on that subject, from facts to be furnished by Mr.
B. Folger; but Mr. Hunt declined, The book, therefore,
published by Mr. Stone, may be regarded as the joint pro-
duct of Mr, Stone and Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger, the latter
supplying the body of the materials; while the Rev. Mr.

omers asgisted in furnishing what items were thought ad-
visable to publish. . . X .
The opinion of Mr. Hunt on Matthias we have already
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given; viz. that he might be sincere, in whole or in part,
but that he was not a sensible man ; and as he believes, he
is partially deranged. His opinion of the property is, that
Matthias might at one time-have secured any quantity of it -
to himself, but that he did not; and really obtained no more
than he expended about his person in the little finery he
displayed. He supposes Mr. B. Folger got rich from ne-
cessity; being, as he expressed himself, in harness, con-
nected with others in a wholesale house, where he made
money from necessity—not ability; and that as soon as he
had left that concern, he got rid of it as quick as he well
could. He considers that he did suffer great.losses; and
he accounts much more readily for the diminution of Mr.
Folger’s property, than for that of Mr. Pierson’s. Mr. Pier-
son spent eleven thousand dollars in machinery, and em-
ployed a Mr. Alexander Shanklin to go to Europe on that
account, especially on account of a planing machine, (beford
he was known to Mr. Hunt;) which was rendered of no
value, by the resistance of the London mechanics, and not
from any defect in the machinery. "But this patent-right,
and others, Mr. Hunt says, was resold by Mr. Pierson, to
Mr. Folger, for thirty thousand dollars; and that Mr. Pier-
son actually received a sufficient sum of money to cover his
advances, and that the rest was paid to his agent in London
in cash or notes; some of the latter, we believe, are yet un-
paid. Nor can we discover any serious loss sustained b
Mr. Pierson; except in a note in Mr. Stone’s book, whic
supposes a loss to both him and Mr. Folger by stock-job-
bing. Mr. Folger accounts for his failure by endorsements
to large amounts, and to a want of confidence in his credit-
ors, in consequence of his supposed expenditure about the
kingdom. Matthias gave us the same account ; and he sup-
posed that Mr. Pierson’s property was much overrated,
even by himself, from various motives.

Upon inquiry about the patents and machinery, we find .
they were all useful inventions; even the self-loading cart
has the approbation of some of our ablest men: they were
intended to save labour, in cutting down banks, and in mak-
ing and improving roads.
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Mr. B. H. Folger has recently been again in connexion
‘with Mr. Hunt, in the land agency business, holding an
oﬂice ogether at 292 Bleeker-street; and this renders the

implication the more l'ldlC\llOllS when we con-

er that r. B. Folger supplied the materials of Mr.
Stone’s book, and moulded it to his own fashion.
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CHAPTER IV.

Mr. Folger revisits Sino-Sing—Change of manners in Mr. Pierson
—He visits a married &uy, and demands her of her husband, as his
match spirit, by the advice of Mirs. B. Folger— Matthias revisits Sing-
Sing— Matthias kisses Mrs. Folger's garments, in token of ;:I'ecticm
—Mr. B. Folger retains his wife for a time—denies her to Matthias
‘afterward—Singular consequence, and curious employment for Isa-
bella— Henry, a little English. tailor, one of the kingdom, an’ “n lore
with Catherine—Mirs. Folger's influence over her husband—i culs
Mr. Pierson’s death— Mr. Pierson singularly affected by his l‘i't: ahd
curious gestures—neglected by Matthias and Mrs. Folger— Dii ioguc
in Mrs. Fulger and Matthias’ bedroom, with Isabella, on the night
of Mr. Pierson’s death—Errors corrected in Mr. Stone's account of
his death—Mrs. Dratch returns to New York—Coroner's inquest hel
—Curiosity of the jury about the internal affairs of the kingdem—
y body remoted to%orriakmm—di&inlmcd and examined—bow-

els sent to Dr. Torry—the consequences— The family go to' New Yorﬁ

ezcept Catherine and the children— The house taken possession of, and
discoveries made— Testimony }f Isaac Ter Boss, tavern-keeper, at
White Plains— Mpyr. and Mrs. Folger revisit Sing-Sing, to select their
property left there—accupy the same chamber at Crosby's tavern—Mr,

Folger explains the future prospects of the kingdom— The sale of pro-

perty at S;"r}g- Sing—Mpr. Burnham takes possession of the experience

papers of Mr. Picrson, and with them Mrs. Folger's note—Mr. Burn-
ham demands Mr. Pierson’s title-deeds of Matthias— Curious inter-
view between the purties— Obtains these deeds on a second visit—Af-

Jairs of the kingdomm—Mrs. Folger possessed by both Matthias and

her husband— Mutthias jealmw—xlﬂr. and Mrs. B. Folger's journey

to the North, travclling as husband and wife—Corroborative extract

Sfrom Mrs. Matthias’book, in relation to her daughter and Mr. Folger

—Mr. Folger retains his wife, now very large with the expected holy

son—Matthias leaves the family—Mirs. Folger's deep distress, and

Mr. Folgcr’s acqutescence in .Mzzhias’ return—her joy at that return

—Matthias and Mrs. Folger remarried, solemnly, and for ever,

three weeks before the final rupture in the kingdom—Mr. B. Felger

retakes Catherine for ever—Singular communication to Isabella
Mrs. Folger— Three weeks after the late cross-marriages, Mr. B.
Folger violates his engagements on a Sunday, and the person of Mrs.
Folger—detected by Matthias—the kingdom in confusion— Two nights
after the detection, Mrs. Flolger leaves the bed of Matthias, and takes
refuge with Isabella—Matthias follow-, and denwm::a)m)gmnb on
her—Mrs. Folger suhk:frotection in Mr. Folger's bed, in the morn-
ing, after C ine left it— The breakfast following, and cqffe

2013 % be poisoned : for which Mr. Folger has since been convicted

of slander—Malthias prepares to leave the kingdom—Mr. Folger ro-

stored to the affections of his wife—Curious gue between Mat-
thias and Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger, respocting the relative phyeical



70 NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA.

powers of Matthias and Mr. Folger— The breaking up of the kin

dom bXIrﬂu departure of Mattzl’zdc and Ioabcua——sladllqtfaa obtaii‘l;

JSrom . B. ;glger 500 dols.— Weakness or defect in Mr. Folger's

character—Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger's confessions, acknowled,

and apparent repentance—Mr. and Mrs. Folger's account of the fow
¢ prop-

I:'t'; g}y;h:.‘ tuegﬁm;? m:: ﬁtefmpfzzm %ezawn, con-
taining papers, found open. by Teabella.

THE heads of the kingdom were now in New &ork}
but Mr. Pierson was left at Mount Zion with Catherine
and the young people. In about a week after the flight of
Matthias from Sing-Sing, and the subsequent departure of
his matched spirit, she (Mrs. B. Folger) returned to Sing-
Sing, to make further arrangements; and apparently had
‘eonsiderable influence over Mr. Pierson, as, after this time,
his manners changed considerably. He interfered in the
kitchen, to the annoyance of Isabella; and he used Mrs. B.
Folger’s name, and enforced her authority, as the Mother,
in a mannper which he before did not; but her influence
oni another subject was now apparent; for, on this visit, it
was arranged that Mr. Pierson should make the formal
application to his supposed matched spirit, then in the coun-
try, the married lady referred to in our first part, and se
much abused by Co{ Stone, whose wife she had gently re-
proved for her’ excessive gayness. This was about twa
months before the death of Mr. Pierson: he was then im
health, but subject to fits, accompanied by some singulari-
ties, in perfect keeping with the practices in the kingdom,
of which we shall afterward speak.

In a day or two after Mrs. B. Folger’s arrival at Sing-
Sing, Mr. Pierson set off on a journey of eighty miles, on
a formal visit, to demand that the lady above alluded to
should be given up to him, as his matched spirit, agreeable
to visions first seen by Mrs. B. Folger two years previous,
and to visions which he had since seen. But as the history
of this singular event has been already recorded, together
with the result, and the base insinuation of Col. Stone on
that subject, we must refer our readersto that record for
the particulars now: see first part, pages 31, 2, 3, 4, 5.~
We merely remark, that Matthias, as we bave since learn-
egd, did .not approve of this journey, and .regretted the paxt

—
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Mes. B. Folger took in it at this time: in fact, Matthias
‘was not fond of this lady, and did not want her approxima-
tion ; for she would have prevented his residence at Zion -
" Hill, Sing-Sing, if she could.

Mr. Pierson called at Third-street house, New York, on
his 'oumeg, and there the opinion of Matthias was given ;
but he so far sanctioned it, that when Mr. Pierson returned
to New York, disappointed, Matthias characteristically ob-
served, “ The time had not yet come.” Matthias too, at
this period, made his flying visit to Sing-Sing, with four
horses, to the surprise of the villagers who heard of it; but
we do not know that he entered the village, as the house
lay a considerable distance on the New York side: his ob-
ject was evidently twofold ; to fulfil one of his own prophe-
cies, and to astound his enemies, by an elevation afier his
persecution : the people, however, thought him mad. He
did not then remain long, nor did Mrs. B. Folger re-
turn with him; but he took kis three boys away, and his
carpenter’s tools; we suppose he then gave up the idea of
a temple at Sing-Sing. Sn his return, Mr. Pierson and
Isabella went to Sing-Sing; for, as she could perform all
country work, her services were more desired there: and
Catherine returned with Mrs. B. Folger to New York,
where Mr. B. Folger then resided, and where she could
be more useful ; and this arrangement remained till gne
week before the death of Mr. Pierson. ’

About this period, however, perhaps in the absence of
Mrs. B. Folger, occurred that proof of the strong affection
of Matthias for Mrs. B. Folger which we before gave; viz.
his kissing her garments, which hung in a clothes closet,
ingeniously contrived in the passage of the house in Third-
street; which passage he would frequently pace, exclaim-
ing to himself, * Poor Mother! Lovely creature! Oh, the
dear soul!” &c. Perhaps these proofs of Matthias’ affec-
tion for Mrg. B, Folger were connected with his circum-
stances, and heightened by a suspension of conjugal rights,
which he igewerq,lly enjoyed. For after the return of the
family. to, -York, on the occasion: of Matthias losing
his beard, and when, as we,obsarved, Mr. B. Folgar.alept
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that night with his wife, this gentleman, it appears, did not
ive her up immediately, but continued to sleep with her in
ew York, openly, for three or four days at least; and
though friendly to Matthias, he yet retained his wife, appa-
rently, however, against her will. ‘ .
And now another ridiculous scene was to be exhibited
in the kingdom, for Mrs. Folger at length declined sleep-
ing any longer with her husband; when he, without quar-
réﬁing, as far as we know, refused her to Matthias. But,
as they were living together in one house, and as she ac-
knowledged Matthias as her spouse, or matched spirit, such
a denial was of course useless; except to make them all
partially uncomfortable, by occupying different beds. This
was all it could do; for as Mr. B. Folger left the house, to
go down town to business, there could be no impediment to
any intercourse between her and Matthias, except by any
sudden or unexpected return of Mr. B. Folger: and these
circumstances gave additional employment to Isabella, and
she was intrusted with a new charge, being occasionally
placed as a sentinel, or outpost, to give early intimation of
Mr. B. Folger's approach, while she was closeted with
Matthias, whom alone she acknowledged as her spouse;
and these kindnesses no doubt increased his affection for
her. Arrangements were, however, again made, and Mrs.
B. Folger was again given up to Matthias; and Isabella
lost her office, her services being no longer necessary in
that way. :
There is one person of the kingdom whom we have
scarcely mentioned, because no act of his was sufficiently
prominent; yet, as a believer, one of the kingdom, and a
member of t{e family, and as faithful and well spoken of,
he deserves a niche recorded in this account of the king-
dom. Besides, he knows the truth of these statements, less
from observation than from familiarity in the kitchen, and
conversation with Isabella, and especially with Catherine,
whose love he affected to inspire. B::t he was only a tailor
~—*a little bit of a fellow,” as Isabella expresses herself,
and not very straight, and an Englishman: but he appears
%0 have been what is called smart, good-tempered, u?:n
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aing: and besides the religious exercises in the kingdom,
now reduced to a small quantity, he made clothes for the
children, worked in the garden, and about the coach and
horses. * Catherine declared, she would not have such a bit
df a fellow; and if she could not have Mr. B. Folger, she

‘would have none.
At the breaking up of the kingdom, Henry, the little
tailor, received twenty dollars, and went to his friends in
" Ohio. . About this time, too, Lewis, a German, joined the
family, but remained pretty much in New York, with the
carriage. 'This man was called to the trial of Matthias, at
‘White Plains. ‘

There were several other believers in Mr. Pierson and
Matthias, not of the family, and some apparently very sen-
sible men, who thought Mr. Pierson more than ortﬁnaty
humanity, from the amiableness of his conduct, his profound
judgment in ordinary affairs, and his very great knowledge
of the Scriptures: while they attributed the excesses, in
relation to his wife’s death, to intense feeling, affection, and
grief at his loss.

From this time to the near proximation of Mr. Pierson’s
death, nothing material occurred. Mr. B. Folger continyed,
occasionally, to show marks of dissatisfaction, and disbelief;
and again a return of faith and reconciliation: the most re-
markable circumstance during this period, was the influence
his wife yet retained over him; this was noticed by these
within the kingdom, and his neighbours, some of whom
were now satisfied of an improper influence exerted by Mat-
thias; indeed, in the moments of his dissatisfaction, Mr. B.
Folger would complain of this influence, and yet his wife,
while bestowing her favours on others, could call him from
the conversation of those whom she suspected of advising
him, and always retained over him the influence of a mis-
tress, if not of a wife; indeed she did not appear to wish to:

. give him up entirely; or to wish any ore to have a greatef’
influence over him than herself. .

About a week previous to the death of Mr. Pierson, the'
famrily went to Sing-Sing, except Mr. B. Folger, who “hatl!
tadién a journey to the North, and did not retdra till imiser
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diately after the death of Mr. Pierson: this circumstanee
should be remarked, for some of the nearest relations of
Mr. Pierson, djssatisfied about the property, speak disre-
spectfully of Mr. B. Folger, as if ke had neglected, or in
some way promoted the death of Mr. Pierson, while from
his businéss habits, and attention to other things, there does
not appear to be the least ground for any such imputation.
Still, Mr. Pierson was neglected in his last illness, while all
the family, with the exception just made, were present.
This subpect requires particular attention ; it has never been
understood ; neither did the Coroner’s Inquest extract the
truth, nor did it come out at the time of the trial of Matthias,
nor is it explained in Mr. Stone’s work, from matter fur-
nished by Mr. and Mrs. Folger. The facts, briefly expressed,
are these :— ' )

It has been already noticed that Mr. Pierson, though ex-
tremely modest in his deportment, was of an amative dispo-
sition, which increased. tﬁz severity in the loss of his wife.
Indeed, after her death, we have evidence of his practising
onanism for a coasiderable period ; not however after his
sickness, a short time before Matthias came to Sing-Sing :
after this period he had fits, which gradually increased ‘in
frequency and severity till near his death, while on the few
last days. he had a number of lighter fits in succession, to-
gether with sickness at the stomach. These fits came on
gradually, as fits sometimes do; they affected his sinews
and muscles, drawing his head on .one side, and almost
round: and while in these fits, he would utter singular
sounds, at first unintelligible, and then less so, as the fit in-
creased in strength; while his gestures were very singular,
and sometimes disgusting ; if-a person ought to feel disgust,
at the actions of a sick man, insensible, and in a fit. Mr.
Pierson apﬁeared conscious of something ridiculous or dis-
gusting in his manners while in these fits, for he frequently
asked persons about him, whether he said or did any thing
wrong while the fit was on him, and seemed very anxious
to avert, both the fits and their consequences; and for - that
gt;x};’é_'se ve Knrticular instruction to some of the house-

1d : Isabella he instructed to strike the palms of his hands,
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and the strong sinews on his neck, when the fit was about
to draw his head on one side or around, and to rub him in
various parts, and restrain him from any improper act.
When his fits came on when at table, as they sometimes
did, Matthias would lead him from the table into another
room, agreeable-to his wish, as Mr. Stone says, in his ac-
count of Mr. Pierson’s sickness, page 195 and following.
The reason for this will appear evident, but we do not see
why he should be left alone, and the door shut, as Mr. and
Mrs. Folger relate in Mr. Stone’s book, even if he had
wished it. When these fits were coming on, the presence
of particular persons affected him in a singular way, and
especially the presence of Mrs. B. H. Folger: if she ap-
peared in the commencement of his fit, he would look at
her intensely, stretching forward his head and one of his
hands, as if he would draw her to him, and exclaim Ann,
Ann, Ann, Ann, Ann, &c. &c., repeating with greater ra-
pidity, and Tooking more eagerly and wildly as the fit ad-
vanced ; he would also alternate this expression with the
exclamation, looking at her as before, and exclaiming, my
wife! my wife! my wife! &c. &c., repeating more rapidly
as the fit grew stronger. During this time, while endeavour-
ing to approach her with one hand extended, he would feel
about his person with the other within his clothes. His
whole appearance at such times excited disgust in that lady,
ahd she would leave his presence as soon as possible, using
even the term brufe, to express her disgust; Matthias too,
would attempt to rouse him on such occasions, to a sense
of impropriety, by exclaiming, “ Why, Elijah! what are
you saying, what are you about?’ while other persons
would remove his hand, and hold him. When these fits
came on in bed, Mr. Pierson would genrerally throw him-
self out of bed; and this led Matthias to observe, that he had
a Devil which appeared to like the floor best, and therefore
some bed-clothing were placed on the floor, on which he
sometimes lay. These bed-clothes he would frequently draw
to him as if embracing a person, still making singular ex-
clamations, or, in the strength of his fit, unintelligible noises,
and using improper gestures, which made his friends inter-
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fere, and endeavour to rouse him; especially would Mat-
tMas attempt this as before explained: between these fits
he appeared tolerably well, and even walked in the
a few days before his death, as related by Mr. Stone, p. 193,
and in our first part, p. 15, in the account we there gave of
the blackberry feast and sickness. In reference to what we
have just said, it will now be seen why Matthias led Mr.
"Pierson from the table when the fits were coming on; and
why Isabella slapped him on the face, as reported in Mrs.
Folger's evidence, at Matthias trial, and from which unfa-
vourable impressions were drawn ; still Mr. Pierson’s man-
ners while in the fits had excited a degree of acknowledged
disgust, mingled with pity, and a desire to assist him; and
when to these fits, sickness was added, the pity and sympa-
thy of the family were increased, but this was partly para-
lyzed by an increasing disgust, the consequences of his
sickness. The blackberries eaten, mentioned in the 15th
page, part the first, which were said to contain poison, were
eaten on the 28th of July; the next day he was well, and
eat more blackberries from the bushes, and on the afternoon
of that day, he was taken sick and vomited, bringing up,
not the supposed poisoned blackberries, eaten twenty-four
hours before, as Mr. Stone very unphilosophically intimates, -
but, as we suppose, the blackberries which he had last edten.
Nothing it appears would then stay on his stomach; and
as he wore a long beard, we have no doubt that hisappear-
ance was disgusting, but at the same time most pitiable;
besides, his bowels were relaxed, and at one period he was
helpless. Catherine’s sickness, mentioned in Stone’s book
as following the consumption of blackberries then supposed
poisoned, arose from disgust at the appearance of Mr. Pier-
son, and continued only while the nansea remained. Mat-
thias took Mrs. B. Folger out of the room, especially to pre-
vent her being sick, and succeeded, though she had eaten
heartily of the blackberries, and not just tasted them, as she
‘says in Mr. Stone's book. Matthias also left the room, ex-
ressing a belief that he should be sick if he remained, and
sabella, the coloured woman, was the only person who
would, or indeed could assist him, when most he needed

v
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hell}); and she could scarcely restrain frorg being sick her- _
self.  As theparties had means, Mr. Pierson ought to hdve
bad one or more nurses, exclusively to attend him, and_
keep him clean; for it was not possible for those in the
family to do justice to him, and continue their services in
tie family. Nor did they do what they might, partly from
disgust, and partly from the attentions which Matthias and
Mrs. B. Folger were paying to each other, and thus ne-
glecting the necessary orders; Isabella was even reproved
for her officiousness, because, being cook, her employment
was incompatible with attention to Mr. Pierson. It does
not appear either that they had once thought of his death,
nor did he apparently ; he seemed principally affected by
his fits, and these he Kad had for a long while ; nor did the
appear much to hurt him, as he was well in the interva{
and the additional sickness was not apparently alarming.
He retained his senses, and had so firmly expressed his
opinions about physicians and medicine, that no medical
aid could be given him; in this respect his firmness was
equal to that of Matthias. This is evident from Mrs. Fol-
ger's evidence at the trial of Matthias, and also, from her
evidence before the coroner. We cannot learn that there
was any abuse, or even designed neglect; considerable
s2rvices were rendered him, but not near enough ; hislinen
was seldom changed. Isabella was sent into the hay-field
a large part of three days by Mrs. B. Folger,  to help poor
Father gather up his hay,” and Mr. Pierson became then
really filthy. Mrs. Folger did or could do but little, and
Matthias was haying, and unwilling to use means; he had
always spoken agaimnst it in the time of health, and by a
system of dieting he had preserved the family in heaKh,
without physicians or medicine; his system, which had
some good in it, alike banished the medicine of the regular
doctor, and the pills of the quack, to which Mrs. Folger-
had been devoted before her acquaintance with him. Had
Pierson got better without medicine, Matthias would have
‘ascribed 1t to faith, as he did on a former occasion : and yet
we have it as a fact, that Matthias instructed Lewis to go
for a physician, if Mr. Pierson wished it, and this evidence-
-
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gone into on Mdtthias' trial, yet Matthias would not' him-
self send for one.
4On the evening when Mr. Pierson was first taken sick,
there was more alarm, or apprehension, than even on the
last day, for his fits were then more powerful, and had been
-increasing. On that evening, when he had vomited, and
when in the night his bowels were so deranged, Isabella
and his daughter sat up with him, while Matthias and Mrs.
B. Folger retired to rest, she retiring first as before described,
lest she should bé sick, and Matthias following her. In the
progress of his last sickness, which lasted from the 29th of
July, 1o the 5th of August, his vomiting was less severe,
and his fits less strong, and the first alarm having subsided,
it was supposed he was getting better; the worst symptom
being interpreted for the best, for want of correct medical
knowledge; for his fits being less strong, was probably the
effect of declining strength of body.

On the morning of the 5th, (the night of which he died,)
Mrs. Dratch, a Jewess, a sort of disciple of Matthias, and a
widow, came to see Mr. Pierson, from whom she had re-
ceived some acts of kindness, and from whom she then ex-
pected more. She conversed chiefly with Matthias, with
whom she was familiar, but wished to see Mr. Pierson.
This request was not at first noticed, but when she repeated
her request, Matthias replied that he wished Mr. Pierson to
take a warm bath first. None, of his family, however; wished
to expose him in his fits, from his singular behaviour, and
now he was scarcely decent from partial neglect and other
eircumstances. And to this request, perhaps, Mr. Pierson

* was indebted for the warm bath, which merelyas a measure
of cleanliness ought to have been administered before.
Mrs. Folger directed the bath to be prepared, and Isabella
immediately got it ready, and with the assistance of Lewis,

- put him into it, and she perceiving a fit coming on while
putting him in the bath, Isabella slapped him on the neck,
or side of the face and neck, as before explained, as the
wish of Mr. Pierson, and exclaimed, with the characteristic
of one of the kingdom, “come out of your hellish sleep,”

.

he would have given, had any defence been necessary or’

A
-
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and this was the slap at the spirit, which sppegred ‘in.the
absence of her evidence, as an act of cruelty, :IP a very strange
character. From the bath Mr. Pierson was taken to bed,
and Mrs. Dratch was informed that she should see him in"
the morning. But that night he died, and died alope; for
Matthias and Mrs. B. Folger had retired to bed together,
for they did not consider it necessary that any one should
sit up 'with him. Isabella, it appears, would have attended
to him, but after Mrs. Folger had reproved her for officious-
ness, she did not like to; besides, I\rfrs. Folger complained
of her to Matthias, and declared that Isabella was always in
Mr. Pierson’s room, running in every minute as soon as
her back was turned; and Matthias Knd scolded her, for
disobeying Mrs. B. Folger. - And thus Mr. Pierson was
partial{y neglected. ,

The last scene observed by Isabella immediately before
the death of Mr Pierson, is thus described by her: Mrs.
Dratch, after offering to sit up with Mr. Pierson, and that
offer being declined, retired up stairs to bed. Matthias,
also, soon after retired into his room, and apparently fell
asleep or dosed; when Mrs. B. Folger entered his 'ang her
room, and leaning against the bed was in the act of with-
drawing her stockings, when Isabella approaching the
chamber door, which stood partly open, thus sdpoke to her.

Isabella. Mother, what is best for me to do; sm{ "p
with Mr. Pierson, or go to bed? (Here Mrs. B. Folger,
throwing herself into bed, and turning to Matthias, repeated
the question thus.)

Mys. B. Folger. Father, what is best for Isabella to do:
stay up, or go to bed? |

atthias. (Turning round and speaking quickly,) How
is Elijah? ) :

Mrs. B. Folger. Well, he is somewhat better.

Matthias. Vgell, Isabella, you had better go to bed.
Isabella went to bed as instructed. She had been sittin
up, or lying on chairs several nights previous, and felt
weary ; she did not then think him in dying circumstances, -
although she did think it very likely, that he would die
suddenly, from his fits. In the morning she was acquainted

]
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with Mr. Pierson's death, by Matthias calling to her, and
informing her of that event. . And on coming down stairs,
she found Mrs. B. Folger lying down in the children’s
room, in the north wing, showing that that lady must have
been up before; and thus agreeing with her narrative in
Mr. Stone’s book, where she says, that she was up with Mr.
Pierson during the night, but not exactly in his room at the
moment of his death. '

In the evidence given by Mr. Folger, on the trial, some
things are not correctly stated. There it was shown, that
Matthias had dropped water ia the mouth of Mr. Pierson
from a height, while he could scarcely swallow, and thus
performed an act of cruelty. This we have examined
minutely into; and though there might have been an appa-
rent carelessness in Matthias' manner, we are satisfied that
the act was one of kindness. Mr. Pierson could not drink;
his lips were closed, and his mouth full of phlegm. As
Mr. Pierson could not drink, it appeared to Matthias that it
would afford him some relief to drop water between his
lips, drop by drop, which, by their weight,,might penetrate
into his mouth; while Isabella, on her knees, and with a
soft towel in her hand, hung over Mr. Pierson’s head, and
wiped away the phlegm as it was displaced by the drops of
water; and this defence would have been given, had any
defence of Matthias been necessary. Our opinioun is, that
this fact is a strong proof that Mr. Pierson had attention
paid him, if not all that he ought to have had: it is, we
say, a proof of attention, and not of cruelty. The descent
of the water was not a foot; in fact, not more than it ought
to have been to effect such a purpose.

During Mr. Pierson’s illness, ﬁe asked Isabella’s forgive-

.mess. And this fact is noticed by Mrs. B. H. Folger as

something very mysterious; and in consequence of which
we have inquired into it. We find it a fact; and Isabella
supposes Mr. Pierson referred to his altered manners some-
time before his illness, when he interfered more, and was
less kind. She also supposes he referred to her increased
labour with the double spirit, the gift of Matthias and Mrs,
Folger, frequently referred to; especigdly hy Mrs. Folger,
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a8 we have learned since our former notice of it. She sup-
poses that Mr. Piersen felt conscious of this imposition,
which arose out of the indulgences of Matthias and his
matched spirit. .

In thé morning after Mr. Pierson's .death, Matthias en-
tered his room; and finding him dead, returned to Mrs.
Folger, and informed her of it. Mrs. Folger soon inform-
ed others of ‘the family, and Mr. Pierson’s daughter, into
whose room she had entered and laid down. The whole
family were much surprised, as they did not acknowledge
either sickness or death. Matthias, however, remarked,
that Pierson wanted faith; and for that his body was not
permitted to enjoy the kingdom, but the good part of his
spirit remained among them.

The death of Mr. Pierson had no effect on the fuith of
the disciples, as Mr. Stone supposes. Mrs. Folger was as
full of faith ds ever, as she soon after manifested before the
eoroner ; nor was her love diminished. Matthias, who was
on very good terms with Mrs. Dratch, explained to her why
Mr. Pierson must die; and in the afternoon, on her depart-
wre, gave her money, as she had been disappointed in see-
ing Mr. Pierson, from whom she expected relief.

Mrs. Dratch, at the request of Mrs. Folger, called on
Mr. Folger, in New York, who had then just returned from
his journey in the North; and when informed of the event,
he wrote to Mr. Pierson’s brother, Mr. Mahlon Pierson,
Bottle Hill, New Jersey: he also communicated the fact to
Mr. Pierson’s relations in New York, and some of whom
prepared to come to Sing-Sing immediately, with Mr. B.
Folger. In the mean time, as Mrs. Dratch, or Mr. Bishop,
a neighbour, had mentioned the death of Mr. Pierson as
sudden, in Sing-Sing, a coroner's inquest was held in the
atternoon of that day, and Mrs. Folger and Isabella, with
others, were examined. )

From Isabella we learn, that the jury were more inqui-
sitive of her and Henry, at least, about where the parties
plept, than other subjects; and they got so far as an ac-
knowledgment that Mr. B. Folger and his wife did not
sleep together: but nothing further was then elicited on
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that subject, from the caution observed. And as the j
were prying into subjects not properly before them, Isabella
replied. with some tartness; for one asked her, “ what had
become of Pierson’s devil, or evil spirit?’ when she took
the liberty of replying, that it might have entered into one
of them. . R
Mrs. Folger's replies on this occasion, as given by her-
self in Mr. Stone’s book, show that she then retained her
full faith.  The foliowing is an extract from page 208 of
Mr. Stone’s work :— : .
-« Mrs. Folger was the fith person examined.’ She in-
formed them that her husband was absent ; and, as she was
ignorant of legal matters, wished to know if they had a
right to proceed as they were doing. They replied, that
their proceedings were all legal. She then detailed to them
all the particulars of Mr. Pierson’s sickness and death.
She said she did not consider this event as they did, a visit-
ation of Providence; but that the devil, death, had robbed
us of the body of Mr. Pierson, while his spirif was as much
with us as ever. They asked if Mr. Pierson had had medi-
eine given him:—she replied, no—that they considered
medicine an evil—that Mr. Pierson would not have taken
any while he had his senses, and violence had not been:
done to his often expressed sentiments on this point, after
he had lost his senses. They inquired if Mrs. Folger
would not employ a physician if she were herself sick :
she said, no—that she had already passed -through the
hands of so many, that she feared her body might yet be
rejected from entering the kingdom of heaven. They asked
several questions relative to Mr. Pierson’s property and
business with Mr. Folger: she replied, that she knew no
patticulars respecting it; referred them to her husband,
whom she believed to be a correct business man, and that
they might rest assured he would render a true and accu-
rate statement of all his transactions with Mr. Pierson—
that she knew, from their conversations, that they had con-
fidence in each other, and were partners in some kind of
business; and in conclusion, said, if they had any more
inquiries to make, she would like to hear them, Sﬂe then
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mentioned, that there were some marks on the skin of Mr.
Pierson, which were occasioned by his knocking’ his feet
together while in the fits; but if they found ani marks of
violence on his body, ‘or were not satisfied, they would
oblige her by letting her know it. Mrs. Folger then left
the room, and supposed they examined the body.

Matthias, in the mean time, had sent for one of the neigh-
bours, Mr. Bishop, and induced him to make arrangements
for the funeral; when the body was to have been buried
next day (Thursday) at noon. But Mr. B. Folger, accom-
szied by a Mrs. Bishop, the cousin, and a married sister of

. Pierson, arrived; and these desired the body to be re-
moved to Morristown, near which Mr. Mahlon Pierson,

the brother of Mr. Plerson, resides: and there it was taken. .

But on the 18th of August it was disinterred, and carefully
examined, by Drs, Condicts and others; and the stomach,
with its contents, carefully packed in a jar, and sent to Dr.
Torry, a chemist, for examination. No proof whatever
could be found of poison; but a variety of ingenious sup-

positions were made, from some slight appearances about.

the gullet and stomach. The fact is, the family, after the
alarm raised by Mr. Folger abeut the coffee poison, evi-
dently believed Mr. Pierson poisoned—the physicians
thought it probable, and they wished to discover something
of the kind. The suspicion then fell on Matthias; and this
continued till his trial at White Plaivs, in April, 1835;—
when the prejudice was so much against him, that ene of
the jury, on that trial, has since inforined us, that ke 1wished
to find Matthias guilty. The result of that trial is known;
and in spite of every evidence being brought up, and facts
perverted, like the dropping of the water into Mr. Pierson’s
mouth, and the blackberry story—in spite of the prejudice
of the judge, the officers of the court, the people, and the
jury—the judge was obliged to declare, that the evidence
did not warrant Matthias being put upon his defence. It
is true he was ably defended by Mr. Western, and a less
able man miglit have been cowed before the prejudices and
power arrayed against him. .

We are not dispesed to_justify Matthias; nay, we even

LN
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think that Mr. Pierson might have lived a little longer with
other treatment; but we can see no act of deliberate desigm
to shorten his life, either by any slow process or more aet-
ive agent. Matthias, however, did ascribe the death of Mr.
Pierson to his want of faith; which, he said, he had ob-
served since his visit to the married lady whom he wished
to espouse. This is noticed at Yage 236 of . Mr. Stone’s
work ; and this we think possible; indeed, Matthias was
evidently afraid of her influence.

The day after the body of Mr. Pierson was removed from
Sing-Sing, Matthias went to New York in a carriage, and
Mrs. B. Folger and Isabella went to the same place in the
steamboat, leaving Catherine and the young people in the
house in Sing-Sing. Two days after the family had gone
to New York, the house at Sing-Sing was taken possession
of by Mr. Barker, the treasurer of thecounty, as the property
of the late Mr. Pierson, and in trust for his heirs, and a Mr.
Isaac Ter Boss, and a Mr. Williams, were put into # as
keepers, and Catherine and the rest of the family were
obliged to remove., This possession of the house was by
surprise, and consequently every thing was left without
precaution. Mr, Ter Boss now keeps a tavern at White
Plains; we saw him there, and obtained from him some in-
formation, chiefly, however, in confirmation of our state-
ments, as a good white evidence. On taking possession of
the house, and looking over the rooms, Mrs. B. Folger’s
clothes were found in Matthias’ room. He too had lived
on the spot in Sing-Sing, and had sinece carried Isabella
from White Plainsto Tarry Town, and on the journey had
* heard the whole statement, which he informed us agreed
with our account, and thus showed that at least she had
been consistent in that statement. He had, too, a knowledge
of patts of many of the facts, and of those parts he admitted
her correctness. And thus we get at another proof of her
veracity. He made, too, a remark that we have already put
in print, viz,: “that a woman who could neither read or
write, would be incapable of relating so many circumstanees,
during a considerable period, so as to make a consistesit

. story, unless true; or without furnishing the means of de-
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tection.” On taking possession of the house, by instructions-
we suppase of the administrator, Mr. Pierson’s brother, (Mr.
- Mdhlon Pierson,) before meationed, preparations were made
for selling the furniture, and in a few days Mr. and Mrs.
B. Folger, with Isabella, went again to Sing-Sing, to separate
their property from the late Mr. Pierson’s, and while at
Bing-Sing put up at Mr. Crosby’s tavern, where Mr. B.
Folger and his wife occupied one chamber, into' which'they
retired early, as Mr. B. Folger apparently manifested some
impatience. On the next day, Mrs. Folger returned with
Isabella by the boat, and on the journey, explained to her
the circumstances of Mr. B. Folger, and her futare plans.
She stated;that Mr. B. Folger had lost much of bis proper-
ty, and had spent her private property also, but that he yet
had some that he had kept back ; and that she advised Mat-
thias taking a farm with part of this money, and retiring
into the West, where she, Isabella, had better go with him ;
while Mrs. Folger should remain in New York with Mr.
Folger, who would speculate,and soon -obtain plenty of
money, and they, then, would join Matthias again, -ant;’ re-
establish the kingdom. This subject, after this time, fre-
. quently became one of conyersation, but Mrs. B. Folger
observed, that Matthias was unwilling to go. Mr. B. Fol-
ger returned to Sing-Sing, and was present at the sale of
furniture there, and he purchased several articles, and on
his return related that Mr. Burnham, a merchant in Cedar-
street, had acted as agent for Mr. Pierson, and finding a
drawer full of papers, he had turned them all out and stuffed
them in his pockets. Mrs. B. Folger remarked that, among
those papers were Mr. Pierson’s experience papers; and
among them was her note to Mr. Pierson; this was said with
apparent concern,.and at the same time with a half laugh
and finally the laugh prevailed, making it a subject
amusement. - This, we suppose, has reference to the n;
published by Mr. Stone, containing her vision in relatj,

Mr. Picrsoh and her cousin. Mr. Stone, who had seer} o4
papers, or Mr. Pierson’s diary, observes, that latter!;“ the
set down very little of religious experience, but . o0
diary was oeeupied with an account of the curre
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tions from day to day; and hence we believe, that this drary
-would confirm mucK of our statements: indeed we know 1t
-dwes, for the possessor has very naturally made it the sub-
_ jeet.of conversation with his friends, and some of the eon-
= tante have been recounted to us, and others are published
“In Mr. Stone’s book, and which agreeing with what we have
positive proof for, we know to be ‘correctly related. Mr.
- Burnham professes to bethe deadly enemy of Matthias, while
Mr. Pierson’s family do not think Mr. B. Folger worthy
“of respect; we cannot therefore conceive why important
facts honestly recorded in Mr. Pierson’s diary, illustrative
of the singular events at Sing-Sing, should be withheld from
+ any motives of delicacy, especially when many of those
facts are isolated and separated from Mr. Pierson, whose
sincerity no one doubts. It is however a fact, that Mr.
- Pierson destroyed considerable portions of his memoran-
dnms, just before his death, at the suggestion bf Matthias,
who preached against so much writing, and himself was
. 80 prudent as not to commit any thing to writing.
We -have before stated, that Matthias held much of the
property of Mr. Pierson, and he had in his possession the
title deeds of such property. After the sale of the goods at
Sing-Sing, Mr. Burnham, as the agent of Mr. Mahlon Pier--
son, and as a more fit person to transact business, waited
wupon Matthias to obtain from him the title deeds, accompa-
-nied with a friend. Mr. Stone relates that Matthias had
+agreed to give them up before their arrival, from a conver-
«mafion with Mr. B. Folger, and he gives a characteristic ac-
eount of this meeting. Matthias seated himself in a rocking
chair, and commenced preaching to them, exclusively occu-
qying the time, and when at last they became impatient, he
«declared that he should test the strength of the Gentile law;
and he afterward said to Mr. Folger, that the spirit had in-
rmed him, that he must not give up the property of God,
the devil. The parties of course left him in much irrita-
hond without effecting their object. On a second visit,
thoye™ after a suit in Chancery had commenced, he
possﬁ) proper to resign the deed_s in question, from the im-
: ‘v, we suppose, of obtaining bail to the enormous

.
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amount required, to prevent an sale'or injury to the property
till the suit should be disposed of.

‘We return now to the affairs of the kingdom, which grew
worse and worse. Mr. B. Folger’s discontent coftinued ;
and though- he had again given up his wife, he evidently
sought every opportunity of indulgence; and as the price
of which; he became extremely - polite to Matthias; while
Mrs. Folger, who evidently loved Matthias, not only chose
to indulge her husband occasionally, but evidently wished
to hold him to her affections, but inferior to Matthias, and.
consequently gave him many gracious smiles.: and while
caressing Matthias, or one of his little boys, would some-
times, by a peculiar wink, (certainly not very dignified,}
convey an idea to Mr. B. Folger, that she was not wholl
devoted to Matthias, but still held him and her other ebild-
ren in her affections. Matthias apparently began to see
this, and he became a little dissatisfied. He frequently ex-
claimed, that he did not want quite so much politeness on
the part of Mr. B. Folger; that he doubted some of its sin-
cerity : indeed he appeared to think it cost too much; and
when Mrs. B. Folger proposed taking a journey with her
husband to Albany, Matthias opposed it. But upon her -
representing to him, that Mr. Folger had sacrificed much
for him, she thought, as he wished it very much, she might
so far indulge him as to accompany himn in this journey.
The journey was undertaken, and Mrs. B. Folger sle
with her husband while thus travelling, either with or with-
out the knowledge of Matthias.

It should be remarked here, that Mr. B. Folger had made -
several journeys to Albany during the summer; and when
there, that he visited the family of Matthias: this we learn-
ed from Mrs. Matthias; but whether Mr. Folger renewed
his acquaintance with her daughter, or not, we do not
know. Yet Mrs. Matthias has this note in her little book :
—+ Matthias by his wife,” page 36,—+ Mr. B. Folger often
came to Albany on business, and called at our house. I
suppose his object still was; to influcnce my daughter, and
in some way to get her to join them,and me his sub-
stitute for his wife, whom he had given to Mr. M."" (Mat-
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thias.) On the occasion of one of these visits Mrs. Matthias
remarks, “ I then told him how [ felt towards Mrs. B. (Fol-
er,) and how sinful I thought her conduct to be.” And
ﬁe (MF. B. Folger) replied, that “ she was as pure as an an-
gel in the sight of heaven.” «I told him, thatT leoked up-
on her as no better than any other woman of ill-fame ; énd,
in many respects, I thought her to be worse.” (See « Mat-
thias,” by his wife, page 36. :

Notwithstanding these opinions, and that these opinions
were known to Mr. B. Folger, Mrs. Folger afierward visit-
ed Mrs. Matthias, the legal wife of Matthias, in New York,
and no caps were pulled; Matthias’ wife making no other
pretensions than that of a poor woman, while Mrs. Folger
sustained the character of the lady; and she very conde-
scendingly remarked, that she was agreeably surprised at
the manners and appearance of Mrs. Matthias, whom she
complimented on the expression of her cguntenance : in fact,
both the wife and the spouse of Matthias agreeably deceived
each other. -

On the return of Mr. Folgerand his wife from the North,
Mr. Folger was unwilling to give up his wife, although
she was very far gone in the family way, with the expected
holy son of Matthias, in whom there was yet much faith;
and the subject was now resumed of Matthias going into
. the West, to seek a farm. After some manifestations of dis-
satisfaction, on the part of Matthias and Mr. B. Folger, the
former resolved upon leaving the family, at least fora time,
and set out on a journey, and reached as far as Newark;
and Mr. B. Folger slept that night with his wife. When
Matthias left, he wept, and evidently went, more at the desire
of Mr. B. Folger than hisown. He.took with him no bag-

ge, and must consequently- have meant to return: yet,
gm what follows, he appears to have left his return un-
certain, as well as the place of his retreat.

In this flight Matthias compared himself to David, and
Mr. B. Folger to his unruly son Absalom, warring against
his father. The fact is, that Matthias had scarcely left the
house when Mrs. Folger commenced th~ most doleful lam-
entations, and manifesting the greatest mnarks of distress .
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and yet this was not three weeks before the kingdom was
dissolved. Her distress was so great, that it affected those
about.her, and drew the attention of the whole household :
even the little son of Matthias noticed and reported it to his
mother, when he gat back to Albany, (and she informed us.
of it;) while Isabella was perfectly astonished at what she
called her “taking on so.” Mr. B. Folger, too, became
distressed at the unhappiness of his wife; and being mel-
ed into sympathy, remarked, that ifthis was the consequence *
of Matthias’ departure, he could have no comfort with her,
and consequently wished him back. Among other expres-
sions of grief, she used this, just previousto Matthias’ de-
parture: “ How can I live if Father goes awaK 7 After
his departure she said to Mr- Folger, * What has beeorge
of him?". To which the good-natured husband replied, that
* he would go and see.” To Isabella and others she gave
also other reasons, in conjunction with her avowed affection:
for him, for her grief; she remarked, that Mr. Folger would,.
‘perhaps, ill use her when Matthias was gone. Before his
departure, too, when' complaining of altered circumstances,
as the causec why Matthias should leave them for the pre-
sent, Isabella, with much simplicity, forgetting her occa-
sional angry feelings at Mrs, Folger, offered to work for
the common good of the kingdom. She had before assisted .
Matthias, when hisallowance was stopped by Mr. Pierson;
her ?ﬂ'er, of course, ouly showed her sympathy—it was un-
availing. , .
‘Matthias, who probably knew the effect of his absence,
returned the next day, and was received with open arms;
and Mrs. Folger manifested joy as rapturous, at his return,
a8 her lamentations had been dolorous; and then followed
the last mockery of marriage, more solemnly contracted
than before. L
The church or kingdom was assembled, and Mr. B. Fol-
ger assuming the firmness of a man, and the sageness of
‘u philosopher, declared to Mrs. Folger in the most
solemn manner, that he was then about to give her up for
ever,; that after that period, he would never take her back
again. Then appealing to Catherine, he declared himself
8 )
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willing to take her for ever. but with muech solemnity and
apparent prudence and sageness, pointed outto her the diffi-
culties of her situation ; he foretold that theé world must be-
eome acquainted with the facts, and that persecution would
possibly follow ; and he then asked her solemyly, if she
wae willing to take him with these prospects, and if she
felt that she had strength to bear up against the frowns of
the world; concluding with repeating the question, was
she willing to take him for ever? To which Catherine,
who was unable to make a speech, or to look solemn, only
looked foolish, and" hung her head down, and drawled out
the accustomed « Yes, sir.”” And then appealing to ‘Mrs.
Folger again, Mr. Folger remarked, * Now Father takes
you for ever.” The unusual solemnity of Mr. Folger on
this occasion, and the firmness with which he pronounced
the words for ever, seemed to unnerve Mrs. Folger. She
was not accustomed to it; she paused, and faltered, as if
she was about to lose the influence she had exerted over
Mr. B. Folger, and this perhaps Matthias observed, and for
the first time, probably, conceived the idea, that Mrs. B. Fol-
ger really wished to retain two strings to her bow. How-
cver, the solemnities closed ; the family wounds were healed,
and the kingdom was again built up. Harmony reigned
that cvening, and Matthias, at night, retired with ‘Mrs. B.
Folger, while Mr. Folger led off the young widow ; each
. of the parties being now fixed for ever. We have already
remarked, that from Mr. Pierson’s death, the beginning of
August, 1834, up to the period we are now speaking of, (a
lapse of about five weeks,) there had been much dissatisfac-
tion, and the usual course had been observed to obtain peace.
Mr. B. Folger had been indulged for a time, 'as 1 his
northern journey, and then put off; when he would inter-
; dict Mrs. B. Folger from slecping with Matthias; and or
such oceasions, Mrs. B. Folger slept with Isabella, and on
these opportunities made to her very free communications,
whilethe subject of her union with Matthias seemed to occupy
much of her thoughts, and it became the subject of conver-
sation ; besides, being under partial restraint, and denied the
- ‘eompany of Matthiag, thie perhaps operated in exciting the
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. ination the more. Mrs. B. Fol had, on & former
oveasion, called the attention of Isabella when she entered
their bedfoom on a morning, to the subject of her happiness:
Br as she was laying her head on the beard of Matthias,
she remarked, « Isabella, this you sge is my pillow.” And
on the present occasion, or when Mrs. B. Folger was in
bed with Isabella, an® when Matthias was spoken of, Mrs.
Folger actually showed Isabella how Matthias- kissed or
embraced her. This, with other facts, shows clearly, that
the death of Mr. Pierson made no alteration either in the
faith of Mrs. Folger, or in her affections; and it shows most
alearly, that her mind was at least much occupied with her
enjoyments with Matthias, whom she still regarded as her
gmper spouse. The account therefore in Stone's book -of
her decline in faith, after Mr. Pierson’s death, is incorrect.

We approach now the crisis, the breaking up of the

kingdom, which is extremely characteristic. For three
weeks after this last'marriage, which was to bind them for
ever, the parties seemed to get on tolerably well. But Mrs.
Folger was probably more attentive to Mr. B. Folger than
before, as she evidently did not wish to lose her influence
over him ; and this perhaps excited or increased the jealous;

of Matthias, whom we before remarked did not like so muc}:
politeness on the part of Mr. Folger. For three weeks, Mr.
B. Folger seemed to be satisfied with Catherine, but he
éould not last out the honeymoon. * On Sunday afternoon,
September 15th, 1834, about three weeks afier the late mar-
riage, Mrs. B. Folger went into the garret to lay down on
Isabella’s bed, when Mr. B. Folger, after sometime, followed
her, entered the room, shut the door, and locked it. Now
whether Matthias' suspicions were awake, or whether by
accident, we know not; but, he too went up to the garret,
and finding it locked, ascertained who were within, and
why they had locked it; but as he had no legal remedy, he
hudy to put up with it. Catherine, who was a party in-
terested in this transaction, went into the kitchen, and said
‘%0 Isabella that Father had caught them, or caught her at
X 8he also complained, that it was too bad that-Mrs. Fol-
gor bad two men; and using an exaggeration, declared that

A}
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she had Matthias all night, and Ben Folger (as she said)
all day.* Soon after this, Mrs. Folger came down stairs,
and said to Isabella, that Mr.Folger had forced hér,{ but as
he was her legal husband, she had no remedy. Matthias
however, on this occasjon, did not impute all the blame to
Mr. Folger, for Mrs. Folger and Matthias after this had
some wotds for a day ortwo; and oh Tuesday night, Mat-
thias got out of bed, and left her.” She then also left the
bed, and came up stairs into Isabella’s bed, (Catherine was
at that time in bed.with Mr. Folger,) and lay down with
her, and mentioned the fact of Matthias’ leaving her, and
declared that she could not lay alone, for that ‘Pierson’s
.spirit haunted her. This she had said several times before,
and added,  that if she got out of the bed in the night or in
the dark, that she required Matthias to hold his hands over
her eyes, for she seemed to see Pierson’s spirit.] After a
short time Matthias also came into Isabella’s room, appa-
rently to look for Mrs. Folger, and seeing her in bed with
Isabella, he desired the coloured woman to get up, and leave
her, exclaiming that Mrs. Folger was a harlot; and used
the expression, “ My Lord and my God, have [ had that
devil in my bosom!” And then appealing to Isabella again,
exclaimed, « God will curse you if you do!"” (that is, lay in
bed with her.) To which Mrs. Folger replied, Well, where
can I go, I must go somewhere; where shall I go Father ?
Matthiag said, “ Go to the pit from whence you came, you
cursed creature.” - Matthias left the room, and Isabella got

* The exact words of Catherine were, “Lord God, Ben and Mother are locked
up in your bedroom together. What a devilish shame it i3, that a woman wants
two or three men,”

" Catherine left for a few minuu? and returning, added, “Father has catched
Ben and Mother together; Well, I never see-such a womsh in my life before,
Save you? she wants Fatier all ngm, and Ben all day.”

t Her words were, after inqui of Isabella if she had not heard of the

‘&fMir, “1 was fatigued, and was laying down on your bed, and Benjamin came
.4ap, and locked the door, and forced me ; and Father came up to the door, and
. 0ow he is angry. 1 am sure, Iam notto blame.”

" T The exact expressi an this ¢ ion, were, “Iam come to you for pro-

tection, for Pather has gone off, laying on the sofa, or somewhere or other, and

loft me ';l::: in thc's’bed; and Pierson’s devifish spirit haunts me, 8o that 1 don’t
to go.

Isabella replied, I wish to God he would appear to me, I would ask him what

N N . e

The wanted »

o5,
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wp, not because desired by Matthias, but because she could
not sleep in such a confusion. .

1n the momning, when Catherine left Mr. Folger's room,
Mrs. Folger went into it, and did not come down to break-

fast; but Mr. Folger took her up coffee: no regular

breakfast was taken that morning. The confusion of the
night, and the irritated state of the feelings of the party,
took away the appetite; Matthias scarcely eat any thing,

1sabella very little : and this is the breakfast, and the coffee,.

which Mr. B. Folger so imprudently said was poisoned,
and for which he recently had to pay to Isabella 8125 and
eosts, in a slander suit. Mr. B. Folger now became urgent
with Matthias to leave ; still there wps no direct quarrel-
ling, and Matthias did not leave that day ; this is ci” cor-
sequence, for the report of the poisoned coffec, supposed

that on the morning of his departure, the coffee was poi-

soned: in the course of the day considerable alterations
ook place: Mrs. Folger appeared again in the family, but
- with an altered tone; she now called Mr. B. Folger, Aus-
band, a term which she formerly used, but which had been
dropped since she was called mother; and she especially
informed Isabella that she wanted Mr. Folger to be obey-
ed; her tone towards Matthias was altered; and her beau-
tiful soft voice, seemed to have acquired a harshness; Mat.
_ thias was no longer the favourite, and Mr. Folger was again
taken to be her husband; and Matthias' physical powers
even, were now depreciated. By.what follows, it appears
that Mr. Folger was told by Mrs. Folger, that she had
never enjoyed the Father much, and that she greatly pre-

ferred him, Mr. B. Folger: and as Mr. Folger finds it

extremely difficult to" keep any secrets, this led to a very

eurious scene. When most of the family, kingdom, or

church, was assembled by accident in the kitchen, or base-

ment, including Mr. and Mrs. Folger, Matthias, Catherine,
and [ssbella, Mr. B. Folger, feeling confident in the affee-
tions of his wife, and perhaps not %mowingr how she had
formerly disparaged his physical powers, and knowing
oaly that she then disparaged those of Matthias, he ven-
tared o taunt -Matthias on thie “in‘; Matthias returned

Y

-
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the thrust, and appealed to Mrs. B. Folger for the truth ef
his assertions, and to confirm what she had formerly said:
of Mr. B. Folger, who also appealed to her, to confirm
what she had just said of Matthias; being thus appealed
to, by her husband and her spouse, she had resort to her
ingenuity to get out of her difficulty : she said, ‘that when
she spoke of Matthias, she did not refer to actual enjoyment,
but that as she had a complaint, éthe falling of the womb,)
and she found that Matthias made her better, by replacing
the fallea part, and that in consequence of this benefit she
had thus spoken of him; but that she greatly preferred
Mr. B. Folger, whom she enjoyed most. In the com-
mencement of this discourse, by the chief leaders in the
kingdom, Isabella was directed to some employment out of
the kitchen, as had frequently been done before, when any
delicate or family subject was agitated; but she, feeling
that the kingdom was about to be dissolved, declined obey--
ing, and chose to stay and hear out this singular dispute. -
In the course of the day, however, Mrs. IFolger informed .
Matthias that she would not sleep with Mr. Folger till the
child was born ; this resolution, however, we expect was
not kept.

Mr. B. Folger continued more urgent with Matthias, yet
no actual quarrel ensued: he offered Matthias any quantity
of money, any thing to get rid of him; he saw that the
disaffection of his wife was a favourable opportunity, and
he pressed it, as Matthias told us; he said that Mr. Folger
was with him, as Pharoah with the children of Israel, any
thing to get rid of them, and then to pursue them, as in
his case. Matthias, in reply tothe offer of money, remark- .
ed, that if he, Mr. B. Folger, felt as though he had money
which belonged to God, he might give it him; and Mr.
B. Folger gave Matthias 8500 on the day of his departure.
Mr. Western, however, shows that this money was still
given to Matthias to buy a farm, agreeable to the first idea.
Isabella also had engaged to go, and Mr. and Mrs. Folger .
insisted on paying her wages as a compensation, and gave
her $25. Henry too had been paid off before this period,
and thus the kingdom was virtually broken up; but



NARRATIVE OF ISABELLA. . 96

Matthias just after that time, acknowledged only to his
. wife, at Albany, that it was necessary that the church
should go into the wilderness for a time; still adhering to
the notion of a farm, and a reunion. There is something
very curious with this gift of money to Matthias and Isa-
bella, with- after circumstances. The money was given
partly in silver and partly in gold, and Mr. B. Folger
urged that Isabella should take the charge of the gold;
but she declined, and, like a great fool, added her money,
received as wages, to that given to Matthias, for the good,
we suppose, of the kingdom. Matthias, however, return-
ed her money before he left the house. It was very well
that Isabella did not take charge of this gold, for no
sooner was Matthias and Isabella gone, than Mr. Folger
raised reports, not only of her having poisoned his family,
but excited suspicion.that he had been robbed: it appears
one of the faitings of Mr. B. Folger, that he could never
get out of one difficulty without getting into another; and
we have proofs not’ onls;r of his bringing this charge, con-
nected with the other, for which he had to pay 8125; but,
when detected in the Jast act of grossness, after giving up his
wife for ever, and taking Catherine for ever, we have proof
of his charging this very act on Matthias, and another per-
son, which if we were to mention, he would be immediately
prosecuted again for slander: we have proof, too, of him
and Mrs.B. Folger, after the whole was settled, going to
Mr. Latourette, in the Bowery, and making-there a_reli-
gious confession, acknowledging the very things mentioned
I this book, appearing penitent, spending much time in
prarer; and yet, in the midst of this very confession, Mr.
Folger imputes sins to others, which would expose him to
a prosecution if made known ; and to prevent this, he binds
his confessor to secrecy; but his confessor told it to his
wife, or a part of it, and his wife to a Mrs. Mc Comb, in Fourth
~street, amﬁhis lady mentioned it to a cousin of Mr. Folger,
whom Stone so much’ abuses, and she mentioned a part of
this confession to us; and much of these “facts we after-
ward got confirmed by Mr. Latourette himself, indirectly
indeed, for being bound as he supposed to secreey, he den
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clined a.positive answer to some questions, but subetas-
tially confirmed what we before knew. This attempt %o
injure the reputation or fame of another, without daring to
do it openly, destroys our faith, both in the sincerity and
efficacy of the accompanying long prayers and tears; it is
like getting absolution with the purpose of sinning again,
In Mr. Stone’s book, “ Matthias and his Impostures,” the
account given of the transactions at Sing-Sing, and in No. 8
Third street house, is avowedly given by Mr. and Mrs. B.
Folger. From such a source we could have no right to
expect a correct statement of such transactions as we have
related, in which they were the chief actors; and this. Mr.
Stone must have known: and yet he endorses their account
{see page 221 of his work) as *a round unvarnished tale;”
“and is, moreover, as far as it goes,” as he says, “a tale of
unexaggerated, unadorned, and simple truth.” We cannot

* notice all the errors and omissions in this “simple ¢ruth ;”

but our readers may like to see their version of the few last
days, and they may amuse themselves by weaving our ac-
count in that published bK Mr. Stone; and then, by making
an allowance, from a wish to shift the blame from their own
shoulders—and from the supposition that Matthias would
not be believed if he wrote—and that the coloured woman
would not be heard, because she could not read or-write—
the accounts then may be reconciled with ours, and will be
found tolerably minute., To assist in this explanation we
shall add notes. ' )

Mr. and Mrs. Folger, up to the period of a few days be-
fore the rupture just explained, acknowledge themselves as
believers in Matthias; but wished him to retire on a farm,
as before explained. The last events are then thus noticed
in Mr. Stone’s book ; see pages 213, 14, 15,16, 17. |

« Atlength, while Mr. Folger was abroad, Matthias began
to charge Mrs. Folger as being responsible for breaking up
‘the kingdom.” She would then tell the family, in his
presenee, what the circumstances were, but to little or no
purpose; for, ‘as soon as her back was turned, he would
say so. much to the contrary, as to recall them to believe in
-his statements; and they no doubt were aware that it might-
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be some time before they would be able to find another so
independent and well-provided a home.

" ﬁr Folger, at this time,* was much occupied and tried
in his mind with business perplexities; and finding him
still decided in his determination to separate from Matthias,
Mrs. Folger forbore to mention to him her trials in his ab-
senee from the house, being sustained by the hope of a
speedy deliverancet from them. But Matthias at last as-
certaming that Mr. Folger was not to be wrought upon
farther by him, attempted to terrify Mrs. Folger into a far-
ther belief of his doctrines. She, however, told him, that
she had not faith, and therefore could not exercise it. He
asked, if it was then her determination to pursue the course
her husband had pursued; if it was, he added, he had
made the same sign for her he had made for Mr. Pierson,
which would not fail. She said firmly, it was. He them
said, at the height of his voice, which was, on the whole,
deafening, stamping at the same time violently with his
feet, she should ge p-A-M-N-E-D!} Mrs. Folger was much
alarmed, and feared that the earth would open and swallow
her up, or something worse. She was then quite unwell
and wearied, and did not feel sure, for a time, but that some
of his curses had taken effect. But finding that she out-
lived one curse, she felt encouraged to urge her husband,
when he came home in the evening,§ to be more prompt in
effecting the dismissal of Matthias; and on the following
morning she proposed that he should leave her up stairs,
and say to Matthias distinctly, that he should have no more
opportunity of preaching to her, and insist upon his leaving
that day. This was done, and he promised to go, but re-

* This was after Mr. Folﬁ r had infringed the conditions of the
Jast solemn marriage; which, with the former marriage, and vio-
lation of the contract, are wholly omitted in Stone’s book.

¥ Matthias vilified her after the violation of the last marriage
compact.

$ His abuse of her, after she left his bed, and was in bed wisth
Isabella, as explained in our text.

§ When she went up to his bed, after Catherine had left it.

9
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uested that the family might dine together once more.—

r. Folger took Mrs. Folger's breakfast up to her room,
and she drank freely of the coffee. She then asked to have
her little daughter, about six years old, sent up to her.—
When the child came up stairs, she said, ¢ Mother, Mr. Mat-
thias said, that was not the Lord's table they ate at this
morning, but the devil’s’ and that Mr. Matthias did not eat
any breakfast. The child likewise said, that the coffee was
not good, and that she could not drink it.* )

« Mr. Folger being much occupied that morning, in de-
‘livering the articles of furniture belonging to the estate of
Mzr. Pierson, which was to be sold at auction, sent for Mrs.
Folger, as he needed her assistance.t Meeting her little son,
about ten years of age, as she descended the stairs, he said
“to her, * Mother, the coffee was so bad this morning I could
hardly drink it’} She merely replied to him, being busy,
*Why did you drink it then? and the circumstance
escaped her mind, as did the other complaint from the little

irl.
& Matthias seized an opportunity, while Mr. Folger was
in another part of the house delivering furniture, to renew
his threats upon Mrs. Folgerd He was then seated in the
kitchen, preaching to Catherine and the coloured woman.
Mrs. Folger was engaged down stairs, and continued to be
until dinner was ready. Matthias did not eat any dinner,
but wept while the rest were eating—intending, perhaps,
to try the force of tears, for he did shed real tears. Mrs.

* Al the family in confusion, in consequence of Mrs. Folger -
leaving Matthias’ bed in the night, and successively entering Isa-
bella’s and Mr. Folger's. Matthias was in a rage, and ate no break-
fast. The child might or might not have observed that the coffee
was bad : there was no evidence of this on the late trial.

+ The singular conversation about the relative physical powers
of Matthias and Mr. B. Folger probably took place at this time.

$+ This may or may not be true. It was not brought forward at
the late trial, where no defence was offered, and Mr. Folger con-
victed of a malicious libel in relation to this coffee.

§ Mrs. Folger promised not to unite with Mr. Folger till the
holy child was born. .
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‘Polger did not observe the coloured woman at that time,
but has at other times, that she did not eat when Matthias
abstained. Mrs. Folger retired to her room, after dinner,
with her children. It rained that afternoon; and Matthias
ilelded that circumstance as an excuse to Mr. Folger that
e did not depart. At supper-time Matthias seated himself

at the table, but did not Partake. He remarked, that he
began to realize his situation, and commenced pronouncing
woes upon those who had caused it. Mr. Folger forbade
his preaching any more to his family, and he was silenced
for the time, _ "

“Mr. Folger asked him if he should send his sons to
their mother in Albany. Matthias replied, “ he would as
soon send them to hell!” but, in the same breath, said, “ he
wished he would” On a second reflection, however, it
seemed to be his design to keep house somewhere in New
York. He packed up their (Sothes with his, and said, he
should take them with him. Mr. Folger soon after this re-
sollected, that he had promised their mother, that if they
were to leave his family, he would send them to her. He
accordingly told Matthias of i, and that it must be done:
and in three days, after having things properly prepared,
Mr. Folger committed them to the care of the captain of. a
steamboat, paid their expenses to Albany, and sent them
home. ’

«Immediately after supper, on the last night Marthias
was in the house, he went to bed. Mr. Folger had an er--
rand out on business, and went to attend to it. Mrs. Folger,
with Catherine, retired to her room; but having occasion
to go to the kitchen after a while, Matthias was found there
with the coloured woman. Catherine accompanied Mrs.
Folger to the kitchen; whereupon Matthias and the col-
oured woman began to persuade her to join them in keep-
ing house: and they no doubt would have induced Cathe-
rine to go with them, but for the advice of Mr. and Mrs,
Folger.

“ During that night Mrs. Folger was quite unwell, and
<did not sleep. She vhseryed thut Mr. Folger was very rest-
loss, and groaned in his sleep. The children, who were in
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the next room with Cathetine, were restless and wakeful,
and rather wild and light-headed. Catherine was also rest-
less, and groaned in her sleep.®

“Mrs. Folger then rememgered the children's complaint
about the coffee, and Matthias not eating when they did.t
In consequence of this, she told Catherine in the mornin
to get breakfast separately for us; to be sure they wash
every thing to be used, and not to use any of the provisions
fhen in the house. Catherine then mentioned to Mrs. Fol-
ger, that she had observed the coffee.was bad the morni
before, had a strange taste, and had something white in :ltg
—that she had asked the coloured woman the cause of it,
who had replied, that she could not expect to have good
coffee, or any blessing, while her Father was offended.§
This morning, Mr. Folger went down, at Mrs. Folger’s re- -
quest, to see that her instructions were obeyed. Mr. Fol-
ger and family took breakfast in the parlour: Matthias, the
<oloured woman, and Matthias’ sons, below stairs.

“ After breakfast, Mr. Folger told Matthias he must be
off immediately—that he should not leave the house until
he had gone—that as for his sons, they should be sent to
their mother. Matthias undertook again to display some
of his lofty movements, and made some objections; but the
spell was broken, and his day had passed. He was soon
silenced, upon being assured, that if there-was any farther
trouble \vitﬂohim, Mr. Folger would step to the police-office
and get assistance. He consumed all the time he could in
getting his clothes together, and asking for many articles,

& Catherine was restless, for she had just lost_her spouse, lately

taken by her for ever; on that day she had cried and wrung her

. hands at her loss, till comforted by Mr. B. Folger, who promised
to protect her.

+ None of this evidence was produced on the late trial.

-4 -Mr. Folger endeavoured to repair the injury of the libel by
charging Catherine as the author, and saying that she was an in-
id'ernal liar. (This came out on the late trial, in Mr. Whiting’s evi-

ence.)

§ Isabella had observed, that “the curse of God was on that
Douse,” in reference to the proceedings we have related. -
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which were denied him. He exercised considerable inge-
nuity to obtain them; but his true character was under-
stood, and his motions were watched. He at last ¢btained
a cartman, sent away his baggage, and departed himself
about noon, on the 18th or 19th of September. :

« Mr. and Mrs. Folger went, the same day, in search of
a more suitable residence.”*

We ask, now, what authority this book of Mr. Stone’s
can have, as illustrating “ The Progress of Fanaticism,”
as Mr. Stone has it in his title-page, when it so completely
garbles and obscures the facts?

In relation to the property of Mr. Pierson, we have al-
ready said, that much dissatisfaction exists amongst his re-
latives. He was supposed to.be worth $80,000, by his own
representations; but Matthias, and some of his neighbours,
suppose he over-rated himself, as many others do. He did
give away large sums in his various charities, and in the
kingdom. We know Matthias’ tailor’s bills were sent to
him, and that his expenditures were extremely free; but
the household expenses in the kingdom, even though they
had a large family, could not be much, as all in that family
worked; even the Father and the Mother worked a little,
and living on a farm, in a plain way, each must have pro-
duced nearly as much in value as what he consumed, ex-
eept the Prophet. The land speculation was decidedly good. .
The machinery does not appear to have cost Mr. Pierson
much; nay, he possibly gained by it. His stock specula-
tion is alone doubtful, we have no evidence on it. -But the
greatest cause of dissatisfaction is the loss of Mr. Pierson’s
_ accounts—and this indeed is a mystery. Mr. Pierson was
a good accountant, had always kept his own affairs in or-
der; and when a firm with which he was connected was
once bankrupted, he it was who made up the accounts, to
the satisfaction of the parties concerned. From these facts,
and the habit of Mr. Pierson to put to paper even the trivial
transactions of the day, his family amﬁ'riends believe that

* This going to seek a new residence is not very reconcilable .
with the siekness said to be occasioried by the coffee. .
9
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be must have Lef accousts of his property and money trans-
acticas: ard yet o soch accoanes can be found: and & is
these papers whick 5ave been so mech sought after, and
the abeence of which creates 3o much dissausfaction.
Connected wzh these papers. there is one subject we
have ommed. pariy because we could not give the correct
daie, and pandy from an unwillingness w0 undertake it,
from us pature; we have, however. promised to give the
whole truth, and, therefore, we shal! give the facts as rela-
ted 15 us, leaving reflections to our readers. Afier the sale
of zonds at Sing-Sing. belonging to Mr. Pierson, that gen-
teman's goods, property. and papers. were sought after in
the house in Third street: the key of that part of a bureau,
supposed to contain Mr. Pierson’s papers. was lost; buat
Mr. Folger, about tha: time, was examining papers for
two days; and Isabella, when looking after sheets and
other linen of Mr. Pierson’s to be given up for sale, enter-
ed the room in which the bureau was, and observing a

change in its appearance which arrested her attention, and . -

not knowing what was in it, for though she had heard
some noise about a key and papers, she did not identify
them with this bureau ; indeed, a person who neither reads
or writes, and who has no property, takes very little inter-
est in papers: this bureau having attracted her attention,
while in search for linen, she put her hand on the top of it
and it came open,—the drawer, as she expresses herself,
dropped out; she then discovered that this piece of furni-
ture contained small compartments, and different papers
tied up, but these did not attract her attention, and nothing
like sheess or linen appearing, she would have shut this
drawer up immediately, had not an object of curiosity ar-
rested her; this was a small round magnifying or shaving-
glass, and taking this glass up, to her astonishment, she
discovered that it enlarged her face enormously ; forgetting
all other subjects, and not supposing she had done any
thing wrong, she told Catherine of this curiosity, stating
where she iad seen it; and Catherine next took it to Mr.
B. Folger, then in another room. Mrs. Folger, who was
present, appeared surprised at the exposure; but Mr. Fol-
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ger manifested no surprise, either at the object, or at Cath-
erine’s having it; and this should be remembered, for it
supposes that Mr. B. Folger did not know that it was
taken from that drawer, or else that that act was of rfo conse-
quence. Mrs. B. Folger, however, discovered an im
portance in this transaction, and immediately informed
Matthias that Isabella had opened .a drawer of Mr. Pier-
son's, and she brought him down stairs to scold Isabella, .
she coming side by side with Matthias, and leaning
on him, and in the scolding part supplying him with
words, and making a case the worse for her interference;
it was this quality in Mrs. B. Folger which chiefly annoy.
ed Isabella. Matthias scolded Isabella severely for med-
dling with the drawer. Isabella defended herself by stating -
that she was looking for sheets. Mrs. Folger remarked,
« that any one that would open a drawer would do any
thing else.” Isabella denied opening it, declaring that she
laid her hand on it, and the drawer came open; that it was
neither latched nor locked. The reflections of Mrs. Folger
eaused Isabella to express a determination to leave the
kingdom ; for this, it appears, Mrs. Folger nor Matthias
was prepared, and Mrs. Folger coming into the kitchen
again, entered into explanations, and stated that she did not
mean to say that Isabella had designedly broken open the
drawer, but that, being very strong, she had broken the
lock or ketch undesignedly, and thus opened the drawer
while handling the bureau. Isabella repfied. emphatically,
* No, there was no ketch or lock broken, the drawer came
open simply in touching it.”" All this while Isabella had
attached no importance to the transaction; but Mrs. B
Folger now remarked, softening her voice to a low tone,
that “if it were known that the drawer was opened, Mr.
Folger would be ruined.” She further remarked, *that if
Mr. Burnham, (the agent of Mr. Pierson’s relatives,) had
eome, he would have put in the key and opened it, and he
never would have known that it had been opened.” (This -
was said in reply to some other remark of Isabella.) To
this observation Isabella replied, Oh! oh! (with some
asonishment,) was there any of Mr. Pierson’s papers
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there? perceiving for the first time, what she thought the
eause of Mrs. Folger's anxiety. Mrs. Folger replied, No.
Isabella afterward resided about ten days in the house with
Mr. Burnham, and stated to him all the transactions which
we have recorded. We draw no conclusions from these
facts relative to this drawer and quarrel; but we think it
due to Mr. Folger to state, that he did not mix up with the
quarrel, or show any anxiety about it. Nor do we ascribe
to Mrs. Folger, individually, any improper connexion with
this transaction. '



CHAPTER V.

Mo suddon change in the opinions, but a change in the feelings of Mras.
B. Foiger— Teaita in the characler ¢f Matthias—Design or_incon-
aistency of Mr. and Mrs. Folger in arrest of Matthias— Pierson -
‘@isinterred, and a new chain of events—Mr. Western and Wilson—
Curious scene at Bellevue— Pierson again disinterred, and a charge
of murder preferred against Matthias— T'rial put off—T"+ Holy

ild, a female—Catherine confirms Isabella’s Narrative—1 i¢ iriui
- ite Plains— Matthias interrupls the court, and is first tried for
msanity ; but ackn azledged sane by the jury— The evidence—Maithias
@oquitted without a defence— Vindictive trial of Matthias for assault
om hs daughter—Convicted and sentenced—Present situation of the
mrominent members of the latc kingdom— Conclusion.

T'ne parties composing the kingdom being now separated,
and the events which followed being generally known, we
might leave off here; but we are desirous of leaving a cor-
rect record of the transactions of the party, and fully illus-
trating the characters in these strangest of all transactions.
And that we cannot fully do, without a brief notice of what
has since' occurred ; besides, we have left Mrs. B. Folger
enceinte of a supposed holy son, and some curiosity neces-
mrily exists in relation to this subject. In the anonymous
and distorted notice of these transactions, it was stated that
this expected son being a daughter, convinced Mrs. Folger
of her error; instead of which, the child was not born when
the parties separated in bad feeling, as we related in the:
last chapter. o

‘We have noticed the altered manners of Mrs. B. Folger
towards Matthias. His jealousy and distrust of her, ap-
parently estranged her affections from him; but no sudden
discovery took place, which altered her views. It was evi-
dent that long before this, the divine and sublime character
of Matthias had been differently estimated in the kingdom,
especially by Mrs. B. Folger. Notwithstanding Matthias
was illiterate, a bad and coarse speaker, apparently mad,
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vain in his person and apparel, an_enthusiast, with much
eunning ; yet when dr he was of genteel demeanour,
he had read much, and mingled much philosophy with his
religion and madness; and philosophy prevailed towards
the latter days. He preachet:lp happiness on earth, not in the
sky, as the Scripture doctrine; and some of his measures
were calculated to effect that end. Religious worship,
prayers, and singing, were nearly extinct in the kingdom,
while his maxims, referring chiefly to this life, were firmly
established ; and his followers in the kingdom, includin
Mrs. Folger, continued attached to him, lessfrom hisspiritual,
than his mundane qualities. He was extremely cleanly,
and a lover of order; and with his authority, tﬂe whole
house partook of these qualities. He was temperate, with-
out being abstemious, except in wine and spirits, of which
he took none. We have no evidence of his being inconstant
to Mrs. Folger; and his wife considered him a chaste man,
while she knew him; she does nut believe that he formed
any connexion with any other female, while living with her
in a state of matrimony. And he informed us, that he had
no matrimonial union with his wife, since he first declared
himself a Jew, and allewed his beard 10 grow. His wife
then declared that she would not have a Jew; and this
formed part of his excuse to usfor his union with Mrs. Fol-
ger. We know too, that when he returned to Albany after
the breaking up of the kingdom, that he did not sleep in his
wife's house, aﬁhough he gave her a large sum of money,
and the care of nearly the whole for a short time. His
maxims'and interpretations of Scripture were peculiar and
original ; at least to the party forming the kingdom, and as
they were firmly believed in, his disciples, we believe, rather
gave him credit for great wisdom and penetration, than for
any divine character. Indeed we have now in our rosses-
sion, a letter written by Mr. B. Folger to one of his relatives,
in which he expresses himself as unhinged in his religious
opinions, towards the close of the kingdom, and without ex-
Eteissing a belief in Matthias. There was then, as we be-
ieve, no sudden disbelief of Matthias. He had gradually
aséumed another character; without any formal resignation
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of his former. He was fond of his fine garments and long
beard for their own sakes, and Mrs. B. Folger was fond of
him for his personal qualities. But when she became the
object of his resentment, her love fot a moment appeared*
to turn to hatred. Before ever Matthias left the house,
something of this feeling was shown, but immediately on
his departure, it assumed a most baneful course. If we
look.for any deliberate plan or design running in connected
links through the whole period of the kingdom, on the part
of any one of the members, we shall perhaps be disappointed;
we believe that not one of them was capable of such con-
sistency, unless it were Mr. Pierson in his beiter days; the
rest, including Matthias, evidently were inconsistent, and
changed their mind from time to time; and that, too, in some
cdses most foolishly. Thus we have already related that
Mr. B. Folger gave Matthias $500 in gold and silver, on the
eve of his departure, when both he and his wife expressed
an unfriendly feeling. This, too, was deliberately done,
and Catherine and Lsabella were called as witnesses; Isabella,
too, was paid $25. Now this calling of witnesses seems to
suppose a deliberate act, and a wish to prevent mistakes.
This gift of morey was, too, accompanied with some curious
advice, as we before related. Matthias was advised to let
Isabella take charge of the gold, assuming that she and
Matthias would travel together; and Matthias was further
advised, when he arrived at the end of his destination, to
Rlllt the money in a bedpost. At the same time, Mr. and

rs. Folger were very particulur in inquiring where Mat-
thias and Isabella were going, and when, and by what con-
veyances. But at this time, neither of these persons could
tell, for they had made no definite arrangements; while
Catherine secretly advised Isabella not to go with Matthias,
and to get back her money, for that Matthias would be taken
up. Isabella had then confidence in Matthias, and knew
of no reason why he should be taken up; she therefore
treated this advice with contempt. Matthias and Isabella
left Mr. Folger’s house in Third street, on Thursday, 19th
of September, 1834, separately; without stating where they
were going. Matthias, however, told Isabella she might
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hear of him at Mr. Durando’s, eorner of Chamber amd
Chatham streets, and Mr. Folger engaged to take Matthias’
sons to Albany. Isabella, on calling on Mr. Durando, only
learned that Matthias had left the city, without leaving any
directions. She then determined upon going immediately
to Albany, as she had promised Matthias that she would be
there on Saturday, when his children were expected, and
explain the circumstances to his wife. For this purpose she
returned to Third street house, to take her luggage, but de-
clined stating where she was going. Mrs. Folger, how-
ever, and Catherine, kissed her, and wished her good-b;;
they were, too, making bedticks, as she supposed, for the
eountry; and at that time no unfriendly feelings were mani-
fested either towards her or Matthias; nor was either she
or Catherine ill from the effects of any coffee, taken the day
previous, as in Mr. Stone’s account; besides, Mrs. Folger
went out the same day a house hunting; and no poisoned
coffee prevented this, or her kissing Isabella, as just related.
Isabella, after calling on Mr. John Dumont on her jour-
ney, reached Albany by the Nimrod on Saturday, and found,
with some surprise, that Matthias had preceded her, and was
sitting in his wife’s house. It appears, he had then given
his wife the money to take care of, and had told her, that
“the kingdom must retire into the wilderness for a time.”
- Matthias went out soon after Isabella arrived, and the bo
presently came in, not brought by Mr. Folger, but sent g;
him in a towboat. Scarcely hag the boys arrived, when
one of them (John) exclaimed to his mother, « Mother,” Mr.
B. Folger has got a police officer -after father, for stealing
and robbing things;” the other boy confirmed this, and on
the re-entry of Matthias, these statements were made to him,
and he was interrogated by his wife, to whom he explained
all the cireumstances, and took no precaution to escape.
Isabella not understanding the subject, returned on Monday
to Mr. J. Dumont, near Hyde Park, with whom she form-
erly lived, perhaps for advice. On Tuesday, Matthias was
. taken by two police. officers, Smith and another; and Isa-
bella hearing of it, when the boat arrived, returned to Al-
bany to make inquiry. And of Mrs. Matthias. she then
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asked the previous character of Matthias, and finding him
honest, she persuaded his wife to come to New York, where
they might together assist him. It appears that Mrs. B.
Fof'ger had advised the employment of (as she said) Old
Hays, who she said would do his duty in this affair, but
that Mr. B. Folger had objected, because Mr. Hays knew
Matthias, and this apparently strange reason induced them
to employ two officers comparatively unskilful. Nor can
this strange transaction be explained, except by connecting
it with some others. There was, about that time, diligent
inquiry concerning Mr. Pierson’s property, a small sum
being only recovered ; suspicion had been excited, and the
body of Mr. Pierson had been disinterred a few weeks after
his death, and the unlearned surgeons employed on that oc-
casion, tended rather to increase, than allay suspicions.
The key of the bureau had been lost, and the accounts not
fourd; but the bureau opened. Mr. Folger, .as residing
with Mr. Pierson, and as being intimately engaged with
him in money transactions, and keeping his accounts, as
Matthias informed us, was necessarily mixed up with these
affairs and suspicions. Now, whether designed or not, there
certainly’ was the appearance of making Matthias and Isa-
bella the scapegoats in these transactions. It may not have
been so; but it does look, as if Matthias and Isabella being
sent into the wilderness, were made to bear the suspicions
with them then existing; for there was no ground whatever
for charging Matthias with stealing. Nor was Mr. Folger
duped out of the $500; it was a deliberate act, after he had
ceased to be a believer in his divine character; and having
made the charge, he never supported it. While rejecting
Hays because he knew Matthias, seems as if he did not
wish Matthias to be taken; nor can we conceive that he
did, as he had committed no legal offence; indeed, he and
Mrs. Folger had_no thought of his being taken, supposing
Matthias and Isabella had gone South. No sooner, how-
ever, was Matthias taken, and a trial almost certain, when
the charge must be sustained, than Mr. B. Folger circulated
the poison story, and declared that Isabella, in conjunction
with Matthias, had attempted to poison his family ; and this
10 '
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. seemsto have been an after thought, to injure the character
of Isabella, as Mr. Western stated in court, to affect the tes-
timony she was expected to give in favour of Matthias. For
when Mrs Folger and Catherine kissed her, and spoke
-kindly the day after the coffee was drank, and when they
were In good health, and Mrs. Folger was house-hunting ;

-it is evident no thought of poison was entertained. And the
.groundlessness of this charge has since been determined by
.a conviction of Mr. B. Folger for slander, and damages of
8125 'paid to Isabella: and in this case, too, no defence
was offered, as if there was even no ground for such a sus-
picion. Whatever may have been the design of Mr. Fol-
ger in these measures, they produced a new chain of cir-
cumstances, and led to events which he had not calculated.

Matthias was now in custody, under a charge of stealing
or swindling, with a report, circulated by Mr. Folger, that
-he and Isabella had poisoned his family. The consequence
-of these charges was, that the body of Mr. Pierson was
:again disinterred, and again examined by medical men;
some of whom were not much more learned than the form-
er, if we can judge by their testimouy in court, where they
excited much laughter, by their assuinptions and ignorance.
In the mean time Matthias was brought up for examina-
‘tion; and he showed, clear enough, that the money had
been givento him; and shortly after Mr. B. Folger pub-
licly admitted this fact® But the presumption was, that he

* had been duped ; and public feeling, including those of the
> magistrates, regarded all the villany on the part of Mat-
s thias; and he was committed for trial, for obtaming money
-under false pretences.

In the mean time Isabella went to Morristown, to ‘Mr.
Pierson’s friends, to justify herself; but was received with
:suspicion : she went to her former friends, but was met, in
.every direction, with the charge of poisoning Mr. Folger's
‘family : yet no attempt was made to take her into custody,
-nor did she seek to escape. She took, too, the very wise
precaution of getting written characters from all her former
~employers, which we published in our first number: she
assisted also Matthias, necessarily, in vindicating herself .
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A Mr. Hall had been employed by Matthias' wife; bat
he peing absent when wanted at the trial, Mr. Western ac-
cidentally undertook the defence of Matthias: and after a
powerful appeal, by him, in support of the claims of Mat-
thias to have a fair trial, his trial was adjourned.

A friend of Matthias’ wife, a Mr.+Robinson, then sought
a lawyer, to undertake his case; and as Isabella was neces-
sarily chief witness, he took her with him to Mr. Wilson,
who spoke of Matthias as a deast : and as this mode of speak-
ing of him did not suggest the chance of an able lawyer in
his favour, Isabella advised trying some other. Mr. Rob-
inson then took her to Mr. Western, and that gentleman
patiently heard her whole story: and when she mentioned
having called on Mr. Wilson, he very liberally declared his-.
wish that she should call on him again, offering to assist .
Mr. Wilson, if he requested it, or become second counsel..
She did call again on Mr.Wilson, and told him of her hav-
ing seen Mr. Western.  Wilson acted with less liberality ;
and peevishly asked, * Why did you go to Western ?”’ and
added, soothingly, I am going to act like a Christian.”

Now it so happens, that the name of Christian had been
associated with every act of violence towards Isabella and
Matthias. Matthias called himself a Jew; stating that Je-
sus was a Jew, and came to show men how to’become the
sons of God. He denounced several real corruptions in-’
the doctrines and practices of the common church, and ad-
vanced new and peculiar doctrines of his own, assuming an
independent interpretation of Scripture. Those who re-
ceived these doctrines formed * the kingdom,” the rest were
called “devils.” Those who had violently sent Mr. Mills
to the Lunatic Asylum, and who hired brutal men in New
York to cut off Matthias’ beard, did it in the name of Chris-
tianity. And Mr. Mills, the brother of the friend of Mat- -
thias, struck Isabella a violent blow on the neck, the swell-
ing of which even now troubles her: and this was done in
‘the name of the Lord ! while some of the most distinguished
clergy and Christians assisted on that occasion, Matthias,
however, held that.he had the truth, and all others were
called devils; and of these, in his estimation, the Chtis~
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.tians (confounding all) were the worst part: and while he
distinguished his party as Jews, the others were called em-
phatically Christian Devils, by way of contempt; associa-
ting always the idea of the violence done him and his party
in the name of Christ. When, therefore, Mr. Wilson told
Isabella, that « he was going to act like a Christian,” she
received it with the prejudice she had imbibed from some
late acts, and from the instruction she had lately been under.
Besides, about this time, she suffered an act of gross injus-
tice from Mr. Latourette, fur-merchant, in Peartl-street and
the Bowery, and a very prominent Christian: for when ap-
plied to for a character, during the time he knew her, in
common with others she had served, he: refused it; al-
.though he admitted to us, afterward, that she was exem-

lary—a child of God, and eminently gifted and favoured
Ey God, (she used to preach at camp meetings;) and in-
‘deed gave her the very best character for morals, truth, in-
dustry, and intelligence. Instcad of giving her this cha-
racter, in reference to her former conduet, when it would .
have been of use to her, labouring under Folger's charge
of poisoning; he preached to her about leaving his church,
which he seemed to consider backsliding: yet she asked
for nothing that she had not a perfect right to—she wanted
no favour—she did not ask him to presume her present
goodness; but she simply ssked a character, while in con-
nexion with his church, and occasionally in his service
and house. Isahella, then, not liking the offer of Mr. Wil-
son, returned to Mr. Western, to confirm her testimony be-
fore given; and he undertook the defence of Matthias, and
advised also the prosecution of Mr. B. Folger for slander,
as the only means to establish her character, and make her
an effective witness. .

On this suit being commenced, it is remarkable that Mr.
B. Folger went immediately to the parties through whom
he had circulated the slander, and contradicted his own
statements, offering to give Isabella the very best character.
This came out in Mr. Whiting’s evidence, in the case of the
late slander suit. We have seen also a letter from Mr.:
Folger to-Mr. Whiting, in which he admits the falseness of -
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the charge, but foolishly puts it off on Catherine's shoul-
ders. Indeed, Mr. Folger appears incapable of excusing
himself, without accusing some other person; and this
weakness is a prominent feature of his character, and ex-
plains many foolish circumstances.

Matthias, at this time, lay in Bellevue; and while here, '
a singular scene occurred. Some friends of Mrs. Matthias.
had advised her to seek a divorce; and in order to do this,
to obtain some money from Matthias, or an order to get it; -
for the remains of the 8500 had been lodged in a bank. Mr.
B. Folger became acquainted with this movement ; perhaps
Mrs. Matthias had mentioned it to him, for the purpose of
exacting a composition. She was a silly woman, frequently
changed her plans, and apparently acted without much prin--
ciple; for we know that she once contemplated offering to-
procure the return of her daughter to Mr. B. Folger for a:
sum of money, expecting to be able to induce her daugh-
ter’s present husband (whose principles and moral standard:
are not highly estimated) to go to England. She then had,
perhaps, let him know her intention; at least he did know
it, and contrived to accompany her and her friends to the
prison, at the very time when she went to seek from Mat-
thias the means of obtaining a divorce, (an order for money) -
or a part of the 8500, which he received as a gift from Mr.
Folger. As her friends, especially a Mr. Robinson, wish-
ed to shake off Mr. Folger from the company, at one time
a complete chase took place, on the way to the prison. Mr.
Folger, however, contrived to go in with the party; and
when in the presence of Matthias, darted before the rest,
seized Matthias by the hand, and called him Father, and
begged instantly for a private audience, when he and Mat-
thias retired into the cell. On the exit of Mr. Folger, Mrs.
Matthias entered, and then learned that Matthias knew her
purpose ; and smiling at her simplicity, he declined giving
her an order for money for such a purpose. Mrs. Matthias
gave us this anecdote.

After a short time Matthias was again brought up for
trial, in the criminal court, New York; when no one a
peared against him, and Mr. Western ably pleaded for his.

10*
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discharge. But in the mean time, in consequence of this
charge, and that of poisoning, against Matthias, originating
only in the criminal weakness of Mr. Folger, Pierson was
again disinterred, under all the excitement of strong preju-
dice; and though no definite signs of poison appeared in

" his stomach or bowels, some unknown appearances, and an
unknown substance found in the stomach, was sufficient
cause, in conjunction with the reports and charges raised
by Mr. Folger, to find a bill of indictment against Matthias;
and he was demanded of the authorities of New York, on
the capital charge of murder, and delivered over to take
his trial.

The trial was appointed at Bedford, West Chester, on
the 25th of November, 1834, and the parties went down;
but at this time it was put off by the sickness of the Judge.
It was then appointed to come on at White Plains, and
several of the witnesses were examined by the Grand Jury.
On the part of the prosecution were Dr. Conder, Mr. Burn-
ham, and a Mrs. Millspaw, who had formerly lived as house-
keeper to Mr. B. Folger, before the kingdom was set up
This woman gave one testimony, in regard to Mr.and Mrs.
Folger, on this occasion, but a very different onc to some
of our friends. We have not sought her cvidence, or an
interview with her, because she knew but little about the
kingdom, and is least respected where best known, espe-
cially in the Greenwich Baptist'church, to which she did
belong: and though she has confirmed some of our state-
ments, which she did know, we did not think her evidence
would add to the credibility or respectability of the narra-
tive. On this occasion, Isabella also was examined before
the Grand Jury; but no trial took place, from the absence
of Mrs. B. Folger and Catherine, two witnesses who were

. deemed essential. In the interval, it appears, the koly child
had been born, with all the pains and circumstances which
usually accompany an ordinary birth; and just at this time
both the child (a female) and the mother were extremely
ill with the small-pox. (This child was alive and well a
few weeks since,and out at nurse ) Mr. Western, as coun-
eel for Matthias, declared himself ready, and showed the

.‘
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imjury that would be sustained by his client if the trial was
not proceeded in. The trial was, however, again put off;
and, for the sake ofjustice, it was well it was, for a circum-
stance arose from this delay that much served to confirm, if
not to develop, facts.

Mrs. B. Folger, who had taken again her husband to her
favour and bed, had become a little jealous of Catherine. to
whom he had formally been united several times. 'T'his
jealousy was shown within a few weeks after the breaking
up of tie kingdomn, and did not diminish; while the re-
newed acquaintance with Mrs. Millspaw, and the supposed
services she had rendered Mrs. Folger, induced that lady to
dispense with the services of Catherine, and she and her
children became in want. [In these circumstances she ap-
plied to Isabella; and in conversation told her all that took
place in the family (no longer kingdom) after the departure

of Matthias; and mentioned the contrivance to take, or to -

pretend to take Matthias, in relation to the inquiries about
Mr. Pierson's property ; and mentioned the refurn visit of
Mr. Latourette to Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger. (thcse persons
had previously been to him to confess and repent, as before
related,) and showed that Mr. Latourette exhorted them to
eome back to the Lord; and Catherine then made some
very sarcastic remarks on the ability of Mrs. B. Folger to
cover over what fault she wished, and ingeniously to im-
plicate others; observing, * You know how she can smooth
it 80.””  This occurred just after Christmas, 1834.

Isabella, who at this time had obtained the confidence of
some of her former friends, by her direct and open conduct,
in relation to the charges brought against her, was now in
a comfortable situation with Mrs. Whiting, Canal-street,
with whoin she had formerly lived: she had indeed very
little money, but this little she divided with Catherine,
whose children were then in want; and, with admirable
tact, took her to Mr. Western, the lawyer: here Catherine
eonfirmed the whole of Isabella’s story. Mr. Western saw
her twice after this, once in the presence of Isabella and
once alone; when she confirmed her former statements,
even in relation to herself and Mr. B. Folger. Mr. Wes-
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tern indeed had told her, that in case she remained faithful,
and told nothing but the truth, he would not expose her, if
ssible ; but she did not keep her part of the bargain.. Mr.
estern, however, has assured us, that he is satisfied of
the truth of Isabella’s narrative, and she only confirmed it.
On this occasion, too, Catherine informedy Isabella, that
«all this blessed winter Mrs. B. Folger has been writing
against you and Matthias:” she added, that « she will over-
come you, and Matthias will be hung; and all the Chris-
tians have been helping her” Now, of course, Catherine
did not mean the great body of the respectable community
under that name, but only a few, like Mr. Stone and the
Rev. Mr. Somers, an amiable sort of man, who might wish
to restore them to the church and their anciént faith, as Mr.
Latourette did; and Mr. Stone and the Rev. Mr. Somers
might see the propriety of covering up the iniquities of the
kingdom, although such a design is rarely effected by a
publication. ’
When Isabella was thus informed, that a formidable book
was coming out against her and Matthias, by Mrs. Folger,
aided by all the Christians, she exclaimed, with much en-
ergy, (for she is really very energetic and not very timid,)
“1 have got the ¢ruth,and I know it,and 1 will crusk them
with the ¢ruth.”” We have no doubt that Isabella was very
angry on this occasion, and perhaps expressed some bitter
wishes under such feelings; but Mr. Stone has published
rather a perversion of the above expression. by leaving out
the little word ¢ruth : so that it stands like an unprovoked,
vindictive exptession, and desire to crush her opponents by
any means. It is, however, not to gratify any vindictive
feelings that we defend her; we know nothing of Mr. and
Mrs. Folger and Mr. Stone, but what they have brought
forward by their very injudicious book. We have defended
- Isabella, because we know she has the truth: we have
never detected her in a single exaggeration, nor has Mr.
Western; and we think the follies of the kingdom ought
to be exposed, as arising out of fanaticism, or originating in
the dictates of feelings supposed to be divine, and which
really operate extensively.
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The account given by Mr. Stone of this conversation is”
from the narrative of Mrs. Folger, page 221 ; and charges
Isabella of boasting to Catherine, of telling lies; and con-
cludes by saying, that “she would crush Mrs. Folger."—
Of course the account is taken from Catherine, for nobody
else knew of this discourse. We have also given the ubove
remarks on her authority, but we give them no more credit
than what appears nutural and reasonable: from what fol-
lows, and other circumstances, she is not to be depended
on, and therefore we have not sought het out, for the sake
of any independent infornation, though, as confirming the
statements of [sabella to Mr. Western, her evidence was of
importance, especially as she could not tell what jssbelia
bad previously suid to that lawyer; for Isabella's testi-
mony would take up several hours, and, as not reading or
writing, she would take no notes of what she had said.—
Catherine's confirmation of all the important facts in Isa-

_ bella's narrative, in the possession of Mr. Western, is then
important white evidence, which the public so much seek
after: and yet, had Catherine told us this narrative, un-
supported by other testimony, we would not have published
&, for she wants hoth firmness and sincerity: but when she
related what she had seen and heard, to Mr. Western, and
gave the same narrative which Isabella bad doune, she could
not have invented it, for the reason before given.  Her tes-
timony, we think, is good for nothing, but as confirming”
Isabella's, and as far as consistent with the nature of things:
for Catherine returned, after some time, to Isabella, (still at
Mrs. Whiting’s,) and regretted that she had been to Mr.
Western ; she observed, “I am sorry I said to Western
that I had Ben.” The fact is, she had become again on
friendly terms with Mrs.-B. Folger.

The trial was again coming on. Mr. and Mrs. Folger
did not know that Catherine had given her evidence to Mr,
Western, and perhaps they will receive the first intimation
of it in this book. Mrs. Folger was expected to give her
evidence, and Catherine was perhaps tampered witg to sup-

rt that evidence. This, however, is only a conclusion

m the facts of her regret, just expressed, and of her actu-

g
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ally supporting Mrs. B. Folger's evidence at the trial ; but
more especially from the fact, that Mr. B. Folger frequently
sent for Isabella before the trial, and was extremely anxious
to suppress her information. We have now a letter in our
possession, from Mr. Folger, sent to Mr. Whiting, with
whom Isabella then lived, expressing a strong wish to see
her, and ask about some few things. Mr. B. Folger also
informed Mr. Whiting, that “the public began to believe
what Isabella said.” Catherine, too, told Isabella, that Mr.
and Mrs. Folger wanted Isabella to join them against Mat-
thias: Isabella, however, prudently resolved not to see either
of them. Catherine had less firmness; and had the defence
of Matthias been gone into, she must have been confronted
with her own evidence; yet she probably only suffered
herself to be persuaded. :

The trial at length took place at White Plains, on the
17th of April, 1835, before Judge Ruggles and others;
when Mrs. B. Folger and Catherine appeared arm in arm.
The detail has been already given in the daily journals;
but as we think the facts here related will become a matter
of importance, from their peculiar character, we shall give
a few particulars. :

Matthias, in the very commencement of the trial, while
the clerk was calling the jury, rose, in spite of the remon-
strance of the judge, and addressed the court in the follow-
ing language; which is characteristic of the man and his
style, and therefore we give it, as a good illustration of both.
In reply to the judge's reproof, Matthias exclaimed,—« I
speak in reference to the proceedings of the grand jury—
that is a secret institution—and I here proclaim, that all

-gecret societies are dissolved—are dissorved—dissolved—
and were five years ago! They were a curse! they have
the curse of Almighty God upon them, and were dissolved
five years ago! 1 say, they are dissolved!” This was
uttered with great violence, and Matthias has a powerful
voice. The court was utterly astonished at this proceeding;
and thinking it might proceed from insanity, decided upon
«<alling an offi¢ial inguest: and aftera proper examination
of séveral medical men and others, thé jury returned a-verd
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dict, that « Robert Matthews, otherwise called Matthias, was
10t insane.” He was then held responsible for interrupt-

g the court, and awarded thirty days’ imprisonment; and
histrial fer the murder of Mr. Pierson proceeded, on Friday
the 18th of April, 1835, The district attorney, Mr. W.
Nelson, assisted by Mr. H. R. Storrs, of New York, and
by Mr. Voris, of Sing-Sing, acted for the prosecution. Mr.
M. Western, assisted by Mr. N. Hall, of New York, and
Mr. Mitchel, of White Plains, defended Matthias.

In support of the prosecution, Jesse Bishop, a neighbour,
at Sing-Sing, proved the control of Matthias in the estab-
lishment; and gave an acknowledged fair statement.

Moses Cherry, a sexton, at Morristown, proved the ex-
humation of Mr. Picrson ten days after his burial, and alsoe
five or six weeks before the trial. Dr. Condit had carried
away the stomach, and found something white in it, in
quantity about eight or ten grains. He sent the contents
of the stomach to Dr.Torry, of New York, to be examined.
On March 21st, 1835, the body was again disinterred, and
then the gullet (@sophagus) and intestines were carried
gway. How they lovked was technically described, and
an inference also drawn, that the various appearances were
the effect of some poison. The examinations were made in
the presence of Doctors Canfield, Johns, and the two Con-

_dits. Mr. Stone says, Dr. Condit is reported to have said,
that they were unanimously of opinion, that the death of
Mr. Pierson was not the result of natural causes. The two
Doctor Condits only were examined; and their evidence
-afforded Mr. Western a fine display, in his able cross-ex-
amination; in which he very clearly showed the absurdity
of learned physicians resolving that a body had been po1-
soned, without stating by what, and how; and stating that
the death was unnatural, without showing in what.

The district attorney then admitted the evidence of Dr.
Torry, to whom the stomach was sent, without examining
him : his evidence showed that he had examined the stom-
ach, and had discovered no poison.

Mrs. B. Folger gave the history of Matthias, and of the

.death of Mr. Pierson ; and showed that Matthias, like some
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of the European clergy, claimed the best of the property,

- as first-fruits, and governed in the house: she mentioned
also the blackberry story, already considered. Catherine
also went ‘through the doctrines and practices of Matthias,
in support of what Mrs. Folger had stated ; and the distriet
attorney brought proofs that the property at Mount Zion
had been made over to Matthias.

On the close of the evidence in support of the proseeu-
tion, Mr. Western moved the discharge of the prisoner,
without going into the defence, upon the ground that mo
evidence had been produced to convict him; and in thig
the court acquiesced, and instructed the jury, “that there
was no evidence showing that the death of Mr. Pierson
had been produced by poison, or culpable neglect, or il
treatment, and consequently advised an acquittal.” The
jury thereupon immediately returned a verdict of acquittal.
Thus no defence was gone into, and the circumstances of

_the kingdom not exposed. Isabella was grievously disap-,
pointed in not giving her unsophisticated narrative in the
court.

TRe decizion of the court was evidently influenced by
the nature of this evidence, of which they had a knowledge,
and sought to suppress it, and the firmness of Mr. Western.
One of the jury Kas since informed us, that he wished to
find Matthias guilty. The court was evidently prejudiced
against him, and the public feeling also. There was, too,
a strong sympatky for Mr. and Mrs. Folger, who were re-
garded as unfortunate dupes. From these feelings on the
part of the court, jury, and the people, and the general im-
Bression that Matthias had the property of Mr. Pierson, had

e had a less able counsel, or could Isabella have heen de-
terred from giving the truth, if wanted, Matthias might
have been condemned. Mr. Western, expecting the result
which took place, from an understanding between him, the
court, and the district attorney, abstained, too, from draw-
ing the facts of the narrative from Mrs. B. Folger or Cath- .
erine, in cross-examination: and yet, lawyer-like, he and
the judge together, did enough to satisfy us of the leadi
fact, and that they knew the connexion of Matthias wit
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Mrms. B. Fdlger; for from this trial we drew that conclu-
sion, and published it. ‘
The vindictive character of the court, the spirit of the
people, and that of the district attorney, suggested the trial
of Matthias, immediately on the close of the former trial,
for an assault on his daughter, before referred to, and ac-
knowledged to be merely fatherly chastisement, and not
ﬁiven in anger; but she was then a married woman, and
is conduct was neither proper nor legal : it was, however,
not a subject for prosecution, especially as the daughter.did
not desire any such revenge: asa proof of which Mr.Wes-
tern read the following note in court from her:—

“ I hereby acknowledge that I have received full and
« ample satisfaction for the assault and battery in this case,
« for which the defendant is indicted; and I respectfully pray
% the court to enter a nolle prosequa therein accordingly.
“ IsaBELLA LaIsDpBLL.
~ “ Whate Plains, April 18th, 1835.”

The court, however, vindictively resolved upon punish-
ing Matthias, and therefore proceeXed with this trial. The
assault was proved, and Matthias convicted, under such an
excitement ; and a court of law was thus disgraced by turn-
ing out of its ordinary course to punish a man, whom they
had tried in vain to convict of a capital crime.

Matthias made rather an affecting appeal to the court
upon this conviction, which he properly styled a persecu-
tion; but the court sentenced him to three months’ impris-
onment, besides the thirty days for contempt of court.

We do not mean to say that Matthias might not have-
deserved this quantity, or any other quantity of punishment,

_and we know, too, that there are a great many pretenders
to the knowledge of the will of God, who deceive the people
and deserve the lash; but we must deprecate the adminis-
tration of the laws under the influence of passion. for then
it ceases to be the administration of justice.

Matthias went to prison, and Mr. Stone published his
book during his imprisonment. When he came out of
prison he called on us, being informed that we were writing

11
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- on the subject, and he confirmed the chief points in the nar-
rative. Thus we get this narrative confirmed by the lead-

“ing members of the kingdom—forming a perfect white
=vidence.

Matthias has since gone West ; and is, we believe, now
wandering about the country, preaching, and living on the
hospitality of his hearers; his temperate habits enabling
him to live on a little when fortune frowns. .

Mr. and Mrs. B. Folger are living comfortably together
in a handsome house at Sing-Sing. Mr. Mills is married,
lives in great style, and is no longer a desponding Chris-

«zian: his connexion with Mr. Pierson and Matthias has
decidedly benefited him. Isabella is getting an honest
iiving by work, and respected, for her services and integ-

- rity, by her former employers. Mr. Stone is repenting his

- late publication.* :

* Mr. Sione scarcely named, or rather alluded to, a person in his work, that
e did not belic, and consequently libel ; ¢xcept those in conjunction with whom
" he wrote the book, and whose faults the book was intended to cover. Mr. La-
sourette, fur-merchant, in Pearl-street and the Bowery, complains, that he is
- altuded to in Mr. 8tone’s book, pages 316 and 217. and that on one page five false-
Soods are recorded : those we have promised 1o notice, on his account. Mr. Latow-
rette, then, denies—*“that he was intimate with Mr. Pierson—that he anointed Mrs.
Picreon—that he was sent for on that occ ihiat he ever practised anointing—
2hat he encouraged the delusion of the resurreciion—that a convalescent disci-
e of his barked like a dog.” He admits that some of his disciples dug for
‘Kid’s mnoney, but maintains, (correctly,) that this was common to others. He
.admits the trance of the cnloured woman, not for three days. but for siz, which
“he says he can prove. Mr. Stone admits the sincerity of Mr. Latourette, and
eansequently his incapability of deliberate lying. When this gentleman, how-
ever,.denied Isabella a character, during the time he knew her, he did it, we
suppese, from an error in judgment ; but one which ought to be reprobated, as
- the proper means of correcting such mischievous errors.

~ We promised to notice the numerous falsehoods stated in Mr. Stone’s book
" s relation to the Mrs. ***, rendered so conspicuous in that work ; and that lady
put into our hands a manuscript reply, with the means of testing the truth of the
subject, from which reply we have taken notes. In relation to this, we have
already proved, in the first part, a most atrocious falsehood, involving a most in-
famous charge, and which charge reverts to Mr. Stone’s own friends. As we
-cannot again introduce this lady without involving Mrs. Stone, and as we have
:now reason to believe both ladies would rather avoid the notoriety of further
public attractions, we thall decline a inued exhibition of Mr. Stone's errors;
- with the position, that he who could state an infamous falsehood, of magni.
~tude, could not be believed in the various minor points, allusions, and references,
- which run through the book; eupeciallyas we have shown, or rather, as Mr.
Stone himself has shown, a personal feeling, or jiti betw bis lady
and the Mrs. *°°.

285,



CONCLUSION.

« Hap he been in the same atmosphere;” said a medicui ™
man to us, in relation to a pious person, “ he would have- -
been one of the party;’ the same remark applies to theu-
sands, and in reg:'ence to other countries, and to past and
future years, under every religion;.and every form of re-
ligion, the remark may be applied to millions ; for in every
community there is a class prepared to run such a course,
if sircumstances conduce ; and we are all, more or Jess, the -
beings of circumstances. ' '

We have shown that Matthias did not contemplate the-
seduction of Mrs. B. Folger, till tempted to this act; and -
we think there are very few men who would have resisted.
such an application: we subscribe to the position of Lord -
Byron, that * there are-a great many Potipher’s wives, and.
but few Josephs.” Matthias too, we think mad, .from the -
appearance of the eye, and extravagance of conduct, when.
no interested design was apparent; we think him too, origi-
nally sincere in his piety and principles; but we thisk
also, that he is cunning, and, in the progress of his career,
that his sincerity declined, and his design amplified; yes
the position which he takes is so near that which many
clergymen take, that the District Attorney at once admitted
that he could not disprove it, however ridiculous it was to
admit that he had a Divine Revelation, and could best in—
terpret the Scriptures: besides, Mr. Pierson took precisely
the same ground.

Mrs. B. Folger is no doubt a woman of a very warm
eonstitution, and if this was not exhibited in youth, the re-
straints of education, and a religious bringing up, and hex-
religious connexions, will explain it: we do not think eem-

v atitution: av grime; . this;: indesd, may enhance enjoynent
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under favourable circumstances: when she received Mat-
thias into her house, as a person possessing divine favour,
with new doctrines and new interpretations of Scripture,
she was placed in peculiar circumstances; the affection
generally shown by women towards their religious teachers,
betrays their weainess,—and we believe there is not a
popular clergyman but could triumph over a number of
his devotees, could he be base enough to apply the arts of
seduction. Mrs. Folger, warm in constitution, absent from
her husband, and present with Matthias, who, from his
character, enjoyed every opportunity, was daily approach-
ing an important crisis: her previous opinions about
. matched spirits, and his previous opinions about marriages,
would easily mislead a weak woman, under the influence
of strong passions. We are not then surprised, that in the
absence of Mr. Folger, that Mrs. Folger should think,
dream, and have visions about Matthias; other females,
similarly constituted and situated, would have done so too:
and it was unfortunate that her religious belief admitted of
communicating these thoughts and feelings to Matthias, as
emanating from divinity. We think it possible that these
feelings, natural in such circumstances, should be mistaken
for divine communications, for even the Scripture will ad-
mit of a similar interpretation in the cases of Sarak, Eli-
zabeth, and Mary. That Mrs. Folger should have under-
taken to induce her husband to give her up to Matthias, ie,
we believe, the most extraordinary circumstance in the
narrative; we do not pretend to explain it; it is altogether
out of character with a weak woman, and is rather a trait
of an extraordinary being, who bounds over ordinary rules
-and customs in society, and takes a peculiar stand, not ap-
plicable to other mortals: yet this extraordinary character
we cannot accord to Mrs. B. Folger, and, therefore, we
must seek an explanation in the joint characters of Mr.
and Mrs. Folger, Matthias, and Mr. Pierson, which in a
wonderful way conduced to this most extraordinary fact.
Her sincere piety is not disputed previous to her acquaint-
ance with Matthias; and the- probability is, that she was
gincere, and continued so with a gradually incremsieg
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alloy. Her failing was a love of distinction, without supe-
rior abilities: superior piety, and the assumption of tl:e
character of Mother, was within the compass of ordinary
capacity ; just as a man who cannot be a poet, a statesman,
an orator, or a philosopher, may excel m the knowledge
of horses.

Mr. B. Folger can best be explained by his deficiencies;
he is marked by his want of character; Nature has given
him a handsome face, a good temper, a kind heart, and he
has added a great suavity of manners, and extreme polite-
ness: but here nature has left him, and art, or education,
has not supplied the deficiencies—he is, more than any
other of the party, the being of circumstances, without reso-
lution or sound principles: and while yielding to influence
effecting an under-plot, cunning but simple.

Mr. Pierson is a complete character; a man of strong:
mind, considerable information and experience of men and
things; extremely conscientious, and a firm believer in the
Bible; with strong passions, but under the control of rea-
sort when in health. He adopted the opinion that God
would give him the true interpretation of Scripture, as an
answer to prayer. His prayers were fervent; and having -
faith, he received the various impressions on his mind as
the will of God communicated to him. He discovered some
errors in Christian practice, and this confirmed him in his
belief that his impressions were from God, and true. In the
vividness of his imagination, he thought that God spoke te
him: but this was not peculiar to him. Isabella, when a
mere girl, a slave, and totally ignorant, had the same im-
pressions; she used to talk to God, and supposed that God
talked to her: thousands of people have the same impres-
sions. The peculiarities of Mr. Pierson were not the freaks
. of a madman; they were systematic, and arose from what
* he thought to be the will of God, as revealed in Scripture,
or'to him, in answer to prayer: and these opinions he would
well defend, upon the acknowledged principles of answer
to prayer, and the true interpretation of Scripture. If Mr
Pierson was insane, there are thousands at this moment
affected with the same kind of madness, if not to the same

1>









128 @ONCLUSION.

~»

cated ; yet we are compelled to say, that the machinery by
which these things, with others which have parallels, was
common to every individual who has set up Divine preten-
sjons, or affected to establish a new sect; and this has not
been fully illustrated in the preceding pages, which were
intended more to show the effects of fanaticism on the dis-
ﬂles, than the means used. Matthias was mysterious; he

ected it in his appearance; he was so in language and con-
duct; and, when most unintelligible, affected the most wis-
dom, and had it ascribed to him. When he told Mr. Fol-
ger, at an early interview, on seeing a part of a sheet of
paper hanging from a drawer, “ You see a part only, I see
the whole:” and then applied it to their different states of
knowledge of the Divine will, this trait was fully illus-
trated in him; and Mr. B. Folger became the dupe. But
Matthias affected miracle and prophecy: his prophecies
were indeed extremely bold, and often fortunate. When
on the road to Bedford, a ponderous piece of rock fell from
a neighbouring cliff; and rolled near the carriage. Mat-
thias, then a prisoner, begged permission to get out and
examine it; he was permitted : and having done so, with
much mystery in his ﬁ;ok, he stuck his stick into the ground,
and solemnly exclaimed, * By ‘my order the Judge will not
attend!” The Judge did not attend, and the trial was put
off to White Plains—thus claiming a miracle and myste-
riously announcing a fortunate prophecy at the same time.
To these means were added, his peculiar explanation of
Scripture—and these are precisely the instruments which
have always been used by those who have established new
sects.

Note. The story of the rock falling is given on the authority of
Mr. Drake, who reported and published the trial of Matthias. Isa-
bella knows only of a piece of rock falling while Matthias was
preaching.

PINIS.

Just publisked, A Review of the DiscLosures of Marix Moxx, in
which the facts are all fairly stated and candidly examined.

By G. Vaus.
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